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ABOUT HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

TR 7 e B S P S A TR 2 B

COMPANY HISTORY

In 1977, the family of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late founder and chairman of the Group, acquired the equity interest
of Hong Kong Resort Company Limited (“Hong Kong Resort”) which is the registered owner and developer of
Discovery Bay on Lantau Island. The shares of Hong Kong Resort and the other Group company were once
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in 1987 and in 1988 and 1989 respectively. During the
years 1988 and 1989, the Group underwent a series of reorganisation and scheme of arrangement and formed
HKR International Limited in May 1989 as its new listed holding company carrying on principally real estate
development and other related businesses.

Today, HKR International Limited is a constituent of the Hang Seng Composite Index Series under the stock
code of 480. It has diversified interests in real estate development and investment, property management, luxury
hotels and serviced apartments, property related manufacturing, healthcare services and other investments in
Hong Kong, Mainland China and Asia.
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OUR VISION, MISSION & VALUES

FAPT A IR ~ i A T {98

VISION

MISSION

A L 0 R T A PR ]

2010/2011 4E#k

To be the pioneer of innovative living space

HERFHE BIEEZZERA

We strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living experience
through teamwork and passionate pursuit of innovation and excellence

fffy FEREES - BFTRE - FHRK - BERA

Pioneer
Break new grounds

HEBR i FT

INTEGRITY

Uphold high ethical
standards
RS

BREIE LR R

Respect

Value the individual and
cherish our environment

BAET

Devorion

Be committed and
passionate

R "

InNovAaTION
Think outside the box
FEA A8

ExcELLENCE
Consistency in the
pursuit of our quality

standards
IEREE
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SIGNATURE PROJECTS

AERK MM EREE

Mainland China

H ] A 3
DAZHONGLI,
SI—‘MNGHAI
R H
Total planned GFA
o B

323,000

Located in the Jingan district, the Dazhongli project is

| a world class mixed-use development comprising two

super Grade-A office towers, three luxury hotels and
a prime retail mall. It is scheduled for completion by
phases from 2015 onwards.
HEEMNAPEEESHABNGEBERYE &
MiEBRERLMRAE = XIEAER— A5
YIRS - TERTR 2015 F D PE ERTERK ©

THE EXCHANGE,
TIANJIN

KRG

Total GFA

AR A

152,000«

The Exchange, the Group’s investment
property, comprises two office towers, a
retail mall and a hotel.
RERSERENKREYE  AME
MAEKIE - BYHLORRERER
}ﬁ o

Hong Kong

DISCOVERY BAY
Fo By
35S

Total GFA
AT TR -

716,857 w

Located on Lantau Island, Discovery Bay is the Group’s
flagship residential project comprising garden houses,
low, mid and high rise developments, a 27-hole golf
course, a marina, two residents clubs, a manmade
beach, two international schools and two shopping
malls.

RAELEmREERENEEETEER - A
EBRE K- SEYE - 27 RERRIKE - 1
e METEEH  AEDE - MABERSERR
MIEREYE S

Singapore
Him

THE SENTOSA
RESORT & SPA

Total GFA
At T

28,988

Japan

HORIZON PLACE
AKASAKA,
TOKYO ¥ 5%

Total Floor Area

AT -

8,503

Thailand
#®

THE SUKHOTHAI
RESIDENCES,

BANGKOKE2#

Total GFA
A T -

79,21 1 m?

T vis B3 (] P 4 L A LA ]
2010/2011 2k

Acquired by the Group in 2010, the 94-
unit Horizon Place Akasaka is located
in Akasaka, Minato-ku of Tokyo. It is
well connected with many of Tokyo's
landmarks and boasts a panoramic view of
skyscrapers.

EER2010FBA - HEMAEEMNW
Horizon Place Akasakafi /AR 38 & &)
RN EERRZEEBEMET - LHEER
FAFEHIERKERE

The Sukhothai Residences is located next to
The Sukhothai hotel on South Sathorn Road.
This ultra luxury 41-storey condominium tower
is targeted for completion in 2011.

The Sukhothai Residencesfiz# South Sathorn
Road#JThe Sukhothaiifi /53538 - & B S41
BHBAZREABRNEEAEEFH2011F
BT o

Atop a cliff on Sentosa Island, The Sentosa
Resort & Spa is a stylish and luxury resort in
lush greenery, minutes away from downtown
Singapore. It is highly acclaimed for its award
winning Spa Botanica.

T RER DS ILEZ £ KThe Sentosa
Resort & Spa e —RIE MBI RERZ RG
5 BESERE - ABITHRL  MAAE
JE R 97K E S 0> Spa Botanica BERRLE -
XEE -

THE SUKHOTHAI .

HOTEL,
BANGKOK 2 #&
Total GFA

A AT T R

39,002

The Sukhothai is a world-renowned and
award-winning hotel in Central Bangkok,
highly regarded by international travellers
for its unparalleled services and facilities.

I K 8 AT H D) The Sukhothai B & t
Fg - EEmE - HEFNRYE KRE
BRIRIR S o
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HIGHLIGHTS OF

THE YEAR
FEREHE

2010

The Group acquired Horizon Place Akasaka, a
94-unit apartment building in Akasaka of Tokyo, for
investment purposes. Another luxury 18-unit block in
Roppongi known as Homat Sun was purchased shortly
afterwards in July.

SEBACRRRARE  HEMEECHETANE
' Horizon Place Akasaka{E#& & B + HER 7 ABBAL
| RAAARE - 7 18 BB R FEEE Homat Sun ©

The Group, through a joint-venture company

o —

set up with its Thai partner, acquired a piece l'll ,'I——I__|'
of freehold land on Wireless Road in Bangkok - |
at a total consideration of Thai Baht 2.5 billion faad
(approximately HK$651.7 million) for future e
development of high-end residential projects. =2
EEFER - REFABHERTIHAER T e
a0 LA25{EZREK (H6517EBL) BA |
—BRA7 24 Wireless Road #) 7k A B 1% + .______.:'n-.?..-'f |

o | ¥

i HERSREEEIRE A |
The Group acquired a seven-storey industrial building on Fui Yiu Kok Street in Tsuen Wan for
HK$140 million. Redevelopment is being planned.

SENLARETBA-BUREZERE AT B LENIEAE @ 852 -

A new clinic of Qualigenics,
a subsidiary of the Group’s
healthcare unit GenRx
Holdings Limited, opened in
Tsuen Wan.
SEETEEBRRERS
BVl h AR A BR 2 B 2 BT
NREERRE  EXERAR
¥2FR o

2010

v B SE B B AR A R A )
2010/2011 4E#k

The Group and its partner Swire Properties secured a
13-year RMB8 billion syndicated loan facility for the
construction and development of the Dazhongli project
in Jingan district of Shanghai.
SENHESIEEHALTHER HEFRR AP ER
BREELRERIG-EAMIIF - REARE
4 SOBTHEEMERME -

The Sukhothai hotel in Bangkok was named one
of “The 50 Best Hotels in the World” by the Daily
Telegraph UK.

L7 2 A H The Sukhothai & /& % % B 3§ = Daily
Telegraph i 4 [ The 50 Best Hotels in the World | 2

— o

MAR

Phase 14 of Discovery Bay, the latest high-end residential development in Discovery Bay, was
officially named “Amalfi”.

MRESRHNE VA PRETTHRBEERGER/ER] -

The Group disposed of its 50% interest in Discovery Park Shopping Centre in Tsuen Wan for
about HK$1.41 billion.

SENQ 141 EETHEEEE BN SHINBYRISHR AR 50%
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CHAIRMAN'S

STATEMENT
¥Rk

| would like to present the Annual Report of HKR International Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the
Financial Year 2010/2011 (“the year”).

The property market in Hong Kong has been very buoyant due to the devaluation of Hong Kong Dollars in
relationship to Renminbi and most of the other currencies. There seems to be an influx of interest in Hong Kong
properties.

Inflation is a constant pressure in most parts of the world and it has been a major worry to a lot of investors and
prospective home owners.

With the interest rate in Hong Kong nearing zero, although the government is trying to slow down the upward
pressure of housing prices by introducing a series of policies aiming at stabilising the market and reduce the up
trend, yet, the market still continues to go up.

The Group is cautiously optimistic about the local property market. While keeping close watch of opportunities
available to us, we are also seeking opportunities beyond Hong Kong to other Asian markets that might offer
good opportunities to increase our profit margin. The public auction prices of Hong Kong properties continue to
increase and make it difficult for us to increase our inventory.

T s L% [ P 4 ) A LA ]
2010/2011 4t

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson

Chairman

J B e e

AAMRAREEFLHEBEREEAR AT NENBAR (T £E 1) R 20102011 HHEE ([ FE 1) 0945
B¥HE -

RRNETTHEHARE REMXBOERIE  BRFEENETEERTGT - T AUTFHEBYEHR
PR

BRTHRRIEREEERES - TEREZREENMFEEXATNIZESE -

BMEEERMANT - GERITES— RIVSEET LRI B0 - ESARERE LS - B
ST R o

SEHNEBMENSREFRLBERE - RAETIEEEMEENRE @ IELEE - A E#
HWEIRINERMBENEMTNTS - BREASEK - BEARMEE L EREE L7 - SHIAIREAE
IR o
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(_:HAIRMAN 'S STATEMENT
BN

SOLID FINANCIALS

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year was HK$1,647.9 million and earnings per share
were HK$1.22, compared to a profit of HK$1,890.8 million (restated) and earnings per share of HK$1.40 in
2009/2010. Turnover for the year was HK$1,800.7 million, compared to HK$1,839.8 million recorded in the
previous year. As of 31 March 2011, the net asset value of the Group stood at HK$13,571.7 million (HK$10.1
per share), up 15% from last year's HK$11,784.3 million (HK$8.7 per share) (restated).

The Board of Directors has recommended a final dividend of HK11 cents per share for the year. Together with
the interim dividend of HK7 cents per share, the total dividend amounted to HK18 cents per share for the year.
In 2009/2010, a total dividend of HK18 cents per share was paid to shareholders.

ASSETS ENHANCEMENTS

In Hong Kong, we redeemed all issued zero coupon convertible bonds due 2010 and disposed of the 50%
interest in Discovery Park Shopping Centre in Tsuen Wan. We also bought an industrial building on Fui Yiu Kok
Street in Tsuen Wan for redevelopment.

Amalfi, Phase 14 of Discovery Bay, is planned for sales launch in 2011 and is expected to attract keen market
interest given its superior quality. Following the opening of the DB North Plaza in 2010, the deluxe resort hotel
in Yi Pak would open for business in 2012, and is set to transform Discovery Bay from a purely up-market
residential development to an unparalleled oceanfront integrated resort in Hong Kong.

In Shanghai, our flagship project in Dazhongli of the Jingan district was progressing on schedule. A 13-year
RMB8 billion syndicated loan facility was secured for the project, further boosting its financial position.

In Bangkok, we joined hands with our Thai partner to acquire a piece of freehold land on Wireless Road for
future development. Our ultra-luxury condominium tower, The Sukhothai Residences, is also scheduled for re-
launch in 2011.

In Japan, apart from DIA Palace Sapporo Higashi Actio acquired in 2008, we purchased another two residential
buildings during the year, namely Horizon Place Akasaka and Homat Sun, both in Tokyo. All three properties are
being held for investment purposes, providing a stable income stream to the Group.

Although occupancy of The Sukhothai hotel and Siri Sathorn serviced residences was affected by Thailand’s
political instability, business of The Sentosa Resort & Spa was picking up on the back of a strong growth in tourist
arrivals in Singapore. More importantly, these hotels and resorts continue to serve and impress visitors from
around the world, delivering outstanding services and clinching international awards.

Meanwhile, GenRx Holdings Limited, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary engaging in premium healthcare
services, continues to expand and strengthen its medical and dental networks across Asia.

T vis B3 [ P 4 A LA ]
2010/2011 4E 2

g

EARFE  ARRHE ARG A16.479FF T - B#RAF|1.22/87T » if12009/2010 FEH AR A 7]
A AEREF A 18908 EA T (&FY ) » BIREAF1.40/87T - NAFEEMBLLELE18.007EET
M RIA18398 88 T - W2011F3 A31H ' SEMNEEFEA135.717EET(HK10.1ET) -
BEFN117.843EE L (BK8.78L) (FF]) LF 15% °

EFRRBATORERPRESRIE - BASR7BIZFHRE - AFLEEZ2EREHE
Bt 18/%% ° A 2009/2010 T FZ - SREAIRRIKE 2 2 FRE R 18781l -
AL E =

FEES  REMEEE 2010 FESMNE BT TATRRES - &SRR IABYESN50%
M o BPIEA— TR ERRE A T EA BT ER -

o

WREFETOEEEIER [32 | FHEIR 2011 % - MEMEXRBE - HHSHXTHED - #h=
IEEIS R 2010 FR%R - UX —HNREERBESN2012FHE - ERARESSH —ELSRE
TERIAR  HEREABE - E_NEARAERR -

ELBHZRATENEERERR FNRER - RACHZAENG —HEEETARE - BH134F
MIREERREE - £ HIRBRTBENVRE S -

HEEA  BPIEREELES R A —IBAI 7 Wireless Road Bk A BRE T - FEARKERE - RIFIFER
S NBEH (T EAE The Sukhothai Residences » TMEHIR 2011 FHEHE -

EBZA - B TH 20088 AR DIA Palace Sapporo Higashi Actiod) » AP EE R A BIMNRIELI N
REEFEAE - D54 A Horizon Place Akasaka &z Homat Sun  BfI EiAZ=EWEERERSE A
BB RBENBAKRIR ©

& A The Sukhothai B /& & Siri Sathorn IR = A %m)\fi—rﬁﬁlJ?J%liEﬂl)%T%%; 1B & The Sentosa
Resort & Spa ) E S I ALE g@ﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁ—l—ﬁ,ﬁfmﬁﬁ? EEEE’J BEEERAAEEERKATH
AEHMIRFIREBSRE - M8 TRZEE - RS DBEEREE -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
F R G

OUTLOOK

As mentioned before we are cautiously optimistic on the local property market. Perhaps due to the relative
difference between Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi, we are seeing a lot more buyers from China. We think
that our project in Discovery Bay will attract a lot of buyers. We added a new shopping centre and we will be
putting up a new hotel into the market, all in Discovery Bay. HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd and other wholly-owned
subsidiaries will continue to explore and enhance the profit margin of HKR International Limited.

APPRECIATION

During the year, Mr Benjamin Cha was appointed to the Board as an Executive Director. | would like to take this
opportunity to thank all Board Directors for their tremendous contribution over the years. We have benefited
from their professional knowledge and insightful advice. | would also like to thank our business partners for their
continued support, our shareholders for their confidence in the Group and all staff for the hard work and loyalty.
Hands in hands, we shall continue to create values for all stakeholders and shareholders, and serve the markets
in which we operate as a good corporate citizen.

W&L— ——,
CHA Mou Sing Payson

Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 June 2011

T vis B3 [ P 4 A LA ]
2010/2011 4E 2
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MANAGING
DIRECTORS REPORT
EEARHEE

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

) 8 S A R

During the Financial Year 2010/2011, we were busy bolstering our financial strength and enhancing our asset
portfolio across Asia. The key objective is to ensure that the Group has the right resources, at the right time, to
capture further growth opportunities in the region. We are looking to strengthen our business presence in Hong
Kong and beyond, especially in Mainland China, Thailand and Japan.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We have all along been very conscious in strengthening the Group’s financial position and were enjoying a low
gearing ratio of 8.4% as of 31 March 2011. During the year, we fully redeemed the issued HK$1.41 billion zero
coupon convertible bonds due 2010, in the outstanding principal amount of HK$647 million. We also disposed
of our 50% interest in Discovery Park Shopping Centre, Tsuen Wan, to our partner New World Group at around
HK$1.41 billion.

Financially, we are in good shape to undertake more selective projects that will offer good investment potentials
and excellent return. For example, in October 2010, we bought a seven-storey industrial building on Fui Yiu Kok
Street in Tsuen Wan for HK$140 million. Redevelopment is being planned.

Construction works of Phase 14 of Discovery Bay would complete soon. We have named this latest Phase “Amalfi”,
the spectacular sea view of which is comparable to the famous coastal resort of “Amalfi Coast” in Southern
Italy. Comprising three mid-rise blocks with a total size of about 168,000 square feet GFA, Amalfi is planned for
sales launch in the third quarter of 2011. Given the Group’s well-respected brand name and Amalfi’s premium
positioning, we are confident that this latest development would be met with overwhelming market response.

T s L% [ P 4 ) A LA ]
2010/2011 4t

20102011 T BEFE @ IR ZEMRE N IRAEDMNEENEERS  EERREREEE
FREEEZEER  ERBRERNE - PRROKE - RO EMEAERTENAMBEOREES
LERPEAM - FEMBA -

S5 [l

BA—EHENREENTHRE S > £BMN2011F3 A3l BNERBELREES4% - REERN - F
PIRBELR 2010 F 2B 141 BELEEITEETRRES  SRAEBEONASETEACL7TEET -
BT B G S YIS 50% s - LA 141 BETIEEBE TAEREHERER -

BPMBERE  fEERENENESLEREENHEER - fIARME2010F 10 AR 1.4EET
BA—EBUREEREAST B LENIXNE  YRHEETER -

BRE2ETNAEEEENBEETRRREET - M2 A& —HEE IR Amalfi [ER | - HEX
& ] BB KRR 8 A R B E R Amalfi Coast i3k o [ 24 | = iEP BB 2R @ LIETmE
#5168,000F AR « &N 2011 FE=FHE - AREENREEZEE « 1L 3R | NTEE
Mo BAREELEN —HEEREEBFZTMHE -
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ERAKHEE

Meanwhile, construction works of Phase 15 of Discovery Bay, with a total size of about 187,697 square feet GFA,
are in good progress. Sales plan would be formulated in due course.

The deluxe 325-room resort hotel in Discovery Bay is scheduled for soft opening in mid-2012. Interior fitting out
works are now progressing smoothly. Boasting a magnificent spa and a seaside wedding chapel, the hotel will
be a welcome retreat for business and leisure travellers from around the world, as well as a uniquely romantic
banquet venue for the newlyweds.

Discovery Bay saw the opening of an increasing number of trendy shops and gourmet restaurants at its new
201,000-square-feet DB North Plaza. With the launch of more residential developments, the new hotel and new
shopping centre, as well as the oceanfront alfresco dining hub of D Deck, Discovery Bay is being continuously
developed and transformed into an integrated community and an iconic resort where residents and visitors alike
can enjoy unparalleled and stylish living, shopping and dining experiences.

In Shanghai, foundation works of the Dazhongli project in Jingan district will commence within 2011. Schematic
Design of the development has been submitted for approval. In December 2010, with our partner Swire
Properties Limited, we secured a 13-year syndicated loan facility that would provide working capital for the
construction and development of the project. With a planned GFA of approximately 323,000 square metres, this
world-class mixed-use development is expected to complete in phases from 2015 onwards, bringing to the city and
its people two super Grade-A office towers, three luxury hotels and a prime retail mall. Located in the very heart
of the city centre, with excellent connection to the airport, the Metro system, high-speed railway and the freeway
network, the Dazhongli project is in a class of its own and cannot be easily replicated. As a multi-component
commercial development, it is less susceptible to economic cycles and policy risks. We are confident that it would
become a strong performer and a key profit contributor for the Group in the years to come. We will spare no efforts
in making the Dazhongli project a new landmark that Shanghai, as well as the Group, would be proud of!

In Bangkok, we formed a joint-venture company with our Thai partner to acquire a piece of freehold land on
Wireless Road, at a total consideration of Thai Baht 2.5 billion (approximately HK$651.7 million). The land, with
a site area of approximately 12,666 square metres, would be held for future development of high-end residential
projects.

Construction of The Sukhothai Residences, our ultra-luxury 41-storey condominium tower adjacent to the legendary
hotel - The Sukhothai - is almost completed. About 71% of the 196 units have been sold and they would be handed
over to buyers in 2011. The remaining units would be put on the market around end of 2011.

In Japan, in addition to the 39-unit residential building of DIA Palace Sapporo Higashi Actio (Sapporo, Hokkaido)
acquired earlier, we bought the 94-unit Horizon Place Akasaka (Akasaka, Tokyo) and the 18-unit Homat Sun
(Roppongi, Tokyo) in May and July 2010 respectively. All three properties are being held for investment purposes
and have provided the Group with a steady rental income.

Impact of the devastating earthquake and tsunami that struck northeast Japan in March 2011 on its
economy cannot be underestimated. Yet, as the Japanese government mobilises huge resources to engage in
reconstruction, reinvestment and fiscal reforms, we remain cautiously optimistic about the country’s recovery and
are now closely monitoring the situation on the ground.

T vis B3 [ P 4 A LA ]
2010/2011 4E#t

BAN  WREETARETRENEETRIER R - BRSPS NEBHEEIEL 187,697 F R - #f
RN RESE IR HETE -

MRENRE B EEHANFEERBETAPE2012FHHAE - AERNRETIRERIEN < BER
TRRUKBER LM EEREHRE - BRARFEHELAEIREEMERENB - UMFERFEE —E 0
RBIEEENE,

BV E I R EREBEEER MREGINL 201,000 F RN EMMRILES - BEESETER
HE - EEREYEISREEKEFE - N ED DeckWERBREREREEY - MREETEHER - &

HEES—AeRSANEATEMEARRENERE Y  RERKEFTHEZ I E LRNRK
EE - BYEBLERER

ELE $ZEATREEENMETIRESR20IIFAER - ZZBANSTERADRREFL - £20104F
128 ZAESEBHFCEHEARARARRE —ESR IB3FNREERRE - AXTEEAMNZE
ERBEREHAMES - EETRANGARERBRRETNEEMAEL S 323,000 F77K - BH
R20I5FROEERZENX - REEMELEHERTRNEBSEFRAMAE —KFEEL—ESR
BYRS - KhBRAME ETHONORBE - EAERBNREG  BERS - 1l - SRERK
KRB - HelfoEhs - BHURER - (ERZTTRARERIAR - KPEEEEHTNSXEIKER
HINERERTE - RFIGELZEBRIEALERE - TERAKEEENRANKIR - BHAIKEH
AN KR BIR B T8 — (B 8 MR BRI B R 2 HR |

rEER  RAERBEBHRILAEAR - A25EZFK (165171887 ) BA—LRALN Wireless Road #
KABHELH o ZIMIIEHL) 12,666 F 7K - BRTFREERSREIEIAE -

Bt 482 2B 5 The Sukhothai ~ & 41 BRBH S E QB {FEAXE The Sukhothai Residences BiE2E T
BEEATHK - 196 REEMNF @ H71%ELEL  WHER 2011 ERXMNER o« HMETEIR 2011 FEA
AHESHTEM -

AR - BREAEAMRILEBIIR - 5 39 FEE M AFEEREDIA Palace Sapporo Higashi Actio#h -
FFIA R 201065 A K7 ABAMRERRIAIRE « HB 94EEB {7 #) Horizon Place Akasaka &R 7<
AAR[E - HE 18{EE AR A) Homat Sun » REIEFAZ -EYEERER R - BRRENESWA -

20114 3 AW AARILKEMSRAELEER TR EENTE - A - AABFERAXEER
HETHRERE  BRENMMBNE @ FIARAYE B ANERRERREE - Y EEEMENERSEHNIE

17



18

HKR International Limited
Annual Report 2010/2011

MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REPORT

ERAKHEE

On the hospitality front, while the occupancy of The Sukhothai hotel and Siri Sathorn serviced residences in
Bangkok was hampered by the political instability in Thailand, The Sentosa Resort & Spa, our luxury spa resort in
Singapore, achieved encouraging results. Occupancy rate increased to 72% thanks to the rise in tourist arrivals
in the country. Both The Sukhothai hotel and The Sentosa Resort & Spa also won local and international acclaims
during the year. For example, The Sukhothai hotel was named one of “The 50 Best Hotels in the World” by the
Daily Telegraph UK while The Sentosa Resort & Spa was named one of the “Best Hotels - Resorts” in “The Best
of Singapore 2011” award organised by Singapore Tatler magazine.

GenRx Holdings Limited, our wholly-owned subsidiary that operates a comprehensive medical and dental service
network in Asia, continued to provide professional services to customers in Hong Kong, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Macau and Manila, achieving a satisfactory turnover of HK$409.4 million. New clinics are being opened to
expand GenRx’s network.

PROSPECTS

Barring unforeseen circumstances, both the global and local economies are on their long-term paths to recovery.
We remain cautiously optimistic about the economic outlook in Asia and the healthy development of the Hong
Kong property market, notwithstanding short-term volatility following the introduction of new tightening measures
by the government. The low interest rate, abundant liquidity, improved job market, limited supply of residential
flats and solid demand for housing would continue to contribute to a vibrant market.

As we consolidate our strong foothold in Hong Kong, which remains our base of operations, we would be
leveraging on our combined expertise in property development and investment, hospitality management and
healthcare service provision to capture, and where appropriate create, new opportunities that will allow the Group
to further develop, diversify, and expand in Asia.

We will also strengthen our communications with all stakeholders, in particular the investment community, so
as to enhance the Group’s transparency and to ensure that the Group’s strength and values, as well as our
directions, are known and appreciated by the market.

Meticulous and clearly defined strategies are being vigorously executed by dedicated staff under the inspirational
leadership of the Board. | would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our Board Directors
and committed staff for working together towards building a stronger HKR International Limited.

Tt

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director
Hong Kong, 22 June 2011
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REAL ESTATE

DISCOVERY BAY

Hotel in Yi Pak
AL — 0 )

Amalfi & Phase 15 Development

Construction works of Amalfi, Phase 14 of Discovery Bay, are well on schedule. Comprising three mid-rise blocks
with a size of about 168,000 square feet GFA, Amalfi was given an occupation permit in February and is planned
for sales launch in the third quarter of 2011. With the Group’s strong brand equity in creating innovative lifestyle
and Amalfi’s exceptional quality, we believe the project would be very well-received by the market.

Receiving an occupation permit together with Amalfi was Phase 15 of Discovery Bay, the latest development with
a total size of about 187,697 square feet GFA. Construction works are in good progress and sales plan would be
formulated in due course.

Hotel in Yi Pak

The deluxe resort hotel on the waterfront of Yi Pak Bay is scheduled for soft opening in mid-2012. Internal
fitting-out works are in progress and expected to complete by the end of 2011. Boasting unobstructed sea view,
alfresco dining, a Spa Botanica and state-of-the-art banquet and meeting facilities, the 325-room hotel will cater
to all types of functions from meetings, corporate training, wedding banquets to large gala events.

Opening alongside the hotel will be Hong Kong's first seaside wedding chapel. With floor-to-ceiling glass windows
offering 180° sea view and a capacity of 100 guests, this 16-metre white chapel will be the venue of choice for
romantic weddings.

Whether for vacation, business meeting, wedding or romantic getaway, guests will enjoy a complete resort
experience in Discovery Bay.
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DB North Plaza
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DB North Plaza & DB Plaza

The tenant mix of DB North Plaza, the up-market lifestyle shopping centre in Yi Pak, was further diversified as
new shops and restaurants opened during the year. With more than 200,000 square feet GFA of shops and office
units, the shopping centre will continue to bring great products and services to the community.

Being the largest oceanfront alfresco dining hotspot in Hong Kong, D Deck has remained diners’ firm favourite.
About 20 thematic restaurants at D Deck, along the waterfront promenade connecting Tai Pak Beach, offer
mouthwatering international cuisines and unique dining experience for gourmets. Creative publicity campaigns
are being launched to promote D Deck as a paradise of delicacies. DB Plaza, privileged with D Deck, achieved
an occupancy rate of 97% as at 31 March 2011 and generated a stable rental income for the Group.

The Bounty

The Bounty, a 42-metre European tall ship replica which resides in Discovery Bay, has become an icon of local
waters since she arrived in Hong Kong in 2007. As the only European tall ship in Hong Kong, The Bounty was
chartered by international firms, professional groups and associations as well as individuals for a wide range
of functions, including large-scale international conferences, corporate entertainment, team-building activities,
private theme parties and weddings etc.
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Discovery Bay Services

In order to provide added transportation convenience and flexibility to Discovery Bay residents, Hong Kong Resort
Company Limited, the Group’s 50%-owned subsidiary, has applied to the Transport Department for the introduction
of a strictly controlled taxi service for Discovery Bay. The application is being considered by the Government.

The patronage of bus rose slightly during the year and bus services for DB North Plaza were enhanced to provide
shoppers and diners added convenience. Ferry service remains a comfortable and convenient transport mode for
residents.

The clubs in Discovery Bay recorded a stable turnover during the year and they will continue to upgrade their @&;};‘;’ig;

facilities to cope with the rising expectation of club members. Meanwhile, the Group’s property management

services company continued to deliver professional service to Discovery Bay residents.
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Market Recognition & ih e
Thirty years on, the unique planning and comprehensive development :
of Discovery Bay continued to win recognition from the market. In TEET

October 2010, Hong Kong Resort Company Limited was given the

honor of “SEfFAJE o H1&1 A EREBZHE" organised by Wen Wei Po
newspaper for development of the Discovery Bay project.

The Group has a 50% interest in Discovery Bay.

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT

The Group’s long-term commercial and industrial property investment portfolios continue to record strong
performance and generate stable rental revenue. As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s wholly-owned Joyce Building
in Wong Chuk Hang, CDW Building in Tsuen Wan and West Gate Tower in Cheung Sha Wan attained occupancy
rates of 100%, 93% and 93% respectively.

To further enhance its property investment portfolio, the Group acquired a seven-storey industrial building on Fui
Yiu Kok Street in Tsuen Wan for HK$140 million in October 2010. Redevelopment is being planned. Meanwhile,
the Group disposed of its 50% interest in Discovery Park Shopping Centre in Tsuen Wan in March 2011 for about
HK$1.41 billion. The Group will seek to generate more profits through strategic acquisition and disposal.

HANISON

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”), the Group's 49%-owned associated company engaging
primarily in construction business, interior and renovation business, supply and installation of building materials,
and property investment and development, delivered a positive performance and recorded an increase in profit
from HK$109.2 million last year to HK$156 million this year. This favourable result was mainly attributable to the
gain on change in fair value of investment properties and recognition of profit from sales of the remaining units of
One LaSalle, a 50%-owned luxury low-rise residential development in Kowloon Tong. Despite the fact that market
competition remains keen, Hanison will continue to control cost and identify businesses with good potential.
During the year, Sau Mau Ping South Estate, a construction project of Hanison, received a “Grand Award” of the
“Green Building Award 2010”, jointly organised by the Hong Kong Green Building Council and the Professional
Green Building Council, under the New Buildings Category — Hong Kong for residential project. This award and
the awards Hanison have received throughout the years serve to recognise Hanison’s commitment to its core
businesses.
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DAZHONGLI PROJECT IN JINGAN DISTRICT, SHANGHAI
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The Dazhongli project in the Jingan district of Shanghai, scheduled for completion by phases from 2015
onwards, will become one of the most iconic and magnificent landmarks in Puxi in the 21st century, grabbing the
attention of the whole city.

The concept of the Dazhongli project is to create the most exclusive address and most stylish social hub in
Shanghai, blending business with leisure, entertainment with culture. With a planned GFA of approximately
323,000 square metres, the Dazhongli project comprises two super Grade-A office towers (168,000 square
metres), three luxury hotels (56,000 square metres) and a prime retail mall (99,000 square metres) where all
the high-end brands and famed restaurants are to be found. Few developments in Shanghai rival the Dazhongli
project in terms of scale, diversity and class. For the locals and visitors alike, the Dazhongli project will be the
place to be, to shop, to dine, to see and to be seen!

The Dazhongli project has access to superior transportation infrastructure and enjoys unparalleled connectivity
to the whole country and the world. Located in the very heart of the city centre, it is bounded on the north by
Nanjing West Road, on the west by Shimenyi Road (across the Four Seasons Hotel), on the south by Weihai
Road, and on the east by Qinghai Road (across the Shanghai TV Building). The Yan An Expressway and North-
South Expressway are just a stone’s throw away. What's more, it would connect seamlessly with Nanjing West
Road Station of Metro Line 13 and its affiliated facilities, construction works of which are to commence in June.
Meanwhile, Metro Lines 2, 12 and 13 will converge at an interchange to be built close to the site, linking the
Dazhongli project to all major transportation hubs and nodal points in Shanghai, including the two international
airports in Pudong and Honggiao, the high-speed railway and the freeway network.
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The Dazhongli project will also be a showcase project of the Jingan district’s vision to create a modern
commercial hub. It is considered by the local government to be a key development project that would contribute
significantly to the economic development of the city. We will spare no efforts to make it another signature project
of the Group. We have already submitted the Schematic Design of the development for approval. Foundation
works are planned to commence in the second half of 2011. In December 2010, a 13-year syndicated loan
facility was secured to fund construction and development of the project.

We are confident in the long-term economic growth of China and are particularly optimistic about the commercial
property market in Shanghai, which has remained buoyant in recent years. Market rent of comparable properties
in the vicinity is around RMB12 per square metre per day for prime office and RMB65 per square metre per
day for prime retail (ground floor). As an integrated commercial development in a class of its own, the Dazhongli
project would be able to fetch a premium in rental level. Target commercial clienteles would include world
famous consumer brands eager to tap the huge business potential of the Chinese market and multinational
corporations planning to set up headquarters in Shanghai. We expect that the Dazhongli project would perform
well when completed and would generate a strong and steady income stream for the Group in the years to come,
allowing us to share the economic growth of one of the largest economies in the world.

The Dazhongli project is jointly developed by the Group and Swire Properties Limited. The Group has a 50%
interest in the project.

Artist’'s impression of the Dazhongli project
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CHELSEA RESIDENCE, SHANGHAI

Renovation and upgrading works of Chelsea Residence, the deluxe property launched for strata-title sale earlier
on Huashan Road, were completed during the year. As of 31 March 2011, 111 of the 116 units (96%) were sold
and all of these units have been handed over to buyers subsequently.

THE EXCHANGE, TIANJIN

The Exchange, the Group’s 15%-owned investment property in Tianjin, comprises a retail mall, two office towers
and a hotel. With a total GFA of over 152,000 square metres, The Exchange continues to generate stable rental

income for the Group. During the year, the average occupancy rates of the retail mall, the office towers and the
hotel were 100%, 87% and 59% respectively.

Chelsea Residence
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The Sukhothai Residences [N BN

REAL ESTATE

Construction works of The Sukhothai Residences, the Group’s high-end freehold residential development in
Bangkok, are targeted for completion in the third quarter of 2011 and the handover of units to flat owners will
commence in the fourth quarter.

As at 31 March 2011, 139 units of this ultra luxury 41-storey condominium tower were sold, representing 71% of
the 196 units, at an average selling price of Thai Baht 226,494 per square metre (approximately HK$5,400 per
square foot). The remaining units are scheduled for sales relaunch around end of 2011.

Meanwhile, a joint-venture company was set up by the Group and its Thai partner to acquire a piece of freehold
land on Wireless Road in Bangkok at a consideration of about Thai Baht 2.5 billion (approximately HK$651.7
million). With a site area of about 12,666 square metres, the land will be held for future development of high-end
residential projects.

The Group continues to explore new investment opportunities in Japan in order to add values to its investment
portfolio in Asia. During the year, the Group bought two investment properties in Tokyo, namely Horizon Place
Akasaka (a 94-unit apartment building in Akasaka) and Homat Sun (a luxury low-rise development with
18 units in Roppongi). Together with DIA Palace Sapporo Higashi Actio (a 39-unit residential building in Sapporo)
acquired earlier in Sapporo, the three properties generated a steady rental income for the Group.
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The Sukhothai Residences
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HOSPITALITY

The tourism industry of Thailand had been hard hit by the political unrest since March 2010. The Group’s
hospitality business in Bangkok however picked up gradually as the city became calm again in late May 2010.
During the year, The Sukhothai hotel and Siri Sathorn serviced residences recorded average occupancy rates
of 49% and 52% respectively. Their performances are expected to improve continuously as long as the political
situation remains stable.

The Sukhothai hotel, renowned for its unparalleled service quality, continued to receive numerous accolades in
spite of the unfavourable operating environment. It was named one of “The 50 Best Hotels in the World” by the
Daily Telegraph UK in January 2011, and was ranked 17th in “The World’s Best Hotels 2010” by the Institutional
Investor magazine in December 2010. It was also voted by readers of Conde Nast Traveler magazine as one of “The
Top 100 Hotels in Asia” in the “Readers’ Choice Awards” in November 2010 and one of the top hotels on the “2011
Gold List” in January 2011.
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In Singapore, the hospitality sector remained robust due to the strong market demand for accommodation.
Although the hotel room supply in Singapore had surged by more than 10% since the beginning of 2010 and
competition had intensified, The Sentosa Resort & Spa, the Group’s luxury spa resort in Singapore, managed to
deliver a strong performance during the year. It attained an average occupancy rate of 72%, representing a 15%
increase year-on-year.

e il 7

The Sentosa Resort & Spa 3 ll ;

The Sentosa Resort & Spa also clinched a number of awards during the year. It was named one of the “Best
Hotels — Resorts” in “The Best of Singapore 2011” award organised by Singapore Tatler magazine in November
2010. Spa Botanica, Singapore’s first garden destination spa, won the prestigious titles of the “Best Luxury Resort
Spa” and “Best Luxury Destination Spa” in the “World Luxury Spa Awards 2011” in April 2011. It was also
voted the “Best Spa” in the “I-S Magazine Annual Readers’ Choice Awards 2011" in March 2011 and the “Best
Getaway” in the “Harper’s Bazaar Spa Awards 2011 in February 2011.
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HEALTHCARE

With its leading position in the private healthcare sector, GenRx Holdings Limited (“GenRx"), the Group’s wholly-
owned subsidiary, continues to grow its business by capitalising on the rising demand for quality private medical
services in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Southeast Asia. Its comprehensive service network comprises cancer
centres, dental clinics, diabetic and cardiovascular centres, and multi-specialty outpatient centres. During the year,
GenRx further expanded its medical service network as the number of patients/customers increased. A new clinic of
Qualigenics, a subsidiary specialising in diabetes treatment, was opened in Tsuen Wan in October 2010. “Greenbelt
5" clinic, the seventh branch of Healthway Philippines, another subsidiary of GenRx, opened in Makati City of the
Philippines in April 2011. Turnover for the year was reported at HK$409.4 million, similar to the result of last year.
Strategic reorganisation of certain clinic business in Mainland China was carried out to reduce operating costs and
allow the management focusing on the majority of the well performing operations in Hong Kong and Manila.

SANITARYWARE

The financial tsunami coupled with a shortage of skilled labour, especially in the casting sector in the southern
part of Mainland China in early 2010, caused a slowdown in production of Imperial Bathroom Products Limited
(“Imperial”), the Group’s sanitaryware unit. However, with the situation gradually improving in the second half of
2010, Imperial resumed to deliver a positive result during the year.

SECURITIES INVESTMENT

During the year, the Group recorded a net profit of HK$14.9 million for its investment in securities, comprising
interest and dividend income, as well as gain on disposal of certain unlisted equity securities.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had 10,265,500 shares in Sino-Ocean Land Holdings Limited. The investment
is classified as available-for-sale financial asset.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had a total
of 3,268 employees in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and overseas. In view of its business
diversification and expansion in new markets,
the Group revisited and updated its Vision,
Mission and Values during the year to ensure
that its corporate objectives and directions are
accurately captured and clearly conveyed to
all staff. The move would also help strengthen
the Group’s employer brand.

Staff Annual Dinner
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The Group continued to adopt best practices in human resources management to attract, develop and retain
talents. An Account Management System was launched to allow Human Resources Account Managers to gain
a more in-depth understanding of the needs of various business units, making it easier for them to find the right
person for the right job. In May 2011, as a result of a candidate experience survey using “mystery shopper”
approach conducted by HR Magazine, the Group won the award of “Best Performer in e-Recruitment 2011” for
its outstanding online recruitment system.

To ensure leadership continuity, the Group cascaded the Succession Planning and Talent Review process to
business unit level so as to identify and develop high-potential employees throughout the Group. A series of
competency-based training workshops, such as on coaching, influencing skills and supervisory management,
was also designed to equip employees with the right skills to achieve business objectives.

On talent retention, the Group is committed
to enhancing its total rewards and promoting
employee well-being. During the year, a 5-day
work week was introduced and the medical
scheme was upgraded. A series of seminars
under the theme of “Creating a Happy
Workforce” was organised and a Caring
Programme was also launched to provide

Training workshop
Bl TARY;

comprehensive on-boarding support to new

recruits at senior staff level.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The Group continued to enhance its competitiveness and operational efficiency through utilisation of information
technology during the year.

In April 2011, the Group’s Unwired Defect Tracking System, won the “Certificate of Merit” in the “Hong Kong
ICT Awards 2011” organised by Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association and the Hong Kong
Productivity Council. The System, which runs on the latest handheld devices with touch-screen technology,
would enable the inspectors of a property developer to mark up defects, take photos and draw on the floor plans
off-line on site as these devices would synchronise with the office system when a wireless connection is available.

The Group also won an award for its online recruitment system as mentioned under the Human Resources
section above. Meanwhile, the Group is in the course of launching the eMarketing System and Event
Management System which will facilitate the design, update of web contents, and provide an effective and
affordable way to communicate with customers and other target audience. The systems also allow participants of
events organised by the Group to submit their entries and register on-line.

The Group will continue to enhance the commitment control and contractors pre-qualification workflow system
to cater for new acquisition and business development. This new workflow system will be extended to include an
automation of the tendering procedure and will help minimise the manual processing time.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has been active in reaching out to the needy and serving the community. During the year, its
corporate volunteer team HKR Care & Share organised a number of events to bring joys and love to the less
fortunate, focusing on the needs of children.

In recognition of the Group’s continued contribution to the community, the Hong Kong Council of Social Service
in March 2011 awarded the Group the “Caring Company” logo for the sixth consecutive year. The Social Welfare
Department also awarded the Group the “Gold Award for Volunteer Service” in December 2010.

GHOSTLY FUN @ DISCOVERY BAY (October 2010)

HKR Care & Share brought about 60
underprivileged children from the T.W.G.Hs
Residential Child Care Services and the Social
Services Division of Hong Kong Outlying Islands
Women'’s Association to Discovery Bay, giving
them a unique opportunity to experience the
festive joy and spooky fun of Halloween in the

friendly and multi-cultural community.

WINTER FUNFEST (December 2010)

HKR Care & Share visited Evangel Children’s Home (ECH) and threw a Christmas party for over 30 children. ECH
children are mostly from families that are unable to provide them with sufficient care due to family problems or
crises. HKR Care & Share volunteers teamed up with the children to participate in group games and competed
for wonderful prizes at the party.

HONG KONG ARTS FESTIVAL SPONSORSHIP (March 2011)

The Group sponsored the Programme Opening Performance of Riccardo
Chailly and the Leipzig Gewandhaus Orchestra at the 39th Hong Kong Arts
Festival in order to help raise the public’s interest in arts and culture, and to
bring world-class performances to Hong Kong. " ﬁ

=

YUMMY EASTER CARNIVAL (April 2011) Riccardo Chailly
In celebration of the Easter, HKR Care & Share hosted a party for around 25 - ;:'-'1"'"‘-“"""" )
underprivileged children from the T.W.G.Hs Residential Child Care Services. ;
At the party, an award-winning chef from Discovery Bay Residents Club
showed the children how to prepare and garnish a dessert dish — a yummy
rabbit made from marshmallow, and the children were assisted by about 20

HKR Care & Share volunteers to prepare the dessert.

VISITS TO THE BOUNTY

The Bounty, a 42-metre European tall ship replica which resides in Discovery Bay, welcomed a number of groups
from schools and charitable organisations during the year. The Bounty will continue to help the needy and spread
the spirit of love and care to the community.
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CHAIRMAN

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
JP, DSSc (Hons) (Aged 68)

Mr CHA was appointed executive director in 1989, the
deputy chairman in September 2001 and the chairman of
the Company on 15 May 2007. Since 1995, he has been the
managing director of HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd, a subsidiary
of the Company and is now in charge of its operations and
management. He has also been serving as director of a number
of other subsidiaries of the Company since its inception in 1977
and has over 40 years experience in property development.
Mr CHA is the chairman and non-executive director of the
Company’s associated corporation, Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited, and an independent non-executive director
of New World Development Company Limited, both of them
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). He is an independent non-executive
director of Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, manager
of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust which is listed
on the Stock Exchange, an independent non-executive
director of Hong Kong International Theme Parks Limited,
owner and operator of Hong Kong Disneyland Resort, the
chairman of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”) and a director of
Asia Television Limited (“ATV”). Mingly is, and ATV was once,
under the control of members of Cha Family. Mr CHA is also
a committee member of the Eleventh National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). He is a brother of
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
and Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson and an uncle of Mr CHA
Yiu Chung Benjamin who are also directors of the Company.
Mr CHA is also a director of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited and
LBJ Regents Limited, both are substantial shareholders of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFQO”) and together whose interests in the Company represent
the substantial interests of Cha Family in the Company.
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CHAIRMAN

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
JP, DSSc (Hons) (Aged 68)

Mr CHA was appointed executive director in 1989, the
deputy chairman in September 2001 and the chairman of
the Company on 15 May 2007. Since 1995, he has been the
managing director of HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd, a subsidiary
of the Company and is now in charge of its operations and
management. He has also been serving as director of a number
of other subsidiaries of the Company since its inception in 1977
and has over 40 years experience in property development.
Mr CHA is the chairman and non-executive director of the
Company’s associated corporation, Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited, and an independent non-executive director
of New World Development Company Limited, both of them
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). He is an independent non-executive
director of Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, manager
of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust which is listed
on the Stock Exchange, an independent non-executive
director of Hong Kong International Theme Parks Limited,
owner and operator of Hong Kong Disneyland Resort, the
chairman of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”) and a director of
Asia Television Limited (“ATV”). Mingly is, and ATV was once,
under the control of members of Cha Family. Mr CHA is also
a committee member of the Eleventh National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). He is a brother of
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
and Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson and an uncle of Mr CHA
Yiu Chung Benjamin who are also directors of the Company.
Mr CHA is also a director of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited and
LBJ Regents Limited, both are substantial shareholders of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFQO”) and together whose interests in the Company represent
the substantial interests of Cha Family in the Company.
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Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham
FCPA (Aged 65)

Mr CHUNG was appointed executive director of the Company
in 1994 and is also director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr CHUNG has been serving in the Group since
1978 and is the head of finance office responsible for oversight
of the Group’s finance and treasury, accounting, tax functions
and information technology department. He is a certified public
accountant (practising), a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an associate of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
He has over 35 years experience in financial management and
property development in Hong Kong.

Mr TANG Moon Wah
BA (Arch Studies), BArch (Aged 57)

Mr TANG was appointed executive director of the Company in
December 2004 and is also director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. He has been serving in the Group since 1985
and is the head of China business unit and head of projects
responsible for project management of real estate development
in Hong Kong and the PRC and for oversight of master planning,
conceptual and major designs and technical advice on
acquisitions. Mr TANG has over 30 years extensive experience
in property development. He has been a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Architects since 1981, Authorised Person since
1982 and Registered Architect since 1991.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI
GBM, CVO, GBS, OBE, JP (Aged 72)

Mr ARCULLI was appointed director in 1989 and has been
an independent non-executive director of the Company since
1993 before he was re-designated as non-executive director
in June 2005. He is the senior partner of King & Wood.
Mr ARCULLI is the independent non-executive chairman of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, an independent
non-executive director of Hang Lung Properties Limited and
SCMP Group Limited, and a non-executive director of Power
Assets Holdings Limited, Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited, Sino
Hotels (Holdings) Limited, Sino Land Company Limited and
Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited, all of them are listed on the
Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director
of Shanghai Century Acquisition Corporation, listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, from 2005 to 2008. Mr ARCULLI is
currently a non-official member of the Executive Council of the
HKSAR Government, a member of the board of directors of The
Community Chest of Hong Kong, a member of the Consultation
Panel and a board member of the West Kowloon Cultural District
Authority. He also holds directorships in other public and private
companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
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Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
BA, MBA (Aged 59)

Mr CHA was appointed director in 1989 and re-designated as
non-executive director of the Company in December 2004.
He has been serving as director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company with the earliest appointment back to 1978.
Mr CHA is also a non-executive director of Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited, an associated corporation of the Company
listed on the Stock Exchange, an independent non-executive
director of Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and director/
non-executive director of a number of other public and private
companies in Hong Kong and China, and is active in many
non-profit organizations. Mr CHA has over 30 years experience
in investment management. He is a brother of Ms WONG CHA
May Lung Madeline, Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson and Mr CHA
Mou Zing Victor and an uncle of Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin
who are also directors of the Company. Mr CHA is also a director
of LBJ Regents Limited which is a substantial shareholder of
the Company under Part XV of the SFO and whose interest in
the Company forms part of the interests of Cha Family in the
Company.

Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming
BSc, MBA, MAcc, MICE, MI Struct.E, CPA (Aged 69)

Mr CHEUNG was re-designated as non-executive director of the
Company upon his retirement from the Group with effect from
1 November 2010. Prior to his retirement and re-designation,
Mr CHEUNG was an executive director of the Company since
September 2001 responsible for the management of the
Company’s hospitality subsidiaries and related investments in
the Asia Pacific region. He is a member of the Institution of
Structural Engineers and the Institution of Civil Engineers in the
United Kingdom and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia.

BA, MBA (595%)
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Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
BSSc, JP (Aged 63)

Mr CHEUNG was appointed independent non-executive director
in January 2006 and re-designated as non-executive director of
the Company on 4 December 2008. He was the chief executive
of Hong Kong Telecom from 1994 to 2000. Mr CHEUNG is an
independent non-executive director of China Unicom (Hong
Kong) Limited and Taikang Life Insurance Co. Ltd., the former is
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr CHEUNG is also the chairman
of the board of directors of HKU School of Professional and
Continuing Education.

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
(Aged 71)

Ms WONG was appointed director in 1989 and re-designated
as non-executive director of the Company in December 2004.
She has been serving as director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company since its inception in 1977. Ms WONG is also
director/non-executive director of a number of other public
and private companies in Hong Kong and overseas, including
Hon Kwok Land Investment Company, Limited and Chinney
Investments, Limited, both are listed on the Stock Exchange,
and United Nigerian Textiles PLC which is listed on The
Nigerian Stock Exchange. Ms WONG is a sister of Mr CHA Mou
Sing Payson, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor and Mr CHA Mou Daid
Johnson and an aunt of Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin who are
also directors of the Company. Ms WONG is also a director of
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited and LBJ Regents Limited, both are
substantial shareholders of the Company under Part XV of the
SFO and together whose interests in the Company represent the
substantial interests of Cha Family in the Company.

T vis B3 [ P 4 A LA ]
2010/2011 4E 2

AR

BSSc,JP (635%)

REEN2006F 1 AEZEABAREIE
SIEBITEE W 2008F 12 A4 B
FARRBIEHNITES - R 1994FE
2000 FF BEABEMZITHABE - RESE
MeETEEEREGBE (B8) ROHABR
RN RERASRBROBRARZE
SUIEBMITES  AIERBRAT LT © &
EENRBEBREBEXEECEREERR
i

EEXRELL
715%)

FLTRIBIFEZEREARAES -
I 72004 5 12 A AE AR R EFENIT
EZ - BAKERI77FKLIAKR -
B—EHETARGAETHB AR CE
F o TRITMEEZREBREINAR
RILANRRIZES/ERTES - &
BRERBRA LM ZEEXERAA
NEEEERR AT @ KREKAIEFE
%22 5 Ffr | 2 United Nigerian Textiles
PLCo T AEMEILE - ERK T
EREREEEZ BB RERR KL
WmE - BEMAARRAIZES - T+
I~ &CCM Trust (Cayman)Limited & LBJ
Regents Limited 2 £ 5 * ZF A AR
BHEOEXNVHABARBEERE - H
ENARRIZEBESKARERRER
KRR Z EBHEL o



62

HKR International Limited
Annual Report 2010/2011

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREEEHEABZEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry
GBS, BA, MBA, DBA(Hons), LLD(Hons) (Aged 64)

Dr CHENG was appointed director in 1989 and re-designated
as independent non-executive director of the Company in 1993.
Dr CHENG is the managing director of New World Development
Company Limited, chairman and managing director of New
World China Land Limited, chairman of NWS Holdings Limited,
chairman and non-executive director of New World Department
Store China Limited, chairman of International Entertainment
Corporation and non-executive director of Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited, all of them are listed on the Stock Exchange.
He resigned as the chairman and executive director of
Taifook Securities Group Limited, which is listed on the Stock
Exchange, in January 2010. Dr CHENG is also director of a
number of private companies in Hong Kong and overseas. He
is the chairman of the advisory council for The Better Hong
Kong Foundation and standing committee member of the
Eleventh National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of the PRC. In 2001, Dr CHENG was
awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government.

Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
GBS, SBS, OBE, JP, DBA (Hons) (Aged 63)

Dr CHEUNG was appointed independent non-executive director
of the Company in September 2004. He is a fellow member
of both the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Dr CHEUNG is an independent non-executive
director of Hang Seng Bank Limited and HSBC Holdings plc
(“HSBC"), both are listed on the Stock Exchange with HSBC
also being dual listed on the London Stock Exchange. He ceased
to be an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited, which are listed on the Stock Exchange, in April 2011
and December 2009 respectively. Dr CHEUNG is currently a
non-official member of the Executive Council of the HKSAR
Government. Dr CHEUNG is also the chairman of Airport
Authority Hong Kong, chairman of the supervisory committee
of Tracker Fund of Hong Kong, chairman of the council of The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and member
of the Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. He was awarded
the Gold Bauhinia Star by HKSAR Government in 2008.
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Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
FCIH (Aged 64)

Ms HO was re-designated as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 10 April 2010. Prior to
her latest re-designation, Ms HO was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in 1994 and re-designated as a
non-executive director on 10 April 2008 upon her retirement
of all executive roles in the Group. Ms HO is a fellow member
of the Chartered Institute of Housing, Asian Pacific Branch,
and has over 35 years experience in property development,
investment and management. She is currently a member of the
executive committee and chairman of remuneration committee
of the Hong Kong Housing Society.

Dr QIN Xiao
PhD Econ. (Aged 64)

Dr QIN was appointed as independent non-executive director of
the Company in July 2009. He is an independent non-executive
director of China Telecom Corporation Limited, which is listed
on the New York Stock Exchange and dual listed on the Stock
Exchange. He was appointed an independent non-executive
director of AIA Group Limited in late September 2010 which
securities were listed on the Stock Exchange in late October
2010. Dr QIN retired as the chairman of China Merchants
Group in August 2010 and ceased as the chairman and
non-executive director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.,
which is listed on the Stock Exchange and dual listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, in September 2010.
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Dr QIN is a member of the Eleventh National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the PRC
and honorary chairman of Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises
Association, guest professor at the School of Economics and
Management of Tsinghua University and the Graduate School of
the People’s Bank of China. Previously, he served as president
and vice chairman of China International Trust and Investment
Corporation (“CITIC"), and chairman of CITIC Industrial Bank.
He was a deputy to the Ninth National People’s Congress of
the PRC, an advisor on the Foreign Currency Policy of the State
Administration of Foreign Exchange, and a member of Toyota
International Advisory Board. He also served as chairman of
Asia-Pacific Economic Corporation Business Advisory Council
for the Year 2001. Dr QIN is the author of several papers and
books in the fields of economics and management. He received
a PhD degree in economics from University of Cambridge.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr CHAN Chi Ming

BSc (Aged 54)

Mr CHAN joined the Group in 1980. He is the head of Hong
Kong business unit and head of development and marketing
responsible for oversight of the Discovery Bay operations
in transport, club and city management services; property
investment and development, sales, marketing, leasing and
management of real estate in Hong Kong and Pearl River Delta.
He is director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company and
has over 30 years experience in property development, sales
and marketing of real estate.
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DIRECTORS'

REPORT
B EE R

The directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of HKR
International Limited (the “Company”) are pleased to announce
the audited final results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements on pages
214 to0 228.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 106.

The Directors have recommended the declaration of a final
dividend of HK11 cents (2010: HK12 cents) per share for the
year ended 31 March 2011 to shareholders whose names
appear on the registers of members of the Company on 16
September 2011. The proposed final dividend together with
the interim dividend of HK7 cents (2010: HK6 cents) per share
makes a total dividend of HK18 cents (2010: HK18 cents) per
share for the year. The proposed final dividend will be paid
on 29 September 2011 following approval at the 2011 annual
general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS

The main and branch registers of members of the Company
will be closed on 15 and 16 September 2011. During these two
days, no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March
2011, all transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 14 September 2011.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 110to 112.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
33 to the consolidated financial statements on page 199.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were set out on page 54.

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta was re-designated from non-executive
director to independent non-executive director on 10 April
2010.

Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin was appointed as an executive
director on 15 September 2010.

Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming was re-designated from executive
director to non-executive director on 1 November 2010.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles”) and the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange, The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI, Mr CHA
Yiu Chung Benjamin, Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung
Marvin, Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming, Mr TANG Moon Wah and
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline shall retire by rotation at
the 2011 AGM. All the retiring directors, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election. Other remaining directors will
continue in office.
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None of the directors offering themselves for re-election at the
2011 AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

The non-executive directors including the four independent
non-executive directors of the Company were not appointed for
a specific term but their respective terms of office are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the
Company in accordance with the Articles. The rotation article
sets up a mechanism to ensure all Directors shall retire and
offer for re-election at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance therewith.

The Directors’ and Senior Management’s biographical details
are set out on pages 55 to 64.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements on pages 161 and 162.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
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Number of Ordinary Shares

SRy ~ A B By R AR

bigr:
UNDERLYING SHARES AND FZMEZS LERYA s
DEBENTURES Percentage
of Issued
As at 31 March 2011, the interests and short positions of R2011%E3 8310 ' EERANT RS Share Capital
the Directors and chief executive of the Company and their {THRAEBREERGZHE A THRAR Personal Family -~ Corporate Other {EERT
. ) . ) . R N o s sz | Name of Director Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Total  BAZEH
respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and Al EABEEE (& R EBEHIENE £348 sh BAEZ Rk NEER HibiE g EOH
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within ~~ XVEF) Z & « AR REE+F - &
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register GBI & &K HFE 352 K BRAHIET Ronald Joseph ARCULLI Beneﬂcjary of a trust 241472 - - - 241472 002
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise E2 MR kiR E AR RIETERMN 2 BE RiEREA
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuantto AR RIMTE% 10 P&l L 81T A FH#ETT CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham Beneficial owner 315,084 - - - 315,084 002
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed FAEZ SHEAESTRI ([ Z2AERE |) B4 T EXBEA
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing &R AT NRESHZHES AEWNT
Rules adopted by the Company were as follows: HO Pak Ching Loretta EeDeEC|a\owner 85,600 - - - 85,600 001
g ERAAA
(1) THE COMPANY (1) AAW TANG Moon Wah Beneficial owner 135,200 - - - 135,200 001
Long positions in shares of HK$0.25 each R E1E 0.25 BT - 17.2 2FE Ha% KRR
Notes: B
Number of Ordinary Shares
LEREE (@) The shares were held by Accomplished Investments Q) ZERMIyREH‘EBLE S
Approximate Limited, a corporation 100% owned by Mr CHA Mou Sing & ¥ B 2Z A BlAccomplished
Percentage Payson. Investments Limited 354 o
of Issued
Share Capital (b) The shares belonged to certain but not identical b) ZEBROCERABETFTIRABEE
Personal Family ~ Corporate Other [EEBf discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited 5t & B % A CCM Trust (Cayman)
Name of Director Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Total  BAZEL and LBJ Regents Limited were the corporate trustees, and Limited % LBJ Regents Limited 2
FEEL ) I, 5: ik LFkE R &y Al the relevant directors were among the members of the FETIEAEEMBEBEESERN
classes of discretionary beneficiaries. BIEZEA
CHA Mou Sing Payson Beneficial owner, interests 3113113 - 2624000 633137861 638875574 4731
Sl ofa controled (Nate ) (Nate ) (c) 586,434,832 shares (changed to 577,842,756 shares () 586,434,832 848515 (& 201144
E(e):]pe(gs:al?ngfnd (Hita) (Hitb) since 2 April 2011) belonged to certain but not identical A2BEEE A577,842,756 IR A%
discretioanytrusts discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited 5 BREFTARBEEELAEZ
EXEEA  TARERR and LBJ Regents Limited were the corporate trustees, and /CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited &
RBEIZHA the director was among the members of the classes of LBJ Regents Limited Z B X 5EA
discretionary beneficiaries. EEMEBEBESBREETHEA ©
CHA Mou Zing Victor Beneficial owner and 760,253 - - 629498383 630,258,636 46.68
B beneficiary of (Note b) (d)  The director was, under another discretionary trust of (d) RIEBIN—TECCM Trust (Cayman)
discretionary trusts (Hiztb) which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited was the corporate Limited B3 5B XA ZBIEE
EEAAARBBEEREA trustee, the founder and member of the classes of R EEAMNBEEZAINIA
i i iciari QISR 26 A o 2 =2
CHA/Mou Daid Johnson Ben‘eﬁcia‘ry of - - - 628200885 628,200,885 46.52 ?:g;eitrfgigeze?nezclli)r?;égelriizrsel;_Ch trust was deemed gi;;g flj |§5’5 zfﬁﬁuéﬁmfﬂ&
e discretionary trusts (Note b) e
BBEEXEA (Wztb) . . . -
rom 2 April 2011 onwards, the director was, under two B2011FE4828# %EE 45
CHA Yiu Chung Berjamin Beneficary o - - - 61889387 618895387 58 separate discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Gayman) PR R B9 15 15 58 K B 4 73 CCM
BB discrefionary rusts (Note b) Limited and LBJ Regents Limited were corporate trustees, Trust (Cayman) Limited X LBJ
BT A (kD) the founder and member of the classes of discretionary Regents Limited 2 /& B % 5 A FT
beneficiaries thereof. Such trusts were deemed to be B2REEEZAT AR R
WONG CHA May Founder and/or beneficiary - - - 027487463 627487463 4647 interested in 49,644,707 shares in aggregate. BIETEHA o HEEEWHE A
Lung Madeline of discretionary trusts (Notes c&d) 4 49,644,707 Bx&5 °
1ExE MiEEEAAR / SEEA (Wicka)
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(2) AR B2 0 — LB A 2 A BR 2 W) Notes: BRE -

(2) ASSOCIATED CORPORATION - HANISON
CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED

(@) The shares were held by Accomplished Investments (a) ZEWRMD I HEBELE S

Long positions in shares of HK$0.10 each R ETE O. 10,8 IR 172 4F &

Limited, a corporation 100% owned by Mr CHA Mou Sing & ¥ B Z ‘A BlAccomplished
Payson. Investments Limited #48 ©
Number of Ordinary Shares
=ERHA (b) The shares belonged t tain but not identical ZEROBRE NEESEERB
r— he s| ged to certain but not identics (0 BEFBRHBRETTABER
Percentage discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited 5t % B & A CCM Trust (Cayman)
of Issued and LBJ Regents Limited were the corporate trustees and Limited & LBJ Regents Limited &
Share Capital the relevant directors were among the members of the FESITABAMEBESER
Personal Family  Corporate Other fie&fh classes of discretionary beneficiaries. BB RA o
Name of Director Capacity Interests Interests Interests Interests Tt BRAZEA
L LEL i B\ Rliied AL 5 AttRs 2 b (c) 106,996,924 shares (changed to 105,150,973 shares (c) 106,996,924 &My (B 2011 F 4
CHA Mou Sig Payson Bereficalonne,meest 668,830 L SRS 108643 109,069,142 237 since 2 April 2011) belonged to certain but not identical A2 AAEEEE 75 105,150,973 ik
HE of a controlled (Note a) (Note b) discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited 3 BREFIARBEEERAEZ
corporation and (HfEa) iED) and LBJ Regents Limited were the corporate trustees and A& CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited &
beneficiary of the director was among the members of the classes of LBJ Regents Limited 2 EB X 5L A
discretionary frusts discretionary beneficiaries. EETMAEESEBRAMETSA
ERAA  XBEEER
BiRERTEA (d)  From 2 April 2011 onwards, the director was, under (d B2011F4A2BE ZEZER
CHA Mou Zing Victor Beneficil owner and 163,336 - - 107150201 107313537 201 another discretionary trust of which LBJ Regents Limited B PRBEEREkEER/LBI
Bt beneficiary of (Note b) was the corporate trustee, the founder and member of the Regents Limited 2 A B 5E A BT
discretionary trusts (k1) classes of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trust BrRBEEEZATARER Y
ERBEARBBREIXEA was deemed to be interested in 1,845,951 shares. BIEXEA c ZEEEHE A
CHA Mo D Johnson Benefciay o . - 05020 10715020 2198 51,845,951 IR -
S discretionary trusts (Note b)
HEEEIHA (Bish) Save as disclosed above and for certain directors holding [ ENXHEELRBRS TEEIURIE AL
non-beneficial interests in the share capital of some of the %Eﬁﬁz]& OB ATIKRANZIEE
CleYiu Chung Benjamin Ben‘eﬁcia‘ryof - - - 105150973 105,150973 2157 subsidiaries of the Company as nominee shareholders, as at 2543560 » 201143 B31H » B85
o @@%?ggg%w/\mts ((%0;;8 31 March 2011, none of the Directors or chief executive of the ARATIZESITERAB X EEL [ 2B
Company or their respective associates had any interests or A +RAKR AR SE@EESEZE (EER
WONG CHA May Lung Madeline Founder and/or - - - 1069%924 10699924 21% short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures  Z&E&(&5) ) 2 %5 ~ BRI RESH -
1852 Deneciry of (N({t\esc&d) of the Company or any associated corporations (within the — F 421 5 1R 45 55 % (£ 0| 55 352 (£ B 8 A
m(‘iscrigalry/\tgs;jﬁﬁ (RiiteRd) meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be ~ HIETFT 2 Z MW » sxBIE LR EIAT
kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the — FHIZAESFR|ZBR S NN B REE T2
Ronald Joseph ARCULLI Beneficiary of a trust 51878 - - - 51878 001 Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code (A REZRTORA o
RiEE RHEEEA contained in the Listing Rules.
CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham Beneficial owner 3,018 - - - 58,018 0.01
TN EREAA
HO Pak Ching Loretta Beneficial owner 11,690 - - - 11,690 0.002
fiteg EREAA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, the interests of the Directors in businesses
which competed or were likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group as required to be
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules were set out as follows:

(1) The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI is an
independent non-executive director of Hang Lung
Properties Limited (“Hang Lung”) and also the non-
executive director of Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited
(“Hutchison™), Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited (“Sino
Hotels”), Sino Land Company Limited (“Sino Land”) and
Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited (“TST Properties”). The
businesses of Hang Lung, Hutchison, Sino Hotels, Sino
Land and TST Properties involve at least some of property
investment, property development, property management,
treasury investment and hotel management and
ownership. Hang Lung, Hutchison, Sino Hotels, Sino Land
and TST Properties are all listed on the Stock Exchange.

(2) Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson is the chairman and non-
executive director of Hanison Construction Holdings
Limited (“Hanison”), an associated corporation of the
Company. He is also an independent non-executive
director of New World Development Company Limited
(“New World”), and Eagle Asset Management (CP)
Limited (“Eagle Asset”), manager of Champion Real
Estate Investment Trust (“Champion”). The businesses of
Hanison, New World, Eagle Asset and Champion involve at
least some of property investment, property development,
property management, treasury investment and hotel
management and ownership. Hanison, New World and
Champion are all listed on the Stock Exchange.

(3) Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor is an independent non-executive
director of SOHO China Limited (“SOHQ") and the
alternate to Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson, an independent
non-executive director of New World. The businesses of
SOHO and New World involve at least some of property
investment, property development, property management
and hotel management and ownership. SOHO and New
World are both listed on the Stock Exchange.
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(4) Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson is a non-executive director
of Hanison whose group’s businesses consist of
property investment, property development and property
management. Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange.

(5) Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin is a non-executive
director of Hanison whose group’s businesses consist of
property investment, property development and property
management. Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange.

(6) Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline is a non-executive
director of Chinney Investments, Limited (“Chinney”)
and Hon Kwok Land Investment Company, Limited
(“Hon Kwok”) whose groups’ businesses consist of
property development, property investment and property
management. Chinney and Hon Kwok are both listed on
the Stock Exchange.

Save for the independent non-executive directors and save as
disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested in any
business apart from the Group’s businesses which competed
or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE
SHARES ORDEBENTURES

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on
3 January 2002, which was effected on 18 January 2002
(“2002 Scheme”), under which options may be granted, inter
alias, to Directors. Details of the 2002 Scheme are set out in the
paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” below and note 34
to the consolidated financial statements on page 199.

There was no grant to, and hence no beneficial exercise by, the
Directors of any options under the 2002 Scheme during the
year.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2011, the following persons (other than a
director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under

section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the Company’s shares of HK$0.25 each

FEEBK

R2011F3 A31 8 @ REARAIZES
GRBIE 336 R ERTFE 2 E MR
# - TIAL (RRARIZEFHHZSTTR
ABBRIN) WARB Z B KRR (D &
BAZERIORBIAT

AL &R E 18 0.258 7.2 R 17,2 4F

B

Approximate
Percentage of Issued

Number of Share Capital

Name of Shareholder Capacity Ordinary Shares (LB TIRAZ

BREAH g4 LTERE"A BEAE S L

CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Corporate trustee 560,153,905 41.48
EEIZFEA (Note a)
(FfizEa)

LBJ Regents Limited Corporate trustee 106,137,275 7.86
EBEIZFEA (Note b)
(MI3ED)

Invesco Hong Kong Limited Investment manager/ 95,032,578 7.04
=IEREEEBR AR advisor of various (Note ¢)
accounts (FfisEc)
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Notes:

(a) 560,153,905 shares were held by CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited
as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary
trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary
beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming'’s issue.

(b) 106,137,275 shares were held by LBJ Regents Limited as
corporate trustee for certain but not identical discretionary trusts,
of which members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries
comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s issue.

(c)  The long position interest in 95,032,578 shares were held by
Invesco Hong Kong Limited as investment manager and/or
advisor of various accounts.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, no other
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the 2002 Scheme as required to be disclosed
under the Listing Rules are set out below:

(1) SUMMARY OF THE 2002 SCHEME
(a) Purpose

The purpose is to provide the participants who have
been granted options under the 2002 Scheme to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in
the Company and to encourage the participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.
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(c) 95,032,578 fxf&fn 2 tf Btz YA IIE
REEEERARMER/ERERENZE
BRP ZEERIREA -

Br EXEEEESN - IR20114F3 A31H -
B RN R B AR (7 S AR BE A% 1D 2 E 4
A B REER R AN R RIIR IR A IR0 5
336 IEBEFE 2 B MR

fi IR 3

18 45 - 7 4R A1/ TR 5 B 2002 F 5 81 Y
SERIIT -

(1) 2002458 2 %
() HM

B 82 /D2 IRIZE2002F 5 &l
ERBRENREAQRLE
Bz 2EEREBEAQRE
AEmz#e  WHEILH
EBARRRERE 7 EEF
@ BhRSAAE RERD

Z{BfE -

75



76  HKR International Limited
Annual Report 2010/2011

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEGHRE

(b)

(d)

Participants

All directors (including independent non-executive
directors), full-time employees and consultants of
the Company, its subsidiaries and/or its associated
companies are eligible to participate in the 2002
Scheme.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

A maximum number of 115,737,802 shares of the
Company may be issued upon exercise of all options
granted or to be granted under the 2002 Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each participant (including both exercised
and unexercised options) under the 2002 Scheme
or any other share option scheme (if any) adopted
by the Company in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of
the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would
result in the shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted to such person in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of the grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue; and

(d)
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(i)  having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant in
excess of HK$5.0 million,

such grant of option shall be subject to prior approval
of the shareholders of the Company who are not
connected persons of the Company as defined in the
Listing Rules.

Period within which the shares must be taken up under

an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from
the date on which it is granted or such shorter period
as the Board (or the relevant committee thereof) may
specify at the time of grant.

Minimum pcriod, if any, for which an option must be

held before it can be exercised

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board (or
the relevant committee thereof) must specify the
minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and amount

Pil'V;IblC Up()[l ‘.1CCCPt‘.11]CC

The offer of the grant of an option (of which the date
of grant must be a Stock Exchange business day)
must be accepted within 14 days from the date on
which the offer letter is delivered to the participant
and a consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid upon
acceptance.
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(h)  Basis of determining the subscription price of an option

(2)

The subscription price of an option shall be no less
than the higher of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(i)  the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five Stock Exchange business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

(ii) the nominal value of a share of the Company
on the date of grant.

(i) Remaining life

The 2002 Scheme has a life of 10 years and
will expire on 3 January 2012 unless otherwise
terminated in accordance with the terms of the 2002
Scheme.

DETAILS OF OPTIONS GRANTED AND
AVAILABLE FOR GRANT

No option was granted under the 2002 Scheme since
its adoption. The total number of shares in the Company
available for grant of options under the 2002 Scheme is
115,737,802 shares which represents 8.57% of the issued
share capital of the Company at the date of this annual
report (i.e. 22 June 2011).

(2)
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PR AN Z 201 14 B e RE 5T 31

PROPOSED ADOPTION OF THE 2011
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Board has passed a conditional resolution to early terminate
the 2002 Scheme. The early termination of the 2002 Scheme
is conditional upon the passing of an ordinary resolution by
shareholders of the Company at the 2011 AGM to approve the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2011 Scheme”) as
proposed by the Board. Details of the proposed 2011 Scheme
are set out in a circular to be despatched to the shareholders of
the Company in due course.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Particulars of the zero coupon convertible bonds due 2010 (the
“Bonds”) which have been fully redeemed in April 2010 are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements on page
198.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group entered
into the following transactions which constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules:

2010 CONSTRUCTION AND RENOVATION
SERVICES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Company and Hanison entered into the Construction and
Renovation Services Framework Agreement dated 20 January
2010 (the “2010 Agreement”) which governs the outline
terms upon which members of the Group and Hanison and its
subsidiaries (the “Hanison Group”) proposed to be engaged in
various construction projects (the “Construction Transactions”)
and various interior and renovation projects (the “Renovation
Transactions”) during the three financial years ending 31 March
2013 with total values in terms of revenue recognition to be
subject to the following annual caps:
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Annual caps:

the total value of the Construction Transactions in terms of
revenue recognition shall not exceed the following:

1 April 2010 — 31 March 2011 HK$600.0 million

1 April 2011 - 31 March 2012 HK$400.0 million
1 April 2012 - 31 March 2013 HK$400.0 million

the total value of the Renovation Transactions in terms of
revenue recognition shall not exceed the following:

1 April 2010 — 31 March 2011 HK$50.0 million
1 April 2011 - 31 March 2012 HK$50.0 million
1 April 2012 — 31 March 2013 HK$50.0 million

The Directors are of the opinion that the 2010 Agreement
represents business that is in the ordinary and usual course of
the Group and reflects normal commercial terms that are arm’s
length and are fair and reasonable so far as its shareholders
are concerned and are in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

The 2010 Agreement, the terms thereof, the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the annual caps on the total
values of Construction Transactions and Renovation Transactions
(as set out above) were approved by an ordinary resolution
passed by the independent shareholders of the Company at an
extraordinary general meeting held on 9 March 2010.

In the event that the total value of the Construction Transactions
or the Renovation Transactions exceeds the relevant annual
cap amounts set out above for any year, such transactions
will be subject to review and re-approval by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the next following AGM or at
extraordinary general meeting convened for the purpose.
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In accordance with rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the
Directors have duly approved, and the independent non-
executive directors of the Company have reviewed the internal
auditor’s report and the independent auditor’s letter pursuant to
rule 14A.38 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions (the “Continuing Connected Transactions”) were
carried out in accordance with the following principles:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms or terms no less favourable
than terms available to (or from) independent third parties;
and

(c) in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements
governing the Continuing Connected Transations on a fair
and reasonable basis and in the interest of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole.

The Board has engaged the independent auditor of the
Company to report on the Continuing Connected Transactions
for the year ended 31 March 2011 pursuant to rule 14A.38 of
the Listing Rules. The independent auditor of the Company has
provided a letter to the Board confirming that—

(a) for the year ended 31 March 2011, the aggregate amount
paid and payable by the Group in respective of the
Construction Transactions in terms of revenue recognition
did not exceed the annual cap of HK$600.0 million as
set out in the previous announcement dated 20 January
2010; and

(b) for the year ended 31 March 2011, the aggregate amount
paid and payable by the Group in respective of the
Renovation Transactions in terms of revenue recognition
did not exceed the annual cap of HK$50.0 million as
set out in the previous announcement dated 20 January
2010.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE 13.21 OF
CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligation set out in rule
13.21 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the
details of the loan agreement with covenants relating to specific
performance on the controlling shareholder of the Company as
at 31 March 2011 pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There exists
no reporting obligation by the Company under rules 13.17 and
13.19 of the Listing Rules accordingly.

The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered
into on 18 September 2007 (the “Loan Agreement”) for a
transferable revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$2,500.0 million with final maturity date falling five
years after the date of the Loan Agreement.

The Loan Agreement provides that the existing controlling
shareholder of the Company as defined below as Cha
Family, being a single largest shareholder (direct or indirect
shareholding) in the Company on the date of the Loan
Agreement together with his associate(s) shall be the Company’s
single largest beneficial shareholder at any time until the final
maturity date and/or so long as the loan remains outstanding.
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As at the date of the Loan Agreement, CCM Trust (Cayman)
Limited, LBJ Regents Limited and CDW Holdings Limited (all
being substantial shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the SFO), Mingly Asia Capital Limited (not being
a substantial shareholder within the meaning of the SFO)
and Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor,
Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson and Ms WONG CHA May Lung
Madeline (all being directors of the Company) together had
an aggregate interest in 686,284,267 shares in the Company,
representing approximately 50.83% of the issued share capital
of the Company and collectively treated as a single controlling
shareholder of the Company under the term “Cha Family”. The
term Cha Family extends to include the interest of Mr CHA Yiu
Chung Benjamin after he became a director of the Company in
September 2010.

As at the date of this report, Cha Family holds an aggregate
interest in 672,789,146 shares representing approximately
49.83% of the issued share capital of the Company and it
remains a single largest beneficial shareholder of the Company.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE 13.22 OF
CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rule 13.22 of Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the details of financial
assistance and guarantees given for facilities granted to affiliated
companies of the Company as at 31 March 2011 pursuant to
rule 13.16 thereof.

(1) Asat 31 March 2011, the Group advanced to Tung Chung
Station Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL”) an
aggregate amount of HK$878.9 million.
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TCSDCL is engaged in the development of Tung Chung
Station Package Il Project in Lantau Island, Hong Kong
in which the Group has 31% interest. The last phase of
the development was completed in 2009 and TCSDCL
is currently interested in the commercial and retails
premises. The advances were provided by the Group in
the form of subordinated shareholders’ loans in proportion
to the Group’s shareholding interest in TCSDCL, for the
purpose of funding the working capital requirements
of TCSDCL. The advances are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and have no fixed terms of repayments.

(2) As at 31 March 2011, the Group advanced to Dazhongli
Properties Limited and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli
Group”) an aggregate amount of HK$4,424.7 million.

Dazhongli Group is engaged in the development of certain
properties in Jingan District, Shanghai, the PRC in which
the Group has 50% interest. The advances were provided
by the Group to Dazhongli Group in the form of equity and
loans in proportion to its shareholding interest therein, for
the purpose of financing the development expenditure
of Dazhongli Group. The advances are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayments.

(3) Asat 31 March 2011, the Group also advanced to several
affiliated companies an aggregate amount of HK$348.2
million.

As at 31 March 2011, the aggregate amount of advances
provided to and guarantees given for these affiliated companies
by the Group amounted to HK$5,651.8 million and represented
41.6% of the consolidated net tangible assets of the Group of
HK$13,571.7 million as at 31 March 2011.

The financial information of these affiliated companies at
31 March 2011 are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 174 to 180.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

The Company has fully redeemed the Bonds in April 2010. The
redeemed Bonds were cancelled and de-listed from the Stock
Exchange automatically.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in the investment properties and property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out
in notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively on pages 165 to 172.
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER
DEVELOPMENT, SALE AND
INVESTMENT PURPOSES

Details of the changes in properties held for/under development
for sale purposes of the Group during the year are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements on page 189.

A summary of major properties held for/under development,
sale and investment purposes is set out on pages 234 to 239.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to approximately HK$3.0 million (2010:
approximately HK$2.0 million).

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2011, the total number of employees of the
Group in Hong Kong and overseas was 3,268 (2010: 3,257).
The Group has always regarded human resources as one of
the most important assets. It aims to provide a quality working
environment that attracts, retains and develops the right
people and to build a talented workforce with capabilities and
commitment to support our business growth. For key initiatives
during the year, please refer to pages 48 to 51.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Information on the Group's retirement benefits schemes is
set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements on
page 213.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
although there is no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the
percentage of the Company’s shares which are in the hands
of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s total number of
issued shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s Corporate Governance Report is set out on
pages 88 to 98.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 233.
This summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements.

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2011
has been reviewed by the audit committee established in
compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the relevant
provisions of the CG Code.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the 2011 AGM of the Company
to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, being eligible and
offering themselves for re-appointment, as the independent
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
RERESFE

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

HIE R E FARAEIE
4301

Hong Kong, 22 June 2011
&% 2011F6 H22H
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The Board is pleased to present its corporate governance report
for the year ended 31 March 2011.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices as a core element towards success and
it has been the Company’s policy to manage the affairs of the
Group in accordance with appropriate regulatory standards and
practices on good corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has applied the
principles and complied with the code provisions of the Code of
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange during
the year ended 31 March 2011, save for the deviations with
considered reasons stated in the following relevant paragraphs.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as currently set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (including amendments
as effected from time to time) as its own code of conduct to
regulate securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Model Code”). All Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011 (both days inclusive).

The Model Code has been extended to and has become
equally applicable to dealings in the securities of the Company
by members of senior management and relevant employees
who are likely in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information in relation to the Company.

BEEEMAREEZE 20114331 H1E
FEZEERRE -

e X RN Y

ARRBBROECEEAERACESR
- TEEARIN 2 ROREE - MZRE
AEERALRFORERTEREEAR
SEZFETIARRB 2K -

BEEERA ARRNREZE2011F3A
BIBEFEANCERE BRI &ETH
TR ETARBIM SR 14 FAE D EE AT R
PR ([ EEVEFRI ) 2 SFRIMESC - i
B mBEIERERIN - FTEEZ REET
RAT BB -

TR 5 B
A

ARRBIEERA B AT E AR R % 10 A EL
SETR (BEIRERZER)  ER
REARBESETERXINERT
Al ([1RESTA D) - RARBUELARE
AR ARBE2REFHCER  KF
MR2010F4 A 1RE201163A31 B
B (BEEMABREAN) —BEETEREST
RSS2 AR LER

SETADRRERGZERNSEEE
AB KRB BEHEB AR BRE Ao E
BESRENZEHESR -

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BOARD COMPOSITION

Save as disclosed below, the Company had at all time during the
year ended 31 March 2011 maintained a balanced board with
strong independent element. The Board currently comprises
fourteen directors with nine non-executive directors (“NEDs”),
four of whom are independent. The members of the Board as
at 31 March 2011 and up to the date of this report were set
out on page 54. Each Director possesses skills and experience
appropriate to the business of the Group and particulars of
the Directors and Senior Management are duly set out in the
paragraph headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 55 to 64.

On 10 April 2010, Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta was re-designated
from NED to Independent Non-executive Director (“INED")
of the Company. On 15 September 2010, Mr CHA Yiu Chung
Benjamin was appointed as Executive Director (“ED”) of the
Company and Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming was re-designated
from ED to NED of the Company with effect from 1 November
2010.

During the year under review, the Company has met the
requirement of rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules with at least one
of the INEDs possessing appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Each of the INEDs has provided to the Company an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers that all of them
continue to be independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines set out in the relevant requirements of the Listing
Rules.

Save for Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson, Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor,
Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson, Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin and
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline who are family members,
all other Directors have no relationship with each other.

T s L% [ P 4 ) A LA ]
2010/2011 4t

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BB R

HHE
R AR

BRIt &SN - NRAR 2 ESSRE
£2011F 3 A31 B 1-F[E (E{al b5 8 & 88
RISFHENESSREE  HEBERSH
BT ZESFgREHTORESA
K NBRBIERTEE  EFNRAEE
VIEHITESE - REIE2011F3 A31H
FFEARBEAREAPIESSNK
BEREBEHINESE - FESFHAEHE
EAREEEBcAERER  EERE
EEEABCZEEFBEHIINELSAE
FOABMESENREEEABZERE |
—BA o

R2010F4 108 - [faEZEHAR
FIFRMITESHTABILIFNTES -
R2010F9 A 15 » BRFEEERE
RARBHITEFEMREAEEB 2010
FILALIRRE  HARFRTERAMT
RIFATES -

REBEFEER  ARREHE LTARR
3102 EMRE AN E D — R BILIFTT
EFABEENEXRER  LEBEE
VEETSAEENMEERER

EBUFATEZERBELTRAUSE
313G TE - MAR R R E B LI
HEEER - NRRRASABBEILIEH
TESYFT A LHARRMRE 2B TS
51 EULFER R FHME RSB o

BREMBEE  BRBEE  EREE
EBRPEERTEXELXLIRRIE
PRESN - B EME S 2 (I
1% e

89



920

HKR International Limited
Annual Report 2010/2011

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BEERR

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND
ATTENDANCES

During the year under review, four board meetings were held
and thirteen sets of written resolutions were passed by certain
board committees. The audit committee of the Company held
two meetings while the remuneration committee of the Company
held two meetings and exchanged three rounds of electronic
communication during the year. The agenda and accompanying
board papers were sent to all Directors or committee members
at least three days (or such other period as agreed) before the
intended dates of the meetings. Directors’ attendance in the
board meetings, audit committee and remuneration committee
meetings are set out below:

Meetings Meetings

EHG AT LINR

REBEFERN  EFLETIRER
FBHETESFZESRBISEEMARE
R-NFEAR - ARAZERZBERTT
T2REF  RFMEEERITT2ARE
EMIRAET T A B RIBHR - B
NN EEE XN RETT
SHEHRL3IB (EMBTHE) Al
BEATHEEESXALREENEB - EF
Ll ERees FRRBEEER
LFMEE SR 2 HFEXRHIIMT

Remuneration
Audit Committee

Board Committee Meetings/Circulated

Communication

Name of Director EEg® EM&ZEEY HMEEE
EEaE g3 g3 % EEER
The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI * IRESiE - 4/4 1/2 -
Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson ERELE 3/4 - -
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor * ERRRR e 4/4 - 5/5~
Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson ERERE 4/4 - -
Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin © HEP LS 2/2 - -
Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry ** BRaEE " 24 2/2 4/5~
Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin ** sRi=EfE+ "%  3/4 2/2 4/5~
Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming RERTE 4/4 - -
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus ** RoKFREAL T 4/4 2/2 5/5~
Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham BOAEAE 4/4 - -
Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta AR g2+ 3/4 - -
Dr QIN Xiao ** R 3/4 1/2 5/5~
Mr TANG Moon Wah BUmEESR L 4/4 - -
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline FEXRERL 2/4 - -

* members of audit committee

* members of remuneration committee
~ comprising 2 meetings and 3 rounds of circulated communication

@ appointed as ED during the year on 15 September 2010

BT EEHK

" HINZ B A .

~ BRERAEER = KRB

¢ ERRI0I0F9F 15 ARE L BHITEE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of chairman, deputy chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company were exercised by two different
individuals who are brothers. Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson is the
chairman and Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor is the deputy chairman
and managing director of the Company.

There is no written responsibilities setting out for the chairman
and chief executive officer, the division of responsibilities of the
two roles of chairman and chief executive officer is established
as a norm by the Board with core duty of the roles duly set out
in the Company'’s articles of association (“Articles”). The Board
may consider to divide the responsibilities in much detail and
set out in writing the roles and duties of chairman and chief
executive officer in the future if there is a need.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has set out level of authority and express terms of
reference of the relevant board committees and reserves the
rights to oversee all other matters not delegated, in particular,
major acquisitions or disposals, and connected transactions for
its decision.

The Board also delegates certain management and
administration functions to management as it considers
appropriate from time to time, with directions as to the powers
of management including circumstances where management
shall report back and obtain prior approval from the Board.
The Board may revisit such delegations as from time to time
to ensure clear directions and powers are given and proper
reporting procedures are followed.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company,
which includes formulating business strategies, directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Executive directors are
in charge of different businesses and functional divisions in
accordance with their respective areas of expertise.
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Upon appointment, every Director is given comprehensive
documentations of the business operation of the Group and
regulatory and statutory requirements as director together with
briefing meetings with senior executives and department heads
of the Group.

Directors are also provided with continuous updates on the
latest changes or material development in statues, the Listing
Rules, corporate governance practices relating to the duties and
responsibilities of directors and are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development seminars to update their
knowledge for discharging directors’ responsibilities.

NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION
AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

The Company has not set up a nomination committee and the
Board as a whole is responsible for the appointment of new
directors. However, the Board may on need basis establish
committee comprising board members to look for the right
candidate to fill any vacancy in the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, no committee has been
set up for the aforesaid purpose. Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta was
re-designated from NED to INED on 10 April 2010. Mr CHA Yiu
Chung Benjamin was appointed as ED on 15 September 2010
and Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming was re-designated from ED to
NED on 1 November 2010.

The Articles have provisions for rotation and re-election of all
Directors. As required by the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and any Director appointed by the Directors
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of
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the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) or until the
next following AGM (in the case of an addition to the Board) and
eligible to offer for re-election. Accordingly, six directors, namely
The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI, Mr CHA Yiu Chung
Benjamin, Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin, Mr
CHEUNG Tseung Ming, Mr TANG Moon Wah and Ms WONG
CHA May Lung Madeline shall retire and stand for re-election at
the forthcoming 2011 AGM.

All NEDs and INEDs of the Company were not appointed with
specific term, but are subject to the aforesaid rotation clause in
the Articles.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are
subject to shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is
determined with reference to market terms, their respective
duties and responsibilities in the Group and the Group’s
remuneration policy. Under the terms of reference of the
remuneration committee, the remuneration committee should
make recommendation to the Board on the policy and it has the
delegated responsibilities to determine the specific remuneration
package of the executive directors and the senior management.

The executive directors are entitled to salary and discretionary
bonus which are subject to individual and the Company’s
performance and contribution to retirement scheme under
each of their respective employment contracts as an executive
of the Company. The non-executive directors are entitled to
a director’s fee for their service which was determined by the
Board, pursuant to the authority given by the shareholders at
general meeting from time to time, with reference to their duties
and responsibilities in the Company and the prevailing market
situation. Currently, a sum of HK$100,000 per annum being the
basic fee for acting as a non-executive director and additional
fees of HK$100,000 per annum will be paid to each member of
each of the audit committee and remuneration committee of the
Company.
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In general, the managing director recommends proposals of the
remuneration of other executive directors for due consideration
and approval by the remuneration committee. However, he
abstains from voting when his remuneration is considered by the
remuneration committee. His remuneration is recommended by
the chairman and reviewed and determined by the remuneration
committee. No director will participate in the discussion and
review of his own remuneration.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended
31 March 2011 are disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 161 and 162.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up the remuneration committee, audit
committee and other executive committees and all of them have
duly adopted respective clear terms of reference. The Board
will from time to time review the terms of reference of such
committees and reform and renovate some of them to align
with better corporate governance standard. The composition of
each board committee will also be reviewed and updated upon
changes of personnel. Each of the board committees is entitled
to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expenses, if it considers necessary in order to perform its duties.
The Board will from time to time on need basis pass resolutions
to set up special executive committees with clear terms of
reference to deal with the business of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
on 2 December 2004 and is regulated by the terms of reference
approved by the Board from time to time. The full text of the
terms of reference of the remuneration committee is available
for viewing at the Company’s website.
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The terms of reference of the remuneration committee require,
inter alias, the composition of the members of the remuneration
committee to comprise the managing director and four NEDs of
the Company with a majority of the committee members being
INEDs. The current members of the remuneration committee
are Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor, Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry,
Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin, Mr CHEUNG
Wing Lam Linus and Dr QIN Xiao with Dr CHENG takes a lead
role as chairman thereof.

The principal role and function of the remuneration committee
is to exercise the powers of the Board to review and determine
the remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management members, including salaries, bonuses,
benefits in kind, share options and other plans. Such factors as
remuneration paid for comparable positions, time commitment
and responsibilities of the executive directors and senior
management members as well as the Company’s remuneration
policy will be considered.

During the year under review, the remuneration committee
held two meetings and exchanged three rounds of electronic
communication to review and approve proposals in respect of
(a) the 2010/2011 and 2011/2012 pay increase(s) for executive
directors and senior management; (b) one-off project completion
bonus for Nassim Road development; (c) revised ex-gratia
payment for an executive director and senior management;
(d) 2010/2011 bonus proposal for the Company including the
executive directors and senior management; and (e) extension
of the employment contract of the executive role of an executive
director. The attendance records of the remuneration committee
meetings held and circulated electronic communication during
the year are set out in the above section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings and Attendances”.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company was established on
17 July 1998 and is regulated by the terms of reference
approved by the Board from time to time. The full text of the
terms of reference of the audit committee is available for viewing
at the Company’s website.

The terms of reference of the audit committee require, inter
alias, the composition of the members of the audit committee
to comprise NEDs with a majority (including the chairman)
being INEDs of the Company. The current members of the
audit committee are The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI,
Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry, Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin
Tung Marvin, Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus and Dr QIN Xiao
with Dr CHENG takes a lead role as chairman thereof.

The principal role and function of the audit committee is to
assist the Board in meeting its responsibilities for ensuring an
effective system of internal controls and compliance, and in
meeting its external financial reporting objectives.

During the year, the audit committee held two meetings together
with senior management and independent auditor and had
considered the independent auditor’s projected audit and non-
audit services fees, their independence and the nature and
scope of the audit, reviewed and discussed the continuing
connected transactions and internal controls, the interim and
final financial statements together with the management’s
findings and responses and the independent auditor’s reviews
and reports before submission to the Board for approval. The
attendance records of the audit committee meetings held during
the year are set out in the above section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings and Attendances”.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is the independent auditor of the
Company. The remuneration for audit services provided by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu to the Group for the year under
review was estimated at HK$7.6 million (2010 (actual): HK$6.6
million). In addition to the audit fee, the Company had appointed
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for the interim results review and the
other non-audit services particularly for tax compliance which
amounted in an appropriate amount of HK$3.5 million (2010
(actual): HK$2.5 million) for the year under review.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal controls, which includes financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions. The
Company has an internal audit department which is responsible
for performing independent reviews on the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls and reports audit findings to
the audit committee and the Board regularly.

During the year, the internal audit department carried out
reviews on (a) operation of manufacturing companies, (b)
residential clubs in Discovery Bay, (c) tendering mechanism
of continuing connected transactions, (d) operation of dental
service group, (e) operation of some companies for property
management, (f) operation of medical unit in Shanghai, (g) a
human resource system for staff management and (h) other
business units with audit follow-up. With the implementation
of follow-up measures after the reviews, the effectiveness in
area with irregularities gradually improves. Findings on the
reviews and the relevant recommendations were presented to
and accepted by the audit committee in November 2010 and
June 2011. The Company has adopted an internal audit charter
to formulate the processes and procedures of internal audit
function for strengthening of the control framework.
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The Board, through the work of the audit committee and the
internal audit department, has conducted an annual review
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the
Company and its subsidiaries and considers that the Group’s
internal control system for the year ended 31 March 2011 was
effective and adequate.

REASONS FOR DEVIATIONS FROM CG
CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
with the code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange except for
certain deviations from the code provisions A.2.1 (division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer be clearly established and set out in writing), A.4.1 (NEDs
be appointed for a specific term).

Since the issue of the Company’s interim report for the six
months ended 30 September 2010, there has been no other
deviation from the CG Code.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and the Group and of the results and cash flows of the Group.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2011, the Directors have (i) selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently; (ii) made
judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and
(i) prepared accounts on the going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s independent auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2011
is contained in the independent auditor’s report on pages 104
and 105.
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
2
WS
2011 2010
For the year ended 31 March BE3A31ALEE HK$'M HK$'M
Results ES BEETT BEBIT
(Restated)
(E5))
Turnover SRR 1,800.7 1,839.8
Profit attributable to owners NN Z N eyl
of the Company 1,647.9 1,890.8
Dividends paid 2R S 256.5 81.0
Earnings per share (HK cent) BRREF (BIL) 122 140
At 31 March MW3H31H HK$'M HK$'M
Financial Position BAES AR BEET BAEBT
Total assets BERE 21,333.9 18,121.5
Total liabilities BEREE 6,457.1 5,179.7
Equity attributable to KARHEA AEILED
owners of the Company 13,571.7 11,784.3
Net assets value per share (HK$) EREEFE(ET) 10.1 8.7
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HKS$)
R EEFE (BT)
12
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SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

As at 31 March 2011, the shareholders’ funds of the Group
increased by HK$1,787.4 million to HK$13,571.7 million (2010:
HK$11,784.3 million (restated)). The increase was mainly due
to an upward fair value revaluation of investment properties,
disposal of certain investment properties and profit contribution
from operating units. The overall gross profit margin for the
Group was 28.5% (2010: 28.1%).

MAJOR CASH FLOWS TO/FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

During the year, the Group acquired two residential investment
properties located in Tokyo, Japan for a total consideration
of HK$693.0 million. The Group also made an investment of
HK$331.1 million in a property development project in Thailand,
in which the Group has a 49% interest. In Hong Kong, the
Group also acquired an industrial building located in Tsuen Wan
at a total consideration of HK$140.0 million.

In addition, Tung Chung Station Development Company Limited,
in which the Group has 31% interest, repaid HK$86.8 million
shareholders’ loan to the Group during the year.

MAJOR CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The sales of residential units located in Discovery Bay, Hong
Kong and that of The Sukhothai Residences in Bangkok,
Thailand contributed approximately HK$36.6 million and
HK$2.8 million cash respectively to the Group during the year.

During the year, disposal of the 50% interest in Discovery Park
Shopping Centre, Tsuen Wan was completed and brought
HK$1,372.3 million cash to the Group.
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The Group also sold certain residential investment properties
located in Discovery Bay and other areas of Hong Kong that
contributed HK$92.8 million cash to the Group. In addition,
the sales of Chelsea Residence in Shanghai, the PRC, brought
HK$17.6 million cash to the Group.

All the investment properties of the Group generated
approximately HK$266.4 million operating cash during the year.

MAJOR CASH FLOWS TO FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

On 26 April 2010, the Group fully redeemed its zero coupon
convertible bonds due 2010 (the “Bonds”) in the principal
amount of HK$647.0 million for a redemption price of
HK$834.3 million as a result of the maturity of the Bonds.

FINANCIAL LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had total cash and securities
investment of HK$2,590.4 million (2010: HK$2,527.5 million)
whilst total bank borrowings and other loans were HK$3,523.1
million (2010: HK$1,570.6 million). The major changes in bank
borrowings and other loans were reflected in the redemption of
the Bonds, capitalisation of certain development projects and
acquisitions of properties located in Hong Kong, Thailand and
Japan.

GEARING

The Group’s gearing ratio maintained at a level of 8.4% (2010:
2.4%) as calculated by the Group’s consolidated net borrowings
to the shareholders’ funds as at 31 March 2011.
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BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had adequate internal cash
and banking facilities, both secured and unsecured, to finance
its development projects and operations. As at 31 March 2011,
the unutilised credit facilities stood at approximately HK$3,420.3
million (2010: HK$5,141.1 million).

The maturity profile of bank borrowings and other loans were
43.2% (2010: 10.8% (restated)) falling within one year, 47.7%
(2010: nil) falling between one to two years, and 9.1% (2010:
89.2% (restated)) falling between two to five years as at 31
March 2011.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions and adopted
a conservative approach for its treasury management. With
majority of assets and liabilities denominated in HK dollars and
US dollars, the Group has limited exposure to foreign currencies.
To manage foreign currency exposure in certain investments
overseas, the Group has maintained naturally hedged positions
and made currency swap arrangements. The Group’s banking
facilities are principally on floating rate basis and interest rate
swaps will be employed to manage interest rate risk for its short
to medium term borrowings when appropriate and necessary.

It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial
derivatives for speculative purpose.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had pledged property, plant
and equipment with a carrying value of HK$9.2 million (2010:
HK$9.1 million) and bank deposits of HK$2.9 million (2010:
HK$59.3 million) to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group. No property under development (2010: HK$104.9
million) was pledged for the aforesaid purpose as at 31 March
2011.

National Asset Limited, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary,
had subordinated an inter-company debt due from one of its
fellow subsidiaries in the amount of HK$40.2 million (2010:
HK$35.6 million) as at 31 March 2011 to secure banking
facilities granted to that particular subsidiary.

HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd, Beaufort Holdings Limited and
Sathorn Park Co Ltd, the Company’s subsidiaries, had also
subordinated certain inter-company debts due from one of their
fellow subsidiaries respectively in the amount of HK$16.9 million
(2010: nil), HK$273.6 million (2010: nil) and HK$176.0 million
(2010: nil) as at 31 March 2011 to secure banking facilities
granted to that particular subsidiary.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group’s contingent liabilities relating to a corporate
guarantee given, to the extent of the Group’s proportionate
share, in respect of banking facility granted to an investee
company, increased by HK$6.9 million to HK$160.4 million as
at 31 March 2011 (2010: HK$153.5 million).

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
FEAEXEFEBRFRAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of HKR
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 106
to 232, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
R A GRS

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
g e MERAGFERIT
Certified Public Accountants
HESITE

Hong Kong, 22 June 2011
BB 2011F 6 H22H
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

el

For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 2011 % 3 A 31 H1FF/E

2011 2010
NOTES HK$’'M HK$'M
BdsE BEETT BEAT
(Restated)
(&%)
Turnover AR 5 1,800.7 1,839.8
Cost of sales SHE KA (1,287.7) (1,322.9)
Gross profit EH 513.0 516.9
Other income HUgA 6 94.1 126.1
Administrative expenses THFAZ (431.8) (400.4)
Other gains and losses H s K EE 7 94.3 399
Change in fair value of SEYENTFEE
investment properties
Realised gains on disposals HE 2z BEER R 11,15 640.2 611.3
Unrealised gains REF Wz 11 750.8 479.9
Finance costs %58 A 8 (42.2) (82.2)
Share of results of associates SaK(B] i/ 19 150.1 116.8
Share of results of DG HEZEGIEEEE
jointly controlled entities 20 79.3 780.2
Profit before taxation BRA AT A 9 1,847.8 2,188.5
Taxation 18 10 (63.9) (236.1)
Profit for the year RE 5 F 1,783.9 1,952.4
Attributable to: TR -
Owners of the Company RREHER A 11 1,647.9 1,890.8
Non—controlling interests FEIEAR R 136.0 61.6
1,783.9 1,952.4
Earnings per share BRAF 14
— Basic (HK cents) — BEARCBW) 122 140
— Diluted (HK cents) — #58 (B 122 134

s L b 5 T A A ]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

m/]" l:l

e/ 678

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #2011 % 3 A4 31 H1FF/Z

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEET BEETT
(Restated)
(&%)
Profit for the year AREE T 1,783.9 1,952.4
Other comprehensive income (expense): 2 EUzE (B )
Exchange differences arising from RERINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations fERZER 228.3 164.4
Share of reserves of associates DB E R R 2 FHE 0.8 0.4
Share of exchange reserve of DMEREIEHEE 2
jointly controlled entities bE i 207.2 7.3
Available—for—sale financial assets: AT ESREE
Fair value changes during the year FARTFEEE) (19.1) 65.4
Reclassified to profit HEREFHHBEZER
or loss upon disposal (9.2) (63.3)
Deferred tax arising NEEEFSELZ
from fair value change EREFRIE (0.4) (0.9)
Revaluation gain on land T RAEFE SR EYER
and buildings upon transfer to EEZEHRE
investment properties = 4.6
Reclassification of exchange reserve HEBERARFEHRDE
to profit or loss upon [EHFEEER
disposal of an associate = (0.3)
Other comprehensive income REEHEMPERE
for the year (net of tax) ($BRTHIATE ) 407.6 177.6
Total comprehensive income AEEZHRTREE
for the year 2,191.5 2,130.0
Total comprehensive income IR EESE 6
attributable to: 488 -
Owners of the Company PN PN 2,043.9 2,066.8
Non-controlling interests FEERR A RS 147.6 63.2
2,191.5 2,130.0
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBI«

At 31 March 2011 R 201143 H31 H

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
NOTES HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
B sE BEET BEBT BEBT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (&%)
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investment properties BEME 15 6,133.1 5,298.6 5,367.3
Property, plant and equipment YN 16 2,460.1 2,410.8 2,597.6
Prepaid lease payments Tt HEER R 17 35.8 34.4 34.0
Goodwill SRS 18 - = 9.2
Interests in associates FH /NI ey 19 514.1 3719 320.1
Interests in jointly controlled entities HE[FE %‘J%EEZTEJ%T& 20 6,011.2 49185 41204
Amount due from an associate FEH&H%EQT 19, 26 104.2 - -
Held—to-maturity investments HEIHIRE 21 84.2 52.4 21.8
Availablefor-sale financial assets Y ESREE 21 60.6 79.2 108.8
Other assets E«ﬁﬁ?‘ 22 129.4 53.2 94.0
Deferred tax assets BERIBEE 28 7.6 3.2 2.7
15,540.3 13,222.2 12,675.9
Current assets BN E
Inventories =g 23 160.7 134.7 145.1
Properties held for sale RIELEME 17.5 30.6 121.3
Trade receivables FEME FERF 24 110.8 92.2 286.3
Deposits, prepayments & BNHIEA
and other financial assets MEMERMEE 26 180.4 287.3 213.2
Properties held for/under BIELECBR/
development for sale BRAYE 25 2,727.4 1,735.1 1,173.3
Amounts due from associates e B & R AR 19,26 91.1 211.5 476.4
Amount due from a jointly i eaqikes %'J%ﬁf
controlled entity FRIE 26 36.3 18.2 259
Taxation recoverable AR B 23.8 1.7 12.8
Held—to-maturity investments BEEHKRE 21 62.6 1355 23.7
Available-for-sale financial assets AREESHEE 21 - 9.2 =
Financial assets at fair value ROV EF ABR
through profit or loss LERBE 21 0.2 128.6 7417
Pledged bank deposits EHEMRITER 26 2.9 59.3 58.9
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREER 26, 37 2,379.9 2,055.4 1,903.5
5,793.6 4,899.3 5,182.1
Current liabilities wEAE
Trade payables, provision B SR - &R
and accrued charges REFTER 27 919.8 933.4 849.0
Deposits received Bl e K EAD
and other financial liabilities SRIEE 32 621.2 694.5 548.6
Amount due to an associate FEfTEE S N RIFRIB 32 5.5 10.0 2.2
Taxation payable JEfIHIE 58.6 436 103.9
Bank and other loans —FNE|H 2 R1T
due within one year REAMER 29 1,521.1 169.6 1,022.1
Other liabilities due within one year ~ —FREHEIZEMARE 30 6.3 47 189
Convertible bonds AR ES
— liability component - BEHS 31 - 830.5 =
3,132.5 2,686.3 2,544.7

vl B B AR A R A ]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GaMBmRilE

At 31 March 2011 R 201143 H31 H

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
NOTES HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
FsE BHEET BEBT BEET
(Restated) (Restated)
(E51) (&%)
Net current assets MENEEFE 2,661.1 2,213.0 2,637.4
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 18,201.4 15,4352 15,3133
Non—-current liabilities FERBEE
Bank and other loans —E 1 2 R1T
due after one year REMER 29 2,002.0 1,401.0 2,360.0
Convertible bonds AR ES
— liability component - BEH 31 - = 7773
Other liabilities due after one year —FRIM EMARE 30 1,177.9 886.4 945 4
Deferred tax liabilities EENEEE 28 144.7 206.0 3375
3,324.6 2,493.4 4,420.2
14,876.8 12,941.8 10,893.1
Capital and reserves BRI
Share capital e 33 337.5 3375 337.5
Reserves E 13,234.2 11,446.8 9,461.0
Equity attributable to owners RRFHER A
of the Company FE(GREES 13,571.7 11,784.3 9,798.5
Non-controlling interests eI RS 1,305.1 1,157.5 1,094.6
14,876.8 12,941.8 10,893.1

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 232 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

£ 106 EEF 232 HFTEMGAUKEHRERD
KEEREAR 20116 A 22 Bk RiZHE

22 June 2011 and are signed on its behalf by: FZ% - WH TN EERKEE

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

HIE R E FARAEIE

CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham
Executive Director

HITEE

R =N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

G AR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 20114 3 431 A1-FZ

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Share Accumulated - revaluation

profits

Rttt
HKSM
RERT

Exchange  redemption

feserve

ERfid
HK$M
REET

Total

Non-
controlling
interests

Gt HeRRd

HKSM
REET

HKSM
[

At 1 April 2009
- as originally stated

- change in accounting policy

RA09F4A1R
~B32il
- 528

6,819
1001

378

9,6%84
1001

10547

39

- S restated

- Bl

67820

378

9,795

10946

Profitfor the year
Exchange differences arising
from translation of foreign operations
Share of reserves of an associate
Share of exchange reserve of
ajointly confrolled ety (note e)
Fair value changes on available-for-sale
financial assets
Reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of
available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred tax arising from fair value changes
on available-for-sale financial assets
Revaluafion gain on land and buidings
upon transfer to investment properties
Reclassification of exchange reserve to
profitor loss upon disposal of an associate

RERAA
BERRRELL
EiZR
ABEDRRE
AbHRAMERL
BN (Rite)
THESHERY
APERY
HETREESRERR
iR
fECBERLTE
SHMEL LELHA
DHRETEERANZE
B EfhE
HEREATRENAR
EiRRERE

18908

(03)

18908

1652
04

73

053

(08)

01

23

Total comprehensive income for the year

KERRENEER

18%08

1722

632

Transfer to accumulated profits
on the expiry of the conversion option
Transfer to investment property revaluation
reserve during the year
- relating to net fair value change
in previous periods
- relating to net fair value change
during the year
Interim dividend paid
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary

BREREARE
g
EARRERANE
B

- BT R

- REENLTRERD

LTS
HENEL R

345

(3470

(1,0578)
(810)

03)

At 31 March 2010 (Restated)

RA0£3A31E(E7])

72215

5600

117843

11575

T s BL % o] P 4 I A LA ]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES +IFN E UITY
GO Rk
For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

Attributable to the owners of the Company

profits

Ritidl

EINE LN
Investment
property Asset  Investment Capital Non-
Share Accumulated revaluation  General  Share revaluation revaluation Distributable  Exchange redemption controlling

reSerVe  feseve  premium fesee  resenve fesee  resene resene Total  interests Total
RENE HKE  RE WHRK HARE
EfiRE ZERR RMER EMER EMBE BR EARE BE &t dERER 4

HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKS'M  HKS'M  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKS'M  HKS'M  HKSM
EE#n EE%n FEERn FEEAn EERn FEAn EERn FEAn ESEn EEAn ESEn EEAR
(notea)  (noteh) (note c) (note d)
(Kita) (M) ED) (H&d)
At 1 April 2010 (Restated) ROI0E4B 1R (E5)) 72215 14048 783 15379 1321 584 4507 5600 31 11,7843 11575 129418
Proft for the year FERE 1,647.9 - - - - - - - - 16479 1360 17839
Exchange diferences arising from RERIEREL,
ranslation of foreign operations EiZg - - - - - - - 267 - 267 116 2283
Share of exchange reserve of associates AEBENE ERRE - - - - - - - 08 - 08 - 08
Share of exchange resenve ofjintly AELREHEEZ
controlled enities (note ) i GRD) - - - - - - - A2 - A2 - w72
Fair value changes on avallable-for-sale e REE,
financial assets AVERY = - - - - 19y - - - (190 - (190
Reclasified to roft orloss upon HETRLECRERR
disposal o avaiable-for-sale EfAERER
financial assefs = = = = = 92) = = = (9.2) = (92)
Deferted tax aising from fair value RHESRAELTERY
changes on avalable-for-sale FELZERHE
financial asses - - - - - 04 - - - 04 - 04
Total compreensive income for the year FEERANRER 16479 - - - - (287 - 47 - 20439 1476 21915
Transfer to investment property FRARRATE R
revaluaton resenve relafing to ERTRANE
unrealised net far value gain ARV
during the year (Note 11(i) (8104) 8104 - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer from investment property FRERATETNG
revaluation reserve relating to net ERERENE
far value gan realised during Er A GRI)
the year (Note 11i) (1265 1265 - - - - - - - - - -
Dividends paid BERE (256.5) - - - - - - - - (2565) - (2565)
Transfer upon dispesal of a Subsidiary LENBARRER 658.3 - (183 - (193 - (4507) - - - - -
At31 March 2011 RO1E3A31R 83343 23417 - 153719 28 97 - 47 31 135717 13051 148768
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CONé‘OL}DATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BAMGRN R
For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 20114 3 A 31 A1 F/Z

Notes:

Investment property revaluation reserve represents the Group’s
accumulated post-tax unrealised net fair value gain on the
investment properties of the subsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities and associates recognised in profit or loss. Upon the
relevant investment property being disposed of and the fair value
gain becoming realised, the relevant net fair value gain will be
transferred to accumulated profits. Following the early adoption
of HKAS 12 (Amendments) “Income taxes”, the net amount of
transfer of investment property revaluation reserve during the
year ended 31 March 2010 was restated to reflect the change of
deferred tax charge upon revaluation of investment properties.

General reserve mainly represents reserve created by way of
capital reduction in a scheme of arrangement of the Group under
its former listed vehicle namely HKR Properties Limited pursuant
to a special resolution passed at the Extraordinary General
Meeting (the “Scheme of Arrangement”) in 1988. The general
reserve was transferred to accumulated profits upon disposal of
DP Properties Limited (formerly HKR Properties Limited) during
the year.

Distributable reserve was arisen from the cancellation of
the share capital and the share premium account of HKR
Properties Limited in the year of 1989/1990 under the Scheme
of Arrangement. The distributable reserve was transferred to
accumulated profits upon disposal of DP Properties Limited
during the year.

Capital redemption reserve is the amount equivalent to the
nominal value of the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the
Company’s shares which was transferred from accumulated
profits. The reserve may be applied by the Company in paying
up its unissued shares to be allotted to members of the Company
as fully paid bonus shares in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company and the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands.

Share of exchange reserve of jointly controlled entities during
the year included an amount of HK$49.9 million (2010: HK$1.7
million) arising from translation of interest in jointly controlled
entities and an amount of HK$157.3 million (2010: HK$5.6
million) exchange gain arising from loans that form part of net
investment in foreign operations.

REVMESHRFREAAEEZWB R
Al - HEAESEBEBE QAR ZREY
ERBRERC BB RERATE
FlE c THERRENERLERAT
BEREERE - BEATFEFRSEE
BEZR2EF o RAIFMAE BT ER
F 129 (BEIAR) [FIER | 18 - &
E2010F3 A3 HILFEEBERE
MESHFBEFES TEY - UARB
REMEEHFFELEHER T 228 -

TRFEEETZEASEIREN 19884
BIOTZREFR ARG BIBZ FAIRZH
RUHEAGIEMWEERSRE (W)
BRABIzBERETHESE - BBR
RNHRE A TG 2 i o N B
% 2 A & DP Properties Limited (Al
BEBEE (W) BRAR) RERE
ZEHEF o

A DIk FEEREREBEERN
1989/1990 FHSH BB HE (W) B
BRABIRARIDEER - FA - Al
DIRFEE D E DP Properties Limited
RFEE 1 = Rt Al o

A B A 1548 P T B A 2 RIS
B ROEESE - 6 W HEE
B REHRF o ANA R AHRIEE A T 48
RESHREATVEE AR LS - UK
RERBARE - BIEARTAFIRS
BT ADTRE -

FA - ERHFREHEEBZELRZER
FERBRE KRE T B E RS B S5
499 EHEHETT (20104 : 1.7AEBT)
REBRIBIINER DR EFEZER
SIBZIEH Wz 157.3F B8 T (2010
F:56BHEBL)°
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Galle
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &2 2011 % 3 431 H1FF/Z

2011 2010
NOTE HK$'M HK$'M
BRE BEET BEBT
(Restated)
(E7)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BIEEWR
Profit before taxation BREE AT & A 1,847.8 2,188.5
Adjusting items, net FHEEIE B SRR (a) (1,541.8) (1,845.5)
Operating cash flows before Rt AEBEESE IR 2
movements in working capital KEMPME 306.0 343.0
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE (3#%m) md (17.0) 23.4
Decrease in properties held for sale ¥ {EHEWER 13.1 90.7
(Increase) decrease FENE SRR (3L 00 ) B>
in trade receivables (16.3) 202.6
Decrease (increase) in deposits, e - FENFOE R EHA
prepayments and other SREERD (M)
financial assets 117.4 (66.4)
Increase in properties held BELEZBE / HRT
for/under development for sale CES: Yl (931.2) (444.7)
Decrease (increase) in amounts JE B & N B FOB
due from associates B () 9.5 (36.1)
(Increase) decrease in amount FEUS L EIEHIE 5
due from a jointly controlled entity I8 (g0 ) /A (18.1) 7.7
Decrease in financial assets BEAFERFABRELZ
at fair value through profit or loss S EEER D - 694.8
Decrease in mortgage FEW e o BRI FOR
instalment receivables 9.2 9.6
(Decrease) increase in B SR - BEN
trade payables, provision FEETE R (R4 ) 1820
and accrued charges (29.2) 39.1
Increase in deposits received Bz e REM SR
and other financial liabilities B &N 48.0 146.0
(Decrease) increase in DL NEIE
amount due to an associate (R A ) 30 (4.5) 7.8
Decrease in derivative PTES R T EE
financial instruments (1.4) (3.2)
Cash (used in) generated from ZiE(FTA) FISRE
operations (514.5) 1,014.3
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEENEH (36.3) (44.9)
Overseas tax paid EDEINRIE (35.2) (382.3)
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED & EX%#% (FrH) i3
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES He3m (586.0) 587.1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HABlemE i'%

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 20114 3 A 31 A1 F/Z

2011 2010
NOTE HK$'M HK$'M
BIsE BEETT BEATT
(Restated)
(&%)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REER
Proceeds from disposal of HE—RRBARZ

a subsidiary FriSsIA 15 1,372.3 -
Redemption of BOF 2R HRE

held—to—-maturity investments 170.8 46.7
Proceeds from disposal of HERATERFABR

financial assets at 2 ERBEMSHKIE

fair value through profit or loss 128.4 =
Proceeds from disposal of HERBEYE 2 F1SHKIE

investment properties 101.0 1,440.4
Repayment of loans BN aEEER

from an associate 70.9 355.0
Decrease (increase) DIHRRITIER

in pledged bank deposits A (350) 56.4 (0.4)
Interest received 2HFE 26.1 11.7
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - KEKEE

property, plant and equipment Z TS 508 13.6 123
Redemption of available—for—sale BRI HEEcREE

financial assets 9.2 30.1
Decrease in other assets H & ER D 0.1 -
Option fee refunded BEROREEE 0.1 0.1
Capital contribution B T HREEGIE S

to a jointly controlled entity (6.3) -
Dividends received from associates = UEE & A TR R 9.0 8.7
Capital contribution to an associate & FHi& A A (72.7) =
Additions of property, RNBEYE - BE KR

plant and equipment (124.6) (122.1)
Additions of held—to-maturity NEFEIDNEEE

investments (126.9) (189.1)
Loans to jointly controlled entities BERTHEIEHIER (799.9) (10.6)
Additions of investment properties ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%% (1,026.4) (165.5)
Decrease in long term deposits RiRTT 2 REFEFZUR D

with a bank = 23.4
Proceeds from disposal of interests & E N FIER 2

in associates PSRz - 69.8
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED # & %% (FrH ) Fig

FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEFHE (198.9) 1,510.5

s L A A PR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ABle%R i'%

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #=Z 201 J faE 331 AILFE

2011 2010
NOTE HK$’'M HK$'M
BRE BEET BEET
(Restated)
(&%)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEER
New bank borrowings raised FrIgRITEER 3,189.6 834.6
Advance from (repayment to) 238 (BRF)
non—controlling shareholders FEIERRAR R 284.8 (77.0)
Club debentures issued HEERES 4.5 5.1
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEER (1,406.8) (2,649.1)
Redemption of convertible bonds & Bl AT AR (B 55 (834.3) =
Dividends paid BERE (256.5) (81.0)
Interest paid ERFLE (25.5) (13.8)
Repayment of obligations EER B ERIE
under finance leases (1.5) (1.2)
Club debentures redeemed BoemES - (6.0)
NET CASH GENERATED MEEBKERE (BFH)
FROM (USED IN) FINANCING R&EFH
ACTIVITIES 954.3 (1,988.4)
NET INCREASE IN CASH HeRHEE%ERR
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ZEnFEE 169.4 109.2
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHMZRER
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR REe%EER 2,055.4 1,903.5
EFFECT OF FOREIGN ExEgH e
EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 155.1 427
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERZHRER
AT END OF THE YEAR H&%EER 37 2,379.9 2,055.4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HABeRER
For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 20114 3 A 31 A1 F/Z

2011 2010
NOTES HK$'M HK$'M
BdsE BEET BEATT
(Restated)
(&%)
Note: Bt
(a) Analysis of adjusting items, net (a) ABIBEBBEZMN
Change in fair value of WEYHEZ N EEE)
investment properties (750.8) (479.9)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RRB AR 2 WEs 15 (634.1) -
Share of results of associates Pak(a1: A= NCIE (150.1) (116.8)
Reversal of provision for loans BERBRREHRER
to an investee 2R 7 (85.3) =
Share of results of jointly controlled DGR B EE
entities (79.3) (780.2)
Interest income FBEUA 6 (26.1) (11.7)
Net gains from financial SREE / BEFHE
assets/liabilities 7 (7.8) (86.6)
Gain on disposal of HEREME 2 W
investment properties 15 (6.1) (611.3)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE MRE
plant and equipment 2518 9 0.5 139
Release of prepaid lease payments FENAERED 9 1.2 1.1
Net allowance for doubtful debts REBEFE 9 4.0 2.5
Impairment loss recognised BRERREEE 7 10.0 75.3
Interest expense FIERX 8 29.3 638.9
Depreciation of property, W - BB MEE
plant and equipment ZITE 9 152.8 153.7
Gain on disposal of an associate HEBE QR 2 WE - (74.4)
(1,541.8) (1,845.5)

T s BL 3% o] 4 [ A LA ]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the development, management and
provision of essential and recreational services for residential
housing and leisure projects in Discovery Bay, Lantau Island,
other property development, property investment, hotel
operation, manufacturing, securities investments and provision
of healthcare services.

The Group’s associates and jointly controlled entities are
principally engaged in property development, property
investment and construction.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(@) In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

(“HKICPA").
HKFRS 2 Group cash-settled share—
(Amendments) based payment

transactions
HKFRS 3 Business combinations
(as revised in 2008)

HKAS 27 Consolidated and separate
(as revised in 2008) financial statements

HKAS 32 Classification of rights issues
(Amendments)

HKAS 39 Eligible hedged items
(Amendments)

HKFRSs Amendments to HKFRS 5 as
(Amendments) part of Improvements to

HKFRSs issued in 2008

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs
(Amendments) issued in 2009

HK(IFRIC*) — INT 17 Distributions of non-cash
assets to owners

HK - INT 5 Presentation of financial
statements — Classification
by the borrower of a term
loan that contains a
repayment on demand

clause

* IFRIC represents the IFRS Interpretations Committee
(formerly known as the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS

The adoption of these new and revised standards has
resulted in the following changes and impact on the results
and financial position for the current year. The adoption of
the other new and revised HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position for the current
and prior accounting periods have been prepared and
presented.

AMENDMENT TO HKAS 17 LEASES

As part of Improvements to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued in 2009, Hong
Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS”) 17 “Leases” has
been amended in relation to the classification of leasehold
land. Before the amendment to HKAS 17, the Group was
required to classify leasehold land as operating leases
and to present leasehold land as prepaid lease payments
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
amendment to HKAS 17 has removed such a requirement.
The amendment requires that the classification of
leasehold land should be based on the general principles
set out in HKAS 17, that is, whether or not substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased
asset have been transferred to the lessee.

In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in
the amendment to HKAS 17, the Group reassessed the
classification of unexpired leasehold land as at 1 April
2010 based on information that existed at the inception
of the leases. Leasehold land that qualifies for finance
lease classification has been reclassified from prepaid
lease payments to property, plant, and equipment
retrospectively. This resulted in a reclassification of
prepaid lease payments with a previous carrying amount
of HK$65.1 million and HK$109.1 million at 31 March
2010 and 1 April 2009, respectively, to property, plant and
equipment that are measured at cost model (see Note 2(c)
for the financial impact).
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 20114 3 A 31 A1 F/Z

As at 31 March 2011, leasehold land that qualifies for
finance lease classification under the amended HKAS 17
with the carrying amount of HK$63.5 million has been
included in property, plant and equipment. The application
of the amendment to HKAS 17 has had no impact on the
reported profit or loss for the current and prior years.

HONG KONG INTERPRETATION 5
PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS - CLASSIFICATION BY THE
BORROWER OF A TERM LOAN THAT
CONTAINS A REPAYMENT ON DEMAND
CLAUSE

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 “Presentation of financial
statements — Classification by the borrower of a term loan
that contains a repayment on demand clause” (“HK-
INT 5”) clarifies that term loans that include a clause that
gives the lender the unconditional right to call the loans
at any time (“repayment on demand clause”) should be
classified by the borrower as current liabilities. The Group
has applied HK-INT 5 for the first time in the current year.
HK-INT 5 requires retrospective application. In order to
comply with the requirements set out in HK-INT 5, the
Group has changed its accounting policy on classification
of term loans with a repayment on demand clause. In the
past, the classification of such term loans were determined
based on the agreed scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements. Under HK-INT 5, term loans with
a repayment on demand clause are classified as current
liabilities. As a result, bank loans that contain a repayment
on demand clause with the aggregate carrying amounts
of HK$10.3 million and HK$0.6 million have been
reclassified from non—current liabilities to current liabilities
as at 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2009 respectively. As at
31 March 2011, bank loans (that are repayable more than
one year after the end of the reporting period but contain a
repayment on demand clause) with the aggregate carrying
amount of HK$333.9 million have been classified as
current liabilities. The application of HK-INT 5 has had
no impact on the reported profit or loss for the current
and prior years. Such term loans have been presented in
the earliest time band in the maturity analysis for financial
liabilities (see Note 36 for details).
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HKFRS 3 (REVISED) BUSINESS
COMBINATIONS AND HKAS 27 (REVISED)
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group applies HKFRS 3 (Revised) “Business
combinations” prospectively to business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2010. The
requirements in HKAS 27 (Revised) “Consolidated and
separate financial statements” in relation to accounting
for changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary after
control is obtained and for loss of control of a subsidiary
are also applied prospectively by the Group on or after
1 April 2010.

As there was no transaction during the current year in
which HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS 27 (Revised) are
applicable, the application of HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS
27 (Revised) and the consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs had no effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current or prior accounting
periods.

Results of the Group in future periods may be affected by
future transactions for which HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS
27 (Revised) and the consequential amendments to the
other HKFRSs are applicable.

Up to the date of approval for issuance of these
consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs which are
not yet mandatorily effective for the current accounting
period. The Group has not early adopted any of these
standards, with the exception of the amendments to
HKAS 12 titled “Deferred Tax: Recovery of underlying
assets”. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2012, but as permitted
by the amendments, the Group has decided to adopt the
amendments early.
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EARLY ADOPTION OF HKAS 12
(AMENDMENTS) INCOME TAXES

The change in policy arising from the amendments to
HKAS 12 has had a material impact on the current and
prior accounting periods. As a result of this change
in policy, the Group now measures any deferred tax
liability in respect of the Group’s investment properties
with reference to the tax liability that would arise if the
investment properties were disposed of at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date, unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. Previously, where these
properties were held under leasehold interests, deferred
tax was generally measured using the tax rate that would
apply as a result of recovery of the assets value through
use. This change in accounting policy has been applied
retrospectively by restating the opening balance at 1 April
2009 and 1 April 2010, with consequential adjustments to
comparatives for the year ended 31 March 2010 (see Note
2(c) for the financial impact).

This change in accounting policy has resulted in an
increase in the profit attributable to the owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests of HK$126.5
million and HK$16.4 million, respectively, for the year
ended 31 March 2011, and an increase in the interest
in associates, non—controlling interests and investment
property revaluation reserve of HK$24.7 million, HK$59.0
million and HK$276.0 million respectively, and a decrease
in deferred tax liabilities of HK$310.3 million as of 31
March 2011.

The investment properties of a jointly controlled entity are
held with the objective to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale. Accordingly, the
amendment to HKAS 12 has no impact on the share of
results of jointly controlled entities for the current and prior
accounting periods.
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HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (as issued in November
2009 and revised in November 2010) introduces new
requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets and will be effective from 1 January
2013, with earlier application permitted. This standard
requires all recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement” are subsequently measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair values at
the end of subsequent accounting periods. The directors
anticipate that the application of HKFRS 9 will affect the
classification and measurement of the Group’s available—
for—sale financial assets and may affect the classification
and measurement of other financial assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new, revised or amended
standards and interpretations will have no material impact
on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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(c) The following table is a summary of the impacts on the
results and financial position after adoption/early adoption
of the new and revised standards:

(c) T%ﬁk?%/ﬁi?%%ﬂ&ﬁ
|58 MR 2 R

THER

{ I:l =

Effect of
As adoption of

Effect of
adoption of

previously amendment amendments
reported to HKAS 17 to HKAS 12

Effect of

adoption of As
HK - INT 5 restated

RaEE  RaE#
axtER  gRtER
%17% $12%  RNE#E
2R ZBER REESH
RA2%H ZEE ZEE bd % | 7
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BHEBL HEAT BEAT BERT BERL
Consolidated income statement HE201083A31R
for the year ended 31 March 2010: IEEE 2 fralissk
Share of results of associates HMEGE DR EE 111.0 = 5.8 = 1168
Taxation B (282.4) - 46.3 - (236.1)
Profit for the year AEERAF 1,900.3 = 52.1 = 1,952.4
Attributable to: THIRES
Owners of the Company ARRIEEA 1,841.4 = 49.4 - 1,890.8
Non-controlling interests IR 589 = 2.7 = 61.6
Earnings per share TREAF
— Basic (HK cents) — EXR(#) 136 = 4 = 140
- Diluted (HK cents) — 84 O8(l) 130 = 4 = 134
Consolidated statement of financial R2010F3A3182
position as at 31 March 2010: FRABRRAK
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERZ 2,345.7 65.1 = = 2,410.8
Prepaid lease payments BAAERR 99.5 (65.1) = = 344
Interest in associates NG Fy 356.9 = 15.0 - 3719
Bank and other loans due within —FERERTR
one year HER (159.3) - - (10.3) (169.6)
Bank and other loans due after *ifﬁ 'J?ﬁz%ﬁﬁ&
one year HihE® (1,411.3) - - 103 (1,401.0)
Deferred tax liabilities EREHIEAR (383.1) = 177.1 = (206.0)
Non-controlling interests S 1,1149 = 426 = 1,1575
Investment property revaluation reserve RENESMRE 1,255.3 = 1495 = 1,404.8
Consolidated statement of financial R2009F48182
position as at 1 April 2009: FRUBIMRE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BEREHE 2,488.5 109.1 = - 2,597.6
Prepaid lease payments BARERR 143.1 (109.1) - - 340
Interest in associates N Ty 311.0 = 9.1 = 320.1
Bank and other loans due within —FRHEZRTR
one year Hih &R (1,021.5) - - 06)  (1,022.1)
Bank and other loans due after —FRIBIRITR
one year HER (2,360.6) = = 06 (23600
Deferred tax liabilities BRREAE (468.4) - 1309 - (337.5)
Non—controlling interests FEIE R S 1,054.7 = 399 = 1,094.6
Accumulated profits Z:ha Al 6,681.9 = 100.1 - 6,782.0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain properties and
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra—group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group'’s equity therein.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising from an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is
presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the cash—generating units (or groups of cash—generating
units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

GAMBEREN
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A cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising from an acquisition in a reporting period,
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the
consolidated income statement. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associates. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in that associate (which includes any long—term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of that associate.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment
of assets” as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to
the Group.

JOINT VENTURES

Jointly controlled asset

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture
arrangements directly, constituted as jointly controlled asset, the
Group’s share of the jointly controlled asset and share of any
liabilities incurred jointly with other ventures are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements and classified according to
their nature. Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect
of interests in jointly controlled asset are accounted for on an
accrual basis.

Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output
of the jointly controlled asset, together with its share of any
expenses incurred, are recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to/
from the Group.

Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entity.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entity
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investment in jointly controlled entities are initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the jointly
controlled entities. When the Group’s share of losses of a jointly
controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly
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controlled entity (which includes any long—term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
jointly controlled entity), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that jointly controlled
entity.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in a jointly controlled entity.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell)
with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly
controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amount receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the properties.

When a development property is sold in advance of completion,
profit is only recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the properties. Deposits and
instalments received from purchasers prior to this stage are
included in current liabilities.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised as services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hotel operation income is recognised upon the provision of
services and the utilisation by guests of the hotel facilities.

Dividend income from investments excluding financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) is recognised when
the Group’s right to receive payments has been established.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest
income from a financial asset excluding financial assets at
FVTPL is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes other than construction in progress
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than properties under
construction less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified
to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Buildings under development for future owner—occupied

purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for production
or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of prepaid lease
payments provided during the construction period is included
as part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TANGIBLE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES IN RESPECT OF
GOODWILL ABOVE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined as if no impairment loss had been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising from derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

INVENTORIES

Properties held for/under development for sale

Properties held for/under development for sale are classified
under current assets and are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs relating to the development of the
properties include land cost, construction cost, borrowing costs
and other direct development expenditure. The properties
are transferred to properties held for sale upon completion of
construction.
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Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are completed properties and are
classified under current assets. They are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

Other

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rate that
has been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in jointly controlled entities, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on the tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with HKAS 40
“Investment property”, such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale. Such a presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through sale. If
the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets for such investment properties are measured in
accordance with the above general principles set out in HKAS
12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as to how the properties
will be recovered).
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LEASING

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit
or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight line
basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease
obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case
they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s policy on
borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight line basis over the lease term. Benefits received and
receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight line basis.

il
MEMEEKBEEEE BRI AR
KEREETFEAZHEE - B EM
MEHSEEHE -

ACER I A 2 AR

REHE 2B WA TIIRBREEEFH
NERERBm AR - RNER MLk
REMESI B2 NPT EERKANTIINER
SEEZERAE  YREEFHUER
SRR RS -

ARG B R AR

UREBERE 2 AERRERASY
ATELRRERE R FE (SBIE
%) BRAREMERE - HHEAZ i
£ R GRS BT HRR 25 716 B T
-

MENRDIDERMEER MR HE
EE - KM EZERERNSREZE
EEE B ERANRNERER M
WP BEREZRRESEREEMRRE - Al
KEAEE 2 EEKRABR (R T X &5
KR ) BAME -

REMBENFDRERZEINEHEHED
RERFFAX - EREELEEHEE
Z B K B R 25 TR R TH B F A B AR
ERERL AR HE -

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight line basis, except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment, unless it is
clear that both elements are operating leases, in which case the
entire lease is classified as an operating lease.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non—monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non—
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item
that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal of the foreign operation. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non—monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non—-monetary items
in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (the exchange reserve), and reclassified
to profit or loss at the time when the foreign operation is
disposed of.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including
all fees or points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments and interest expense
are recognised on an effective interest basis, other than those
financial assets classified as at FVTPL, of which interest income
is included in net gains or losses.
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Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the four
categories, including financial assets at FVTPL, loans and
receivables, held-to—maturity investments and available—for—
sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL comprise financial assets held for
trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near future; or

. it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short—term profit-taking; or

U it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non—derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade receivables, other assets, other financial assets,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, amounts due
from associates and amount due from a jointly controlled entity)
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Held-to—maturity investments

Held—to—maturity investments are non—derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that
the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability
to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held—to—
maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Available—for-sale financial assets

Available—for-sale financial assets are non—derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL,
loans and receivables or held—to—maturity investments.

Available—for—sale financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in investment revaluation reserve, until the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available—for—sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

. the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables and other financial assets, assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed
for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, and observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables and other financial assets, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When trade receivables
and other financial assets are considered uncollectible, they
are written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit
or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses were recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Impairment losses on available—for—sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified
into other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities other than derivatives (including bank loans,
trade payables, deposits received, other financial liabilities and
other liabilities) are subsequently measured at amortised costs,
using the effective interest method.
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Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both liability
and conversion option components are classified separately
into respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option
that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument.
Derivatives embedded in non—-derivative host contracts are not
separated from the relevant host contracts when the economic
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are closely
related to those of the host contracts. On initial recognition,
the fair value of the liability component is determined using
the prevailing market interest of similar non—convertible debts.
The difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of the
convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability
component, representing the embedded call option for the
holder to convert the bonds into equity, is included in convertible
bonds equity reserve.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, representing the option to
convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible bonds equity reserve until
the embedded option is exercised, in which case the balance
stated in convertible bonds equity reserve will be transferred
to share premium. Where the option remains unexercised at
the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible bonds equity
reserve will be transferred to the accumulated profits. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective
as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect is
material).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes/
state—-managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are charged as expenses when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Management had made the following estimations that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements and a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.

FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 March 2011 at their fair value of
HK$6,133.1 million (2010: HK$5,298.6 million) (Note 15). The
fair value was based on valuation of these properties conducted
by independent firms of professional valuers using property
valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
income statement.
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A jointly controlled entity obtained the land title certificates of
two pieces of land out of three. The management considers
there is no material legal impediment for the jointly controlled
entity to obtain the land title certificate of the remaining one.
The valuation of the three pieces of land which are classified
as investment properties under construction held by the jointly
controlled entity was conducted by independent firms of
professional valuers which was derived by making reference
to recent comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant property market (on the assumption that all the land
title certificates have been obtained at the valuation date),
and has also taken into account the estimated costs to be
incurred to attain the vacant clear site including future land
costs for obtaining land title certificate, which are deducted in
order to arrive at the value of the partially completed project.
The valuation involves certain assumptions and estimation of
future cost to be incurred. The changes of these assumptions
and estimation would result in changes in the fair value of
the investment properties under construction held by a jointly
controlled entity. As at 31 March 2011, the fair value of the
investment properties under construction held by the jointly
controlled entity amounted to HK$11,166.6 million (2010:
HK$9,799.1 million) (Note 20) and the Group’s share of the
value of the investment properties under construction amounted
to HK$5,583.3 million (2010: HK$4,899.6 million).

PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s properties
held for/under development for sale amounting to HK$2,727.4
million (2010: HK$1,735.1 million) (Note 25) with reference
to current market environment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may exceed its net realisable value. Appropriate write—down
for estimated irrecoverable amounts is recognised in profit and
loss when the net realisable value is below cost. The estimates
of net realisable value are based on the evidence available at
the time the estimates are made of the amount the properties
held for/under development for sale that are expected to realise.
Actual realised amount may differ from estimates, resulting in a
decrease in the net realisable value of these properties held for/
under development for sale and additional write—down may be
required.

&5 6 M B ok I

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

HEZEHEEEES =R EP R
mim%%iaoaﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ
EEEHEHRAREG EEEEZINGH

TRt T ERERE - AHERE
HEREEZ ML EAERIRE
W HEERB Y EEGEMET
Eﬂ%ﬁ%%¥ﬁ%TEZELTmF
HERXSMAEL (BRRATELIbEEES
m%@a%amﬁ) W E s RESZE
MBS EE A 2 (BRI AS (B HEEE
THEREEZLHRA)  ZEKK
FUAMBRAZER BT THEE Z2BE -
HESMBEBEERSI ZETRERL
et o ZEBRBERGFT2EE B
FEEHERFECERREMER ﬁﬁ
2 &E - N201143A318 B
I%E%hﬁZE@&§%%ZA$E
#11,166.6 &5 7T (20104 : 9,799.1
BEBT) (KE20) @ MAEBETH1h
ZHEEREMEBEARDLSE33IEBEET
(20104 : 4,899.6 AEHETT) °

e R / BEhmE

KERERX2EZEERMATREEEZR
EEAEEaEASRFE s SERE
B AKERELECRR/ERTY
¥rkol&58E2,727.4 B BB T (2010
F:1,735.188%m) (MzE25) - |
ETRAT YL & 58 2 AR FERUR - TIRR 3R
EEFE BB TR ZRFEERK AR
RIBEEHER o A IR FE 2B IIRR
ERNERBELECRR/ BETRYME
ZTEHSRE EEMEL - BERER
B HTEF TR - ﬁ@h#ﬁﬁ2¥
B/ BERPWMENERFETRE
JRVERRINZ WURK ©

145



146

HKR International Limited
Annual Report 2010/2011

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

56 MBS Wk I

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

PROJECT INVESTMENT UNDERTAKEN BY A
JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

The Group has a 50% equity interest in a jointly controlled entity,
Dazhongli Properties Limited (“Dazhongli”), which is engaged in
the development of certain properties in Shanghai, the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). In considering the recoverability of
the Group’s loans to Dazhongli amounted to HK$4,388.4 million
(2010: HK$3,916.9 million) (Note 20), management takes into
consideration the recoverable amount of the underlying assets
of Dazhongli which is determined by reference to the costs to be
incurred to complete the development of the properties and the
future rental income to be generated therefrom. In this regard,
management considered that no impairment is necessary in
respect of the loans to Dazhongli.

IMPAIRMENT OF AMOUNT DUE FROM AN
ASSOCIATE

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 March 2011 is an amount of HK$878.9 million (2010:
HK$930.7 million) due from an associate, Tung Chung Station
Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL”), which is engaged
principally in property development activities (see Note 19). In
determining whether an allowance for the amount due from the
associate is required, the management takes into consideration
the recoverable amount of the underlying assets regarding the
amount due from the associate and the likelihood of collection.
Specific allowance is only made for the amount that is unlikely
to be collected from the associate. The management is satisfied
that no impairment is considered necessary in respect of the
amount due from an associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED TAXATION

As at 31 March 2011, no deferred tax asset was recognised
in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
in relation to the estimated unused tax losses of HK$574.5
million (2010: HK$517.5 million) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future taxable profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future taxable profits generated differs
significantly from the expected, a material recognition may
arise, which would be recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the period in which such recognition takes place.

5. TURNOVERAND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Group is currently organised into seven operating divisions:
property development, property investment, services provided
(clubs operation, provision of professional property management
and transportation services to the residents of Discovery Bay),
hotel operation, healthcare (provision of medical and dental care
services, comprising cancer centres, dental clinics, diabetic and
cardiovascular centres and multi-specialty outpatient centres),
manufacturing (manufacturing and sales of bathroom products)
and securities investment. Operating segments are identified on
the basis of internal reports about divisions of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker
in order the allocate resources to the segment and to assess
its performance. Each of the operating divisions represents an
operating segment.

&5 6 M B ok I

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

AT RRBELEDMAMAFEAKH

by operating segments for the year: WA REELE
Property Property Services Hotel Securities
development  investment provided  operation  Healthcare Manufacturing  investment Total
NEBR  PERE  RERE EEEE  BERE HiE  EERE a3t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
HE#T HEAT AE#T  EBAT  EE#ET  AEAT  EEET AEAR
For the year 31 March 2011 BE201153A31ALEE
TURNOVER BER
Segment revenue - sales HBBA - AEBR
to external customers derived BEAREIMNIZP
by the Group and associates LHER 810.2 465.5 3975 344.1 409.4 227.1 92  2,663.0
Excluding turnover of associates ARBERT ¥R (752.9) (85.5) - - - - - (838.4)
Excluding sale proceeds of investment  EABRARE 2R EME
properties located in the PRC LHEMEHE - (14.7) - - - - - (14.7)
Excluding sale proceeds of HREAREHE
securities investment Pﬁ?—gﬁﬂ - - - - - - (9.2) (9.2)
Consolidated turnover, as reported GREEE MER 57.3 365.3 397.5 344.1 409.4 221.1 - 1,800.7
RESULTS 15
Results - total results of the Group, %‘1‘ - A£E  BEARR
associates and jointly controlled REHIBE #6858
entities (note 1) (MTEU 116.3 923.5 49.1 15.5 (42.8) (15.9) 14.9 1,060.6
Excluding results of associates RRIREEAEHEDAR
and jointly controlled entities HRRHIEE XA
not shared by the Group (66.4) 14.2 - - - - - (52.2)
Segment results attributable FEBEEAHRE
to the Group 49.9 937.7 49.1 15.5 (42.8) (15.9) 14.9 1,008.4
Unallocated corporate expenses KARAAER (99.7)
Finance costs and corporate level HBERRARER
exchange difference ERET (32.1)
Net unrealised gains RENENTEE
on fair value change of LRETMEFE
investment properties (note 2) (HE2) 750.5
Net unrealised gain TEREEAREHERR
on fair value change of BEARNEENEER
investment properties attributable ZATEEE)
to the Group's interest in jointly ARERWEFE -
controlled entities and associates, Bl
net of deferred tax 156.8
Profit for the year AERRH 1,783.9
Non-controlling shareholders' share FERBEAMEAER EF
of profit for the year (136.0)
Profit for the year attributable LYNSE 2PN
to the owners of the Company RERRT 1,647.9

Tl B PR AR A A
2010/2011 £
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

Property Property Services Hotel Securities
development  investment provided operation  Healthcare Manufacturing  investment Total
MERE  WERE  RERE  BEER  BERE 2E  ERRE &t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT AEST AEAT  BEAT  AEMT  AEET  BEAR  AEAR
For the year 31 March 2010 HZE2010F3A31ALLFE
TURNOVER EXE
Segment revenue - sales PN - AEER
to external customers derived BEDRHIER
by the Group and associates ZHER 14785 17374 3796 290.0 4969 2231 %9 47044
Excluding turnover of associates B NG A E 2 (1,270.0) (849) - - (849) - - (14398
Excluding sale proceeds of investment ~ SABINPE 2R ENE
properties located in the PRC LHEMEIE - (1359 - - - - - (1359
Excluding sale proceeds of HREFRE HE
securities investment S - - - - - - (989) (989)
Consolidated turnover, as reported TREEE  MER 2085 3266 3796 290.0 4120 223.1 = 18398
RESULTS S|
Results - total results of the Group, ¥ - 7568 BEARR
associates and a jointly controlled HEMHEE $EES
entity (note 3) (P3) 179.0 7282 460 125 216 (70.1) 82 10124
Excluding results of associates HRFAREN EHERRR
and a jointly controlled entity HAEHEE 25
not shared by the Group (106.2) (5.4) - - - - - (111.6)
Segment results attributable TEREEAHEE
to the Group 728 7228 46.0 125 216 (70.1) 89.2 900.8
Unallocated corporate expenses KAWARER (75.5)
Finance costs and corporate level HBBRRARER
exchange difference ZERER (80.2)
Net unrealised gains RENEATEEY
on fair value change of IAEBRWEFR
investment properties (note 4) (Bt 4) 3903
Net unrealised gain ARERGLRZHEER
on fair value change of ﬁia”z} AR EME s
investment properties attributable ZATHEE S
to the Group's interest in a jointly LREFMEFE
controlled entity and associates, MREEHE
net of deferred tax 817.0
Profit for the year REERT 19524
Non—controlling shareholders’ share FERBREAMEAFR SRR
of profit for the year (61.6)
Profit for the year attributable YNGE 7N
to the owners of the Company AEERF 18908
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Notes:

The segment results of property investment business for year
ended 31 March 2011 included realised gains on fair value
change of investment properties of HK$640.2 million, deferred
tax credit on disposal of investment properties of HK$5.1 million,
and recognition of current tax upon disposal of investment
properties of HK$4.3 million.

The net unrealised gains on fair value change of investment
properties for year ended 31 March 2011 of HK$750.5 million
represented the unrealised gain on fair value change of
investment properties of HK$750.8 million net of the deferred tax
arising from change in fair value of HK$0.3 million.

The segment results of property investment business for the
year ended 31 March 2010 included realised gains on fair value
change of investment properties of HK$611.3 million, deferred
tax credit on disposal of investment properties of HK$214.3
million, recognition of current tax upon disposal of investment
properties of HK$315.3 million, and withholding tax on
undistributed profits of a PRC subsidiary of HK$27.6 million.

The net unrealised gains on fair value change of investment
properties for the year ended 31 March 2010 of HK$390.3
million represented the unrealised gain on fair value change of
investment properties of HK$479.9 million net of the deferred tax
arising from change in fair value of HK$89.6 million.

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external

customers.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating

segments is disclosed as they are not reviewed by the chief

operating decision maker nor otherwise regularly provided to the

chief

operating decision maker for review.
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OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
For the year ended 31 March 2011

GAMBEREN

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

oAt 43 3R & R
HZ2011 %3831 HLEE

Property Property Services Hotel Securities  Unallocated
development  investment provided  operation  Healthcare Manufacturing  investment amounts Total
WESR  WERE  RERE  EEER  BERE HE  RERE  RDELE it
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
AE#r EE#n  EE#x  EEEx  EBEn  AREn  AREn AREn AEER
Amounts included in the measure of SENTRTREENOE
segment proft or loss: 88
Revenue from inter-segment sales * P e - (3.0) (5.2) - - - - - 8.3)
Depreciation ik ] 21.8 10.5 30.5 50.6 237 12.1 - 36 152.8
Impairment losses on property, plant nE - BERRELCER
and equipment recognised REEE - - - - 100 - - - 100
(Reversal of allowance) (BEERE) REAE
allowance for doubtful debts (0.6) - (L1) - 5.0 0.7 - - 4.0
Reversal of provision for loansto aninvestee ~ AERREREHE R Bk - (85.3) - - - - - - (85.3)
Net gains from financial assets/iabilties SREE/ BRThE - - - - - - (7.8) - (7.8)
Loss (gain) on disposal of HENE  BEREEL
property, plant and equipment B8 (W) - 0.8 0.1 (0.4) - - _ - 05
Realised gains on disposals of HEREME DSBS
investment properties = (640.2) - - - - - - (640.2)
Interest income FISHA (1.0) (14.4) = (0.6) (0.2) = (0.2) (9.7 (26.1)
Interest expenses il5 3 - 28 - 0.1 0.1 08 - 384 42.2
Income tax expenses (credit) FEHRY (H4) 8.4 52.2 8.0 (6.8) 2.8 - - (0.7) 63.9
Share of results of associates HEBERR FE (79.9) 23 - - - - - (72.5) (150.1)
Share of resuls of jointly controlled entities PEAREHEE EE - 5.0 - - - - - (84.3) (79.3)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 HE2010FE3 A31HIFEE
Property Property Services Hotel Securities  Unallocated
development  investment provided operation  Healthcare  Manufacturing  investment amounts Total
WEEE  WERE  RERE  BEEE  BERR BE  EARE ROHEE st
HKSM HKS M HKS M HKS M HK$ M HKS M HKSM HKSM HKSM
BEAT B8R BEAn  B8An  BEAn  BEAn  BEEAn  BEAT  BEAR
Amounts included in the measure of SENPRTREENAE
segment profit or loss: LEH
Revenue from inter-segment sales * AHEHERE - (33) (4.4) - - - - - (7.7)
Depreciation fﬁ% 218 838 307 468 305 114 - 37 1537
Impairment losses on property, plant nE - BERRELCER
and equipment recognised HEEE - - - - - 60.6 - = 60.6
Net allowance for doubtful debts R - - 01 = 20 04 - - 25
Impairment loss on goodwill MR wﬁ’Z?ﬁ%ﬁﬁEﬁE
recognised in profit or loss - - - - 94 53 - - 147
Net gains from financial assets/liabilities SREE/ BEFNE - - - - - - (86.6) - (86.6)
(Gain) loss on disposal of HENE  BEREEL
property, plant and equipment (W3 ) B 6.7) 03 104 6.0 38 0.1 - = 139
Realised gains on disposals of HEREME SRS
investment properties - (611.3) - - - - - - (611.3)
Interest income FIEHA 02 (6.0) = (06) 0.1) = (33) (15) (11.7)
Interest expenses HERR 20 19 - 03 - 13 - 76.7 82.2
Income tax expenses (credit) FEHRY (£4) 143 1406 53 (21.7) (2.4) = 104 896 236.1
Share of results of associates PEBERR FE (74.4) - - - - - - 24) (116.8)
Share of result of a jointly controlled enfity ~ A{ELFIEHEE 2 £% - (5.6) - - - - - (774.6) (780.2)
* Inter—segment sales are entered into in accordance with the @ DEERZEE TR REEZEXRF2E

relevant agreements, if any, governing those transactions, in

which the pricing was determined with reference to prevailing

market price or actual cost incurred, as appropriate.

Bz (nE) #1717 KSERTILR
WITMEXNBRELEXRA (BT ERE
ST ) B ©
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Turnover from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover from its

R i BB 2 SR
ATRAEBTIRERMRE 2 EXE

major products and services: ST :

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEATT
Sales of properties HEMZE 57.3 208.5
Sales of goods HEEMm 227.1 223.1
Services rendered AR 1,145.2 1,066.6
Rental income R ON 371.1 335.0
Others Hb - 6.6
1,800.7 1,839.8

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION i I R

For each of the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010, the
Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, South East Asia,
Australia, PRC and United Kingdom.

The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the
location of properties and goods delivered or services rendered
and location of properties in the case of rental income, and
information about its non—current assets by geographical
location of the assets are detailed below:

HZE2011F K2010F3A31 B IE&F
B AEBZEEBEXEBURES - KE

T BN - BRI e

AEBRBINBES (ARNYELE R
SRR 2 E A KRB EYE 2 b=
RER) 2Was MEBEREEMIEGE
SN ZIERBEELZFIBTWT

Revenue from

external customers

Non—current assets

KEIMFBE P W E ERBEE
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BE#ExT BE88T BEEBRT BEAT
Hong Kong BB 1,076.9 1,143.9 6,807.6 6,626.3
South East Asia R 486.2 458.2 2,471.1 1,263.7
Australia SEM 173.3 175.5 3.6 3.1
PRC =5 34.9 28.4 5,871.8 5,140.8
United Kingdom R 29.4 33.8 0.2 0.3
1,800.7 1,839.8 15,154.3 13,034.2

Note: Non—current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred
tax assets.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The revenue from individual customer contributed less than
10% of the total turnover of the Group for both years.

et - ERBDEETBREEM T ARRER

REE °

HEAERERZER

R EAmEFE  REE@EETP 2K
TEBANEEEEEER 2 10%

6. OTHERINCOME
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

6. AWK A

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBT
Other income includes the following: HERABIETEE

Bank and other interest income SR1T R EH A F B U 26.1 11.7
Gain on disposal of an associate SRR E 2 W - 74.4
Other income E U A 68.0 40.0
94.1 126.1

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. ﬁ{’[ﬁﬂﬁfﬁ&ﬁ?fﬁ

Other gains (losses) include the following:

HibWeas (B8 ) B35 NHISIRE ¢

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBT
(i)  Net foreign exchange gain (i)  SNERE N Flzs 11.2 28.6
(i) Reversal of provision for loans (i) BEEEEEEHRER
to an investee (Note 22) 2 B (fisE22) 85.3 -
(iii)  Impairment loss recognised (i) BDHERRMEEIE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB RE&E
(Note 16) (Mfzx16) (10.0) (60.6)
Goodwill (Note 18) PEE (HIFE18) = (14.7)
(10.0) (75.3)
(iv) Net gains from financial (v) REE/8FFHE
assets/liabilities
Net realised gains on BEAFEFABSCEHEE
financial assets at FVTPL B &R 2R E - 215
Net unrealised gains on BEAFEFSABGZEREE
financial assets at FVTPL REIR 7S - 49
Net realised gains on AHHESREE
available—for-sale B#IR 2 5 Es
financial assets 9.2 63.3
9.2 89.7
Net losses on derivative PTES R T B 2 FEE
financial instruments (1.4) (3.1)
7.8 86.6
94.3 39.9
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8. FINANCE COSTS

8. MEEH

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEAT
Interest on TH&EIEZ T E
Bank and other loans wholly repayable ARAFANBHER
within five years ZRITREMER 25.4 13.6
Other borrowings wholly repayable ARAFANBHER
within five years ZEMEE 4.9 5.6
Convertible bonds — liability component Ak ES — BRAFA
wholly repayable within five years BHEEZS %‘E‘ 152 3.8 53.2
34.1 72.4
Less: Amounts included in the cost of B ETARBERE 2
properties held for/under BRE/BRPYME
development for sale KA &5 (4.8) (3.5)
29.3 68.9
Bank loans arrangement fees RITERLZEER 12.9 13.3
42.2 82.2

s L b P A A ]

2010/2011 £
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. [ERLEIEE A
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEAT
(Restated)
(&%)
Profit before taxation has been arrived BRAGADEN 2R (BT A) -
at after charging (crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETN S 7.6 6.6
Cost of inventories and developed properties 17 & N 2 2B WK A
recognised as an expense REEA 153.0 248.2
Operating lease rentals in respect of THREFKEHEES
land and buildings 46.5 44.8
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BEEEZEZ
plant and equipment E518 0.5 139
Net allowance for doubtful debts (Note 24) RERBE M FRE (I3E24) 4.0 2.5
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) B IRA (BIEESHE ) 509.2 456.5
Release of prepaid lease payments FEAENRE L 1.2 1.1
Depreciation e
Owned assets BEEE 152.4 152.7
Assets under finance leases MERE TN ZEE 0.4 1.0
152.8 153.7
Net rental income under operating leases on L E 2 HE WA SFEE
Investment properties B (367.6) (329.9)
Other properties ik ES (3.5) (5.1)
Less: Outgoings Ay 22.9 185
(348.2) (316.5)
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10. TAXATION 10. BIH
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEETT BEATT
(Restated)
(E7)
The taxation charge comprises: WMIAS HELE -
Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at 16.5% AN (T FERBLEF)
on the estimated assessable B R 16.5% &
profit for the year BEBFEN 35.9 40.0
Overseas tax calculated at rates prevailing EEERFAERBERZ
in respective jurisdictions (note a) MEFTE 2 /8INMIIE (HiTa) 35.4 332.2
71.3 372.2
Deferred taxation for current year (note b) REFIRLERIE (5Eb) (7.4) (136.1)
63.9 236.1
Notes: B =
(@)  The overseas tax charge for the year comprises: (a) AFEEZEIINHESHBTE
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBT
(Restated)
(&%)
Land Appreciation Tax and Enterprise Income FHERIARE 7 R E WM
Tax arising from disposal of investment B2 THIGER R FEFTSH
properties in the PRC (“PRC Tax on ([ HEREYZE 2 RBIFIE])
disposal of investment properties”) 4.3 315.3
Other overseas tax E /8N HIE 31.1 16.9
354 332.2
Taxation (credit) charge to profit or loss R EEmEm (FtA)
during the year arising from disposal of MBAFERBSZFRBEOT
investment properties is as follows:
PRC Tax on disposal of investment HEREME P RRIE
properties 4.3 315.3
Less: Deferred tax recognised in prior year B BEFERERELERIA
(Note 11) (BaE11) (5.1) (214.3)

(0.8) 101.0

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

s L b I T A A ]

2010/2011 4E$t
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An analysis of current year deferred taxation is as follows: (b) ANEERELERBZOMLT :
2011 2010
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEET BEAT
(Restated)
(&%)
Deferred tax charge arising during the year ~ REEIREMEAFEES
in respect of unrealised gain on fair value ARSI T ETFIE
change of investment properties 0.3 89.6
Deferred tax credit on disposal of HEREMERRR ZEERIA
investment properties (5.1) (214.3)
Others Hith (2.6) (11.4)
(7.4) (136.1)

assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends in
respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January

MIRBIE 16.5% 515 o

R BRITHEANE -

F B NS IR R E 2 b 5t R DR

REFHEAERMAEHE (TRERAEH
&) REERFBUEEMMRG] - B
BRRANZMEFE 2 ED25%

REMBDEERESE 2 RIBREBBADE

RIBEEMASHE - B2008F1A1H
i - A BT BB A B AT EREUR A 2 AR

2008 onwards. Deferred taxation of HK$27.6 million (2011: nil)  B/BEGMNTEINF - REE 201043 A 31

has been provided during the year ended 31 March 2010.

BB (20114 - M) o

AIEFE  BERRENIERE2768
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The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before NEERIE Y BB S Wt R AR AT
taxation per the consolidated income statement as follows: WA Z EERIN R ¢
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEAT
(Restated)
(&%)
Profit before taxation BR 3 Bl 22 A 1,847.8 2,188.5
Less: Share of results of associates B DREE R RIS (150.1) (116.8)
Share of results of jointly controlled DG HEFEZESIEEEE
entities (79.3) (780.2)
Profit before taxation attributable to KRR REMB AT
the Company and its subsidiaries FE(E R B AT & A 1,618.4 1,291.5
Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate BTSN E 16.5% 518
of 16.5% ZHIEY H 267.0 213.1
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BEARBBAZ BB 2
purpose (246.9) (92.5)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PRI AT 2 RIS 2
for tax purpose 28.2 43.7
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERTHIAEE 2 s & 12.4 21.9
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FRBEARERZHIBEE
recognised (3.1) (54.9)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REM R AR R & &
operating in other jurisdictions ZHBRARMERNR 22 0.7 21.7
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERAI IR L R =58
differences not recognised 2GR 2.8 21.8
Effect of Land Appreciation Tax in the PRC PR+ i IR (B 2 2.0 42.1
Deferred tax arising from withholding tax on B B A 7 2 K2 IR
undistributed profits of a PRC subsidiary Z TR EA BERIA - 27.6
Others EHAfth 0.8 (8.4)
Taxation attributable to the Company AR REMBARENRN
and its subsidiaries for the year FE(LFRIE 63.9 236.1

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS
HA MT%*&%%W&

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11. A5 B N AL AAE B

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF A
THE COMPANY

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

EEBET BT

(Restated)

(&31)

Profit for the year attributable to RATEB ANBIEREE R
the owners of the Company B
comprises of:

(i) Netunrealised gains on changein (i) FRIEEYWELFEES
fair value of investment 2 AREBBEWEFEE
properties during the year

— The Group — A&H 750.8 479.9
Less: Deferred tax B IEERIR (0.3) (89.6)
Attributable to VAR M 2 A

non-controlling interests (96.9) (16.3)
653.6 374.0

— Jointly controlled entities, — HEEHELE -
net of deferred tax HBRELERIR
(Note 20(a)) (FF5E20(a)) 84.3 774.6

— Associates, net of — B A - HIBRELERIR
deferred tax 72.5 42 .4

810.4 1,191.0

(i) Accumulated net realised gains on (i) FRHEREWEZ Kt
disposal of investment properties BER TR
during the year
Gain on disposal of an

HE—FREMEER

investment properties MB ARz Wes

holding subsidiary 634.1 =
Realised gain on disposal of ilﬁ;’ﬂ EHMITE Y

other investment properties I WA

for the year 6.1 611.3
Realised gain on disposal of HEREYFE

investment properties ZBER W

(Note 15) (KI7E15) 640.2 611.3
Accumulated (losses) gains BAEFERRZCNERE

on change in fair value of YN EZE R

disposed investment (B8 ) =

properties recognised in HIBRIERERL IR (5T )

prior years, net of

deferred tax (note) (126.5) 240.9
Taxation credit (charge) AEEHIERR (L)
for the year 0.8 (101.0)

514.5 751.2
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2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEATT
(Restated)
(&%)

(i) Reversal of provision for loans (i) BOREBREHERERZ

to an investee (Note 22) BE (MEE22) 85.3 =
(iv) Other profits attributable (iv) ANRFHEB AEGEAER]

to the owners of the Company 111.2 189.5
Subtotal /NET 1,521.4 2,131.7
Less: Accumulated losses (gains) B BEFECERZLE

on change in fair value of KEWMERNTEE

disposed investment properties REtEE (k=) -

recognised in prior years, net of MBRIEER IR (5T )

deferred tax (note) 126.5 (240.9)
Profit for the year attributable KRB ANEEARFEE R

to the owners of the Company 1,647.9 1,890.8

Note: Accumulated gains on change in Mt BEFEEBRZHEREYE

fair value of disposed investment NHEEB R (HMiEE15)

properties recognised in

prior years (Note 15) 39.0 455.2

Deferred tax relating to fair value BAFEEERILEREME

change of disposed investment N EZEFERE 2 RERE

properties recognised in prior years (FfzE10)

(Note 10) (5.1) (214.3)

Accumulated losses on change BEFEEBRCLEREME

in fair value of a disposed NGNS =)

investment properties holding ZEEE

subsidiary recognised in prior years (160.4) -

(126.5) 240.9

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(D

T s BL % o] 4 [ A LA ]
2010/2011 4R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G 0 W B R

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

12. EHWE T4 5 R
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID B24e

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (D #FEHFEMEFEHOT :
ARE AS FOLLOWS:

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the fourteen

2TeER 144 (20104 : 134%)
BEZAZMEWT ¢

(2010: thirteen) directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE201153A31HILEE

Cha Cha  Cheung  Chung  HoPak  Tang Cha  ChaYiu WongCha  Ronald  Cheng  Cheung  Cheung
MouSing MouZing  Teeung SamTin  Ching  Moon MouDaid  Chung MayLung  Joseph KarShun KinTung Wing Lam Qin

Payson ~ Victor ~ Ming Abraham Loretta Wah  Johnson Benjamin* Madeline  Arculli  Heny  Mawvin  Linus Xiao  Total
ERE ERN REW ELR  fRE  HRE ERE ZBY IR ERE BR4 REE O RKE O ER 4+
HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKS'M  HKSM  HKSM  HKS'M  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HK$M
EE#n FEAn FRAN DEAN AEAT FEEAr FRAT FEMN BEAN FEEAn FEAT FEEN EEAT ESAn AEAR

Fees ik - 03 01 - 0.1 - 0.1 - 0.1 02 03 03 03 03 21
Other emoluments Afpis
Salaries and #ek
other benefis 0] 44 47 21 19 - 32 - 10 - - - - - - 13
Performance related -
incentive payment (ote) ~~ (F3E ) 54 6.1 6.6 06 = 15 = 12 - - - - - - U4
Refirement benefits RIMER
schemes confribution it - 02 0.1 01 - 02 - 01 - - - - - - u
Total emoluments fetE 98 113 89 26 01 49 01 23 01 0.2 03 03 03 03 415

For the year ended 31 March 2010 HE2010F3A31HIEFE

Cha Cha Cheung  Chung  HoPak Tang Cha WongCha  Romald  Cheng  Cheung  Cheung
MouSing MouZing ~ Tseung  SamTin  Ching  Moon MouDaid Maylung ~ Joseph KarShun  KinTung WingLam Qin

Payson ~ Victor Ming  Abraham  Lorefta Weh  Johnson ~ Madeline ~ Arculi  Heary ~ Mavin  Linus Xiao Total
B2 BHY REH B0R MRS WRE  SWME IERE REE R4 FER O ®R ER 43
HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM
BERT RERT AERT BERT DBERT REAT AEAT AEAN DBERT REAT AEAT RERN BEAT BEAR

Fees ok - 03 - - 01 - 01 01 02 03 03 03 02 19
Other emolumens Hfpis
Salaries and #eR
other benefts At 42 4520 19 - R - - - - - - - 18
Performance related -
incentive payment (note) (B3 ) 15 45 05 04 = 14 = = - - - = = 83
Retrement benefits RINER
schemes contribution RETN - 03 02 01 = 02 = - - - - = = 08
Total emoluments Heng 5] 96 2.] 24 0.1 48 0.1 0.1 02 0.3 03 0.3 02 268
Note: The performance related incentive payment is determined et - BREREFERNKEELEL - @

with reference to the operating results, individual BIRIB R A L E TS SURREE ©

performance and comparable market statistics during the
year.

* The amount represents the remuneration since the date of &

ZEBIERERIRESZAE

appointment as director. prd
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During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the directors as an inducement to join. No directors
waived any emoluments during both years.

(I1) EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the five highest
paid individuals of the Group included four (2010: four)
executive directors, whose emoluments are disclosed
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2010: one)
employee are as follows:

(1D

RREA - ARETFERES N
e - RMFEAR - BEEEHET
BN E -

1 B P <2

HZE2011F3A8318IEFE » K
SEREZRFMAL EF4dR
(2010F : 4%) BMITES @ FE
ZBER EXEEE - 82T 14(2010
F:1R)EEZMEMT :

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEET

Salaries and other benefits e MEHAMEF 4.0 4.2
Retirement benefits schemes RIREFFTEIE R

contribution 0.1 0.1

4.1 4.3

13. DIVIDENDS

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G 0 W B R

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

13. kB

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBT
Final dividend paid HZE2010F3A31BItHBFEEZ
for the financial year ended BT AREARE — &A% 12784
31 March 2010 of HK12 cents (HZ=200943A3181F
(financial year ended FHFEE &)
31 March 2009: nil) per share 162.0 -
Interim dividend paid HE2011F3A31BULHBREFEEZ
for the financial year ended BRI S — TR 7 AL
31 March 2011 of HK7 cents (BiZ2010F3 A31HIE
(financial year ended FBREE : 6781l)
31 March 2010: HK6 cents) per share 94.5 81.0
256.5 81.0
Proposed final dividend BOREE 2011 F 3 A 31 HIEBEK
for the financial year ended FEZARBRE — B8R11EL
31 March 2011 of HK11 cents (BZ2010F3A31H1E
(financial year ended MHRFEE - 12780)
31 March 2010: HK12 cents)
per share 148.5 162.0
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

14. BB ER]

AAFEE AR GRERR SR
TR TSR

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEET BEAT
Earnings EH
Earnings for the purpose of calculating STESRERZN BT
basic earnings per share (profit for (ARAREE AEIL
the year attributable to owners of REEHF))
the Company) 1,647.9 1,890.8
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEBETE ST E LB
Interest on convertible bonds ATHMRES 2 FIE 3.8 53.2
Earnings for the purpose of calculating STESREERN 2 BT
diluted earnings per share 1,651.7 1,944.0
2011 2010

Number of shares

Number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of calculating the basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
relating to convertible bonds

B

SAEERERARZ
Epalie g

ARBESAEEE
EEETE 2 ERK

1,350,274,367

7,563,245

1,350,274,367

105,885,434

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purpose of calculating diluted
earnings per share

AAEESREEATZ
BB 8

1,357,837,612

1,456,159,801

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS
HA MT%*&%%WIII

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. TEYE

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEAT
FAIR VALUE PNEE
At beginning of the year F1] 5,298.6 5,367.3
Currency realignment B 78.7 185
Additions /?_J'\_‘\E 1,026.4 165.5
Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIBZEHER 2 A FEE S
— Realised gain on disposals — HEZE#HKE 6.1 611.3
— Unrealised gains — RER WS 750.8 4799
Disposals k= (101.0) (1,440.4)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FWB AT
(see note below) ( R TBisE) (926.5) -
Investment properties under construction M - BB REREEN
reclassified from property, plant DEEEREICEYE
and equipment - 91.5
Transferred from property, plant and EREYE - BERE&E
equipment - 5.0
At end of the year FR 6,133.1 5,298.6

Investment properties of the Group held at the end of the HRIFEHIR » NEBFF 2 EYWERT

reporting period are situated on land as follows: IR Z H 2R T -
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEATL
Freehold outside Hong Kong LR BB LAIME[E 7 Sk A R 917.7 201.0
Long leases outside Hong Kong R BB AIMEE 2 KEIFA A 123.0 1319
Long leases in Hong Kong URBEBZ KEEL 761.6 343.2
Medium term leases in Hong Kong R E S 2 R EIE L 4,330.8 4,622.5
6,133.1 5,298.6

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$1,026.4  F R KNEBFEEZEL 102647 EB T
million (2010: HK$165.5 million) on the acquisition of (20104 : 165.5 B & /& L) WAL A B
investment properties located in Tokyo, Japan and Hong Kong. RERREBZIREME -
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The Group disposed of certain investment properties during the
year and the details of the disposals are as follows:

TR AKELEETREME HLE
BT

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEET BEAT
Sales proceeds received B E P15 5IE 101.0 1,440.4
Original cost of acquisitions Wi 2 R ANME (55.9) (373.9)
Accumulated gains on change in fair value BAEFEEERZATE
recognised in prior year (Note 11) BE)Ratas (MIEE11) (39.0) (455.2)
Realised gain on disposal recognised FAHERFER 2 FR Y=
during the year 6.1 611.3
Realised gain on disposal of investment ERLENBRABILE
properties through disposal of a subsidiary KEME 2 2 E R
(see note below) ( B TCHRE) 634.1 -
Total realised gains on disposals of HEREYEZ
investment properties (Note 11) EER B (1) 640.2 611.3

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note:

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 10 December 2010, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with a third party to dispose of its entire interest in a wholly
owned subsidiary, DP Properties Limited (formerly HKR Properties
Limited). DP Properties Limited owns 50% interest in the Discovery
Park Shopping Centre, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong (the “Property”) and
owns 50% of each of two associates, Discovery Park Commercial
Services Limited (“DPCSL”) and Discovery Park Financial Services
Limited (“DPFSL"). DPCSL and DPFSL provide estate management
and leasing services in respect of the Property and second mortgage
loans to purchasers of residential units in the residential tower blocks
located above the Property respectively. The Group’s interest in the
Property, was accounted for as a jointly controlled asset of the Group.
The transaction was completed on 22 March 2011.

The consideration and net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

&5 6 M B ok I

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

G
ot 35— I 24

M2010F 12108 » AKBEEE=F %
MBS LEEZERACZHMER
7] DP Properties Limited (RIFEE M (¥
¥)BRAR) 22 o DP Properties
Limited BB B A EM ST EWES ([ %
ME |) 50% 2 Em A R EMEBE AR (K
SMWEERBK AR AR ([DPCSL])) Kis
kB RIS AR A F] ([DPFSLY)) & 50% 2
#E % - DPCSL XX DPFSLY RISt B Bz ¥ 1R
HEHEEERAERERABELER
MMEZEEAEFEEMZEELERES
“IRBER AEBZZMERSRDEHAR
SEERIEHIEE - ZRXHN2011F3 A 22
H5ERK °

HEZERZRBREEFENT

HK$'M
BEAT

Consideration received and receivable: B EYARE -
Cash received 2R e 1,400.4
Deferred cash consideration FEIER S RE 10.5
Total consideration received and receivable B R ELREE 1,410.9
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22.3.2011
HK$'M
BEET

Analysis of assets and liabilities disposed of: HEEEMBBZOMWT :

Investment properties HEMZE 926.5

Interest in associates it NG e 1.5

Property, plant and equipment L/ E8 Jﬂ%&éﬂ 2.6

Amounts due from associates JE Y B 2 N ) 6.7

Bank balances and cash RITH ﬁ?&fﬁi 28.1

Deposits received and other payables BlES R E A ERFRIA (121.3)

Taxation payable JERTHRIR (6.9)

Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE (60.4)
Net assets disposed of HERZEEFE 776.8
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RHB AR ZIRES

Consideration received and receivable B ERARE 1,410.9

Net assets disposed of e BEFE (776.8)
Gain on disposal recognised WEMENTEZSE 2

as realised gain on change in fair value of B IR WA & R iR e

investment properties 634.1
Net cash inflow arising from disposal: HEREEZHEMAERE

Cash consideration received BYERSNRE 1,400.4

Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of B HERZIRITERKAES (28.1)

1,372.3

The deferred consideration was settled in cash by the purchaser in May
2011.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the principal asset
of DP Properties Limited is the investment properties and thus the
disposal was accounted for in the consolidated income statement as
disposal of investment properties.

BEEREBEN2011F5 ARETNRESES °

NN T EER A DP Properties Limited 2 £ 2
BEDNREYE  BAREENREERER
FTARIREYEZHE -

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March 2011 and 2010 have been arrived at on the basis of
valuation carried out by the following independent firms of
qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group
who have appropriate qualifications and recent experiences
in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.
The valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence
of transaction prices for similar properties and by reference to
net rental income allowing for reversionary income potential
using the applicable market yields for the respective locations
and types of properties as the discount rates. The valuation
of investment properties under construction amounted to
HK$110.0 million (2011: nil) as at 31 March 2010 was arrived
at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for
similar properties, on the basis that the properties will be
developed and completed in accordance with the Group’s
latest development proposals, after taking into account of the
estimated construction costs to completion to reflect the quality
of the completed development.

&5 6 M B ok I

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

REBMN2011F K2010F3 A31B 2
BREMERNFEILAT B EEIL &
FREY AEGEE BRSO NER AR
HZBUMEHELSRZBILISERE
EMEMITETHRECEESE - %A
BESMARYEAERLI R ER 2 ER
S REERIRE - 2FRUMEK
RE2MEEERZ2EZFHEHERARE
R BB AR 2 TEETT ° R 20104
3A3l AERKREYRZBER1I00A
F%i%ﬁ (201145 : &) H2RELUMEZ
B PERKE  AYERSRERN
%lZEﬁﬁ%@ﬁm%)ﬁ&ﬁﬁzﬁ%ﬁ%
B BEPEFFAMBETRENN - UK
RETTRBERAEBCEE -

Location of BEME
Name of valuer investment properties LB kD & FE FEXZHE
DTZ Debenham Tie Hong Kong and PRC HEZTHR AT EAKH
Leung Limited
DTZ Debenham Tie Japan HEZTHERA A B
Leung Limited (note) (BFEE)
N&A Appraisal Company Thailand N&A Appraisal R
Limited Company Limited

Note: DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited has engaged DTZ Debenham
Tie Leung KK, its member firm in Japan to carry out the valuation
of the Group’s properties in Japan.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

iz : MERTERAREZERRBARZ
}ﬂZ 8 /A 7]DTZ Debenham Tie Leung
 MAEER B R MFEETHE -

AEERARKEHE IET?ﬂ’E%HWEi
HIEBEARTHERE ZMERRIGRA
FEEAGFE X BERARINERE
e
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

16. Y13 ~ W5 Mo st

EQUIPMENT
Furniture, Plant, Ferries,
Commercial fitures  machinery  launches
Hotel ~ Freehold  Landand Construction and leisure  Leasehold and and  and motor
properties land  buildings inprogress facilitiesimprovements equipment equipment  vehicles Total
KA HAR & il » BB &
EEGE Rt THRET ABIR  RESE  DERE RERSG BERSE SMRSE it
HKSM HKSM HK$M HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM HKSM
BERT BERT BERT  BEET  BEAT  BEAT  BEAT  BEAT  BEAT  BEER
(note b) (note ¢)
(Hib) (Ko
CosT R
At 1 April 2009 R0M9F4A1R
- as original stated - B%251 1,159.6 293 4808 5624 6119 2025 2946 2618 4971 4365.0
~effect on changes in accounting policies - EHEREY TR
(Note 2(c)) (fiEE2(c) - -7 - - = = = - w7
-3 restated - &5 1,1596 294.3 6235 5624 6119 2025 2946 2618 4971 45017
Currency realignment ElaR 109.7 298 04 21 - 21 70 19 13 1543
Addtions HE 165 - - 4.1 15 184 178 06 137 1226
Properties under construction transferred TRNEBRERENS
to investment properties - - (54.1) (493) - - - - - (103.4)
Disposalsfwrite-off HE /Wi (132) - 01) (6.4) - (79) (224) (76) (332) (90.8)
Transfer to property held forfunder BERHEIEY
development for sale ¥R/ ERTNE - (75.3) - - - - - - = (753)
Transfer to investment properties BRERENR - - (38) - - - - - - (38)
Transfer 2 170 - 214 (69.3) = = 1) 250 - -
At 31 March 2010 (Restated) R2010%3A31R(E3) 12896 288 5933 4936 6134 2151 29%9 2817 4789 45113
Currency realignment EHRE 1236 176 76 17 = 23 85 83 16 1712
Additions AE 304 - 21 200 - 319 174 11 161 1246
Disposals/write-off HE /i (145) (34) - (28) - 81) (134) - (38) 46.0)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 15) HE— BT (fE15) - - - - - 91 (14) - - (105)
Transfer a3 127 - (43) (84) = = = - - -
At 31 March 2011 #201143F318 1,446.8 263.0 599.3 504.1 6134 232.1 308.0 291.1 4928 47506
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT FERAE
At 1 April 2009 R009E4A18
- a5 original stated - R%23) 4582 - 1795 - 3057 1309 1798 2340 3884 18765
—effect on changes n accounting policies - BHERE TE
(Note 2(c) (Hiz2Ac) - - 36 - - - - - - 36
- a5 restated - &j 4582 - 2131 - 3057 1309 1798 2340 3884 1910.1
Currency realignment EHRE 461 = 04 - = 13 57 15 09 59
Provided for the year TEERE 401 - 191 - 147 263 330 13 192 1537
Properties under construction transferred ERMFERZRENE
to investment properties - - (119 - - - - - - (119)
Eliminated on disposalsiwrite~off HE /MRS (106) - - - - (55) (202) (59) (223) (645)
Impairment loss recognised (nofe a) BERAESE (M) - - 345 - - - 12 %9 = 606
Transfer to investment properties BRELENE = = (34) - - - - - - (34)
At 31 March 2010 (Restated) R201053A31A(E31) 5338 - 2518 - 3204 1530 1995 2558 382 21005
Currency realignment EHaE 484 - 52 = = 15 6.1 48 10 67.0
Provided for the year RERRE 49 - 150 - 142 33 314 59 181 1528
Eliminated on disposalsfrite-off HE /WEEHE (143) = - - = (52) (88) - (36) (319)
Eiminated on disposal of a subsiciary (Note 15) & —FMBARREH (i 15) - - - - - (66) (13) - - (79)
Impairment loss recognised (nofe ) BEREEEE (i) - - = = = = 100 = = 100
At 31 March 2011 R201153F318 612.8 - 272.0 - 334.6 166.0 236.9 266.5 4017 2,2905
CARRYING VALUES RafE
At 31 March 2011 R201143R8318 834.0 263.0 3213 504.1 278.8 66.1 711 24.6 911 24601
At 31 March 2010 (Restated) R2010%3 531 A (E31) 7558 2138 3415 1936 2930 62.1 974 259 9%2.7 24108
At 1 April 2009 (Restated) RO0E4A1A(E]) 1014 294.3 4104 5624 3062 716 1148 218 108.7 25916

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 £t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS

Notes:

(@) In the opinion of the directors, certain of its property, plant
and equipment were impaired at 31 March 2011 as a result of
operating losses of an operation under the healthcare segment
(2010: manufacturing segment) in the PRC. The impairment
loss of HK$10.0 million (2010: HK$60.6 million) was recognised
based on the recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment accordingly.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment for the
healthcare (2010: manufacturing) operation was estimated based
on a value—in—use calculation and the calculation was based on
the budgeted cash flow approved by the management covering a
five—year period at a discount rate of 7.00% (2010: 6.66%).

(b)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s plant, machinery and
equipment included an amount of HK$0.5 million (2010: HK$2.7
million) in respect of assets held under finance leases.

(c)  During the year ended 31 March 2010, a ferry of the Group was
damaged by fire beyond repair and its carrying amount value
of HK$9.8 million was written off in the accounts. At 31 March
2011 and 31 March 2010, no account has been taken of any
insurance recovery in this connection as the amount cannot be
determined with any degree of accuracy.

Items of property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are depreciated on a straight line basis, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold land No depreciation

Hotel properties 30 - 86 years
Land and buildings, commercial

and leisure facilities 10 - 40 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 -5 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 5 - 15 years
Ferries, launches and motor vehicles 5 - 20 years

As at 31 March 2011, included in construction in progress was
interest capitalised of HK$13.8 million (2010: HK$13.8 million)
not yet transferred to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment.

GAMBEREN

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

G

(@) EFRA BREEKRED (2010

$ %L"*ﬂ )RR ERK KEEE

ETHE - BBEERBER2011F

3H 31 BHIRRE - REZFWE - K

B K&tz AT MR Bl £ RA TR 2 R B 1R

#=10.0B8 8B (20104 : 60.6 AEB
JT)°

ZEBRERLE (20104 « BE) ¥
M - BB KR 2 TTIREl S B8 TR E
FREEETHE 2 ERAKEEE
HOERERFH 2 RS MIE R M AR X
7.00% (20104 : 6.66%) 5t o

(b) AEBERE  WERREZERMERE
EEBREREHERBEEEZST05
BEBL(2010F : 27HEET) °

(c) REZE2010F3A31RILFE A&
B —fEmEAANGEE - EREE
HIEMEISH B A LE NZEFIEM
iH o 20113 A31 B &2010%3 A
318 - AR EESBEEEARE
WIZEET - B ER T ARRE o

W% - BEAZREER (EZITRERIN)
RESERA T A AMERFRINE -

KASEREL M WETE
B E Y 30E864F
THREF mAK

FRELER TR 10 & 404
HEMEEE 5%
R - KB REE 3E5F
W - R kG 5% 154
g~ AM&AE 5E204F
M2011F3 A31 8 ' sTAEEZIREFZ

BERMEAMEE138FEE T (20105 -
138FERET) ARBREYX « BEK
REWEE R
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The carrying value of properties shown above comprises: b E ZEmERE
Hotel properties Freehold land Land and buildings
EENE KAEELH T REF
3132011 3132010 142000 3132011 3132010 142009 31.3.2011 3132010  1.4.2009
HKS$'M HK$M HKSM ~ HK$'M HK$M HKSM — HK$M HK$M HK$M
Bg#n RBEAT BE¥r HEBRT BEFr  REAT  EEB#RT  BEAT  BEER
(Restated)  (Restated)
(831) (&5
Freehold outside Hong Kong UREBMIMEE 2
A% 209.4 190.7 1766 263.0 %838 2943 - = =
Long leases outside Hong Kong A BELIMNEE 2
RERL 624.6 565.1 5248 - - - - - -
Medium term leases outside REBNIMIE
Hong Kong R ERA) - - = - = - 325 350 67.3
Long leases in Hong Kong WREE 2 RERE = - = - = - 105.9 107.9 110.0
Medium term leases in Hong Kong ~ fuiA B 7 2 1 4) = = = - = = 175.0 182.1 2140
Short leases in Hong Kong IREE  BHRL - - = - = = 139 165 19.1
834.0 7558 701.4 263.0 24838 2943 327.3 3415 4104
17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. VAL E Ak
The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise: NEEZEMHBEENABE :
31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEATT BEABTT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (&%)
Leasehold land in Hong Kong UREBEBHELH
Short leases EHEAME A 1.9 2.2 25
Leasehold land R EBAIME 2
outside Hong Kong TE T
Long leases REIFEL 18.0 16.5 153
Medium term leases FREFFRAY 15.9 15.7 16.2
35.8 34.4 34.0

Leasehold interest in land is released over the terms of the
leases on a straight line basis.

Rtz HERSIZERAEREEL -
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18. GOODWILL 18. R
HK$'M
BEET
COST FE
At 1 April 2009 MR20094F4 A1 H 26.6
Arising from acquisition of additional interests ~ #2E& &3 75 2F &
in subsidiaries of manufacturing segment BERED I B
and healthcare segment NEESTEYA 55
At 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2011 M2010£3 A31HX 201143 H31H 32.1
IMPAIRMENT i E
At 1 April 2009 R2009F4 A 1H 17.4
Impairment loss recognised for the year FEERZREEE 14.7
At 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2011 M20103 331 HX 201143 H31H 32.1
CARRYING VALUE BREE

At 31 March 2011

R2011463A31H -

At 31 March 2010

20103 A31H -

For impairment test purpose, the recoverable CGU had
been determined based on value—in—use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projection based on financial budgets
approved by the management covering a five-year period and
discounted to their present value. The discount rates used
for the year ended 31 March 2010 were 6.50% and 6.66%
for CGU of healthcare segment and manufacturing segment
respectively. No growth rate is assumed in the calculation.
Another key assumption for the value—in—use calculations is the WER -
budgeted gross margin, which is determined on the units’ past
performance and management’s expectation for the market

development.

The management of the Group determined an impairment
loss of goodwill of HK$9.4 million and HK$5.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2010 (see Note 7) in respect of the
subsidiaries in the healthcare segment and manufacturing

BEARANE REELEBM 2K
i%ﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁ{?‘i@ﬁr EEETE ° #%
EHERENRARK Eﬁﬁﬂkb)&i&%‘%
ﬂiﬁﬁzﬁﬁkﬁgqﬂziﬁifﬁﬁtﬁﬂ '

BRI EREFEHRME - %Zi2010¢3ﬂ31
AEtFEBEREIBREESEBZ
REEABMDARACHRESFIA
6.50% N 6.66% ° 5t & F I £ B &AL
S—EFREEHAEREZZE
EBRRRBEEMN  DERBEMIAERR

EREEYMBSERCTEHEE

HZE2010F3A31HIEFE - AEBEE
i@#ﬁé%fé%ﬂhw%ﬁ/hlﬁzw

RRAS A REBESFALIEE
,%75&5.35%,%75 (RMzE7) - BERIE

segment be recognised in profit or loss, respectively. TEHERR ©
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/
AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

19. W= EJZ*%?IE / W WU

B IR
31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BHEET BEST BEBT
(Restated) (Restated)

(&51) (&5)

Cost of investment in associates

NN AP EN

Listed in Hong Kong RES E 160.2 160.2 160.2
Unlisted JELT 72.7 0.1 243
Share of post-acquisition profits, FEIE W R 1R R A -
net of dividends received HIBR E WA B 280.0 211.2 135.3
Share of reserves FE(LfEE 1.2 0.4 0.3
514.1 3719 320.1
Amounts due from associates JFE A Bk 2 N B F0E
(Note 26) (B&E 26) 898.9 951.6 1,273.8
Share of post-acquisition JEMRRLRETETREZ
losses of an associate covered —MEB & QR EE
by binding obligation (note) (BEE) (703.6) (740.1) (797.4)
195.3 2115 476.4
Fair value of a listed investment —IB EmRE 2 AYE 260.4 234.6 76.0

Note: The Group is obliged to make good the net deficit of TCSDCL in
proportion to its interest in TCSDCL. At the end of the reporting

period, the Group’s obligation in this connection amounted to
HK$703.6 million (2010: HK$740.1 million) and accordingly, the
same amount has been recognised in the consolidated statement

of financial position and presented as a deduction from the

Group’s advances to TCSDCL.

Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March

2011 are set out in Note 43.

sk : AEBEHETCSDCLZ FEE « Lt
PIRE R TCSDCL #E % » M & HA
R AEBEELFREEER7036
AEAET(20104:740. 15%‘7577:)
ZESRENEE MBRRKRHER
MK E4 T TCSDCL Z B8y -

REFEN2011FE3A31 BT EHMENR
A2 F BRI EEA43 -

s L b I T A A ]
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The summarised financial information, taken into account the = RKEE @ ER|FE 1258 BT K 7 &
effect of amendments to HKAS 12 in respect of the Group’s £ B AEFE L A5 2 B EE L
associates is set out below: BEHWOT -
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEATT
(Restated)
(&%)
Investment properties B 958.5 852.8
Properties held for/under development RHELEZBE / BERP Y
for sale 775.5 397.1
Sale proceeds held by stakeholders RE ANFTRHEE SRR 199.3 282.3
Bank balances and cash RITEB IR 388.8 437.8
Other assets Hih&EE 591.1 751.4
Total assets BEBE 2,913.2 2,721.4
Other payables to shareholders H A FET AR R k1B (2.8) (2.5)
Loans from shareholders RERE R (2,890.0) (3,168.4)
Other liabilities HEMaE (1,030.1) (1,161.9)
Total liabilities BERE (3,922.9) (4,332.8)
Net liabilities BEFHE (1,009.7) (1,611.4)
Group's share of net assets of associates AEBELEE AR EEFE 525.8 383.5
Group's share of net liabilities of associates AREBEHEE AR AEFE (706.0) (742.4)
(180.2) (358.9)
Unrealised profits REIREF 9.3) (9.3)
(189.5) (368.2)
Turnover R 753.1 1,270.0
Profit for the year NEE %A 253.5 263.0
Group’s share of results of REEELEE AR
associates for the year RNEEEE
(net of unrealised profit of HK$0.9 million (IR KRB I HFO0OOE BB T
(2010: HK$1.3 million)) (2010%F : 1.3E&EAT) ) 150.1 116.8
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20. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES

The Group had a 50% and 49% equity interest in Dazhongli and
City Grace Company Limited (“City Grace”), respectively and an
analysis is as follows:

20. ] ) Bl > HE AR

7N &£ E A A & B K City Grace Company
Limited ([City Gracel) % 5% & 50% &
49% WA HEes - HOMT ¢

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEAT
Dazhongli (note a) AHE (Ffizka) 5,676.5 49185
City Grace (note b) City Grace (Hd7Eb) 334.7 -
6,011.2 49185
Notes: BsE -
(@)  Dazhongli (@) KRHE

Dazhongli and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli Group”) are engaged
in the development of investment properties and hotel properties
in the Jingan District of Shanghai in the PRC.

AP BREMBAF ([ APEEHE])
HEBHRUNTELEFRRIIREY
EMBEWE -

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BEBT BEBTT

Cost of unlisted shares FE_ETRRAD 2 AR 0.1 0.1
Share of reserves (note i) FEfL AR (FIRED) 474.5 267.3
Share of post acquisition gains (note ii) FEMR Wi 18 s (BT i) 813.5 734.2
1,288.1 1,001.6

Loans to Dazhongli BRFARE 4,388.4 3,916.9
5,676.5 49185

Further advances of HK$471.5 million (2010: HK$10.6 million)
were made during the year by the Group to Dazhongli to finance
its share of development expenditure.

FR AKERAARTEE - FBRK
47158 &% T (20104 : 106 B B8
TO)  EREDBZERANZES °

Vs B B AR A R A
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The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, non—interest bearing and
have no fixed terms of repayments. The Group has no intention
to exercise its right to demand repayment of these loans within
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
The directors believe the settlement of these loans is not likely to
occur in the foreseeable future as they are, in substance, a part of
the Group’s net investment in Dazhongli Group as the proceeds of
the loans have been substantially used by the Dazhongli Group to
inject as registered capital into its PRC subsidiaries. Accordingly,
the amount is classified as non—current asset and included in the
Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities for the purpose of
presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The summarised financial information in respect of Dazhongli
Group as at 31 March 2011 is set out below:

ZER - AR AT EEECKERME
ZHRBT AR BB R REREME
K BEREXFEFHTENA LR
KREEE  HZERERAKERAF
BEEZHMOREFE - At - BN
RESRIERBEEL A AREER L
RIEGI B 2 e - EREGS MR
AREY -

AP EEEN2011F3 83182871
BHEIZEWT

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
HEET BEATT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties under construction B 11,166.6 9,799.1
Hotel properties under construction and =i EY
equipment 538.1 467.6
Other non—current assets HMIEREEE 142.8 183.4
11,847.5 10,450.1
Current assets MENEE
Bank balances and cash RITHB RS 394.5 198.2
Other current assets HivnE&EE 77.7 72.9
472.2 271.1
Current liabilities mEBaE
Loans from shareholders R E K (8,776.8) (7,833.8)
Other current liabilities Hivmghak (369.3) (366.9)
(9,146.1) (8,200.7)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERLBARE 3,173.6 2,520.5
Non-current liability EMBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIES F (597.4) (517.3)
Net assets FEE 2,576.2 2,003.2
Group’s share of net assets REEEGEEZE 1,288.1 1,001.6
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For the year ended The capital commitments of Dazhongli at 31 March 2011 were as KA EBER2011E3 A31 B 2 EREAE
31 March follows: W
BE3A31HILEE
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBT BEST BEAET
Change in fair value of investment properties EiEIREWE N FEZH) Contracted but not provided for EHENEREE 1,279.1 164.4
under construction 224.9 2,065.6 Authorised but not contracted for BEHEBRREL 7,292.5 859.1
Other operating income less expenses Hith 2 E W AR S (10.1) 11.2
Deferred taxation IEIERLTE (56.2) (516.4) 8,571.6 1,023.5
Net profit after taxation for the year NEERBIEFRT 158.6 1,560.4
P J - s The capital commitments of the Group’s interest in Dazhongli REBNR AT BEREZ 7 ENEE (5.
which represent 50% of the above will be financed by ML 50%) BHIREERI AR E
's share of result for th = B 79.3 780.2 DN ;
Group's share of result for the year ARBB AT 80 shareholders’ loan or direct borrowings of Dazhongli. CHEEEENES -
Notes: FisE - (b)  City Grace (b)  City Grace
(i)  The increase in share of reserves represents exchange (Y ElEREENIIREFEFRNETHRE
gains on translation during the year. = B 3 3 o During the current year, the Group has entered into a joint— NAEE  AEEEBYE=FFIVE

(i) The increase in share of post acquisition gains in the
current year mainly represents the fair value gain on
investment properties under construction.

The investment properties under construction was
measured at 31 March 2011 at fair value at HK$11,166.6
million (2010: HK$9,799.1 million) which was based on
the valuation conducted by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung
Limited, who have appropriate qualification and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations. This gave rise to a fair value gain
of HK$224.9 million (2010: HK$2,065.6 million). The
attributable taxation in respect of the gain was HK$56.2
million (2010: HK$516.4 million). Thus the net fair value
gain after tax amounted to HK$168.7 million (2010:
HK$1,549.2 million) of which the Group’s 50% share was
HK$84.3 million (2010: HK$774.6 million).

25 5 PO B 1 M 58 0
IR A LA TGS -

BIEBERITERAR (BERT
BRARIERHE A 2 RE
MEEBEFEBEABEEERSRE
sy ) BT 2 mE - EERE
YIER2011F3A31HZAFE
%11,166.6 B & % JT (20104 :
9,79.188HIL)  WgH2249
BEBT (20104 : 20656 B8
BIr) 2 AFERE - mlEZ
JE {5 B¢ 18 A 56.2 B & 38 7T (2010
F:5l64EBBET)  WHKRH
BrzAFEFKZAI8TE
BT (20104 : 1549258
L) e AEBEEEEATEREZ
50% * BN84.3 B B& T (20104 :
7746 BBAT) °

venture agreement with an independent third party to form a joint
venture company, City Grace, to acquire a piece of land located
in Bangkok, Thailand for Thai baht 2.5 billion (equivalent to
HK$651.7 million), for the development of residential buildings

LIk - LA % A R]City Grace * A
5EHk (HERESL7TEESET) K
B—RUNRESA s TH - ARER
FEREELE -

for sale.
2011
HK$'M
BEEBT
Cost of unlisted shares FE_EMRRG Z B A 6.3
Loans to City Grace E 3K F City Grace 328.4
334.7

Pursuant to the joint-venture agreement of City Grace, the
board of directors of City Grace decides on key financial and
operating matters on simple majority. The Group and the joint
venture partner each holds 50% of the voting right and hence
the directors of the Company consider the Group and the joint
venture partner exercise joint control over City Grace.

B City Grace 2 & & 7% * City Grace
ZERENUMBEZHRANETERNE
RISEET - AEBREEBRHSHS
50% 2 2 - At AR REZRR/AR
£ B MAEBEY City Grace T A
2 o
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The summarised financial information in respect of City Grace as

at 31 March 2011 is set out below:

City Grace? 20114 38 31 2K &
PHREE T

2011
HK$'M
BEET

Current assets MENEE
Property under development for sale BRPFEYHE 665.3
Bank balances and cash RITEBREIRS 7.7
Other current assets HEtmEhEE 2.6
675.6

Current liabilities P UN=NE
Loans from shareholders RER (662.1)
Other current liabilities HEtmEhaE (0.6)
(662.7)
Net assets FEE 12.9
Group’s share of net assets AEBEGEEFE 6.3
Net profit after taxation for the year REZRBIEFHTF =

Group’s share of result for the year

AEBEIGAFEFRE

The loans to City Grace are unsecured, denominated in Thai

baht, interest bearing at 3% per annum and have no fixed terms

of repayments. The Group has no intention to exercise its right to

demand repayment of these loans within the next twelve months

from the end of the reporting period. The directors believe the

settlement of these loans is not likely to occur in the foreseeable

future as the proceeds of the loans have been substantially used

by City Grace to acquire land for the development of residential

buildings. Accordingly, the amount is classified as non—current

asset and included in the Group’s interests in jointly controlled

entities for the purpose of presentation in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

B 7 F City Grace JHEE IR « A ZEKT
B FHEAEIERTERETERE -
REBEZNREHREITARKI2ME
ARNTEERMNEREEZZTER -
R City Grace B B) B R EB 9 B 3k A UL
BIERREEEFZAH  BESH
1= KA R &R 2K City Grace ™ KX A g 1E
EZEEX - Bt - BREMBMRRE

25imE - BASEEIEEREE

CWETAREER KRG E S 22

o

NG

Ik

E
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EQUITY SECURITIES
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21. BB R ATE I 2 B

Fair value measurement
at 31.3.2011 using:
M201143A31H

EATE
Level 1 Level 3
2011 F—IBAR F=ER
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEET BEET
Held-to—maturity investments FEIERE
Unlisted debt securities (note a) JEEMEBES (Kita)
Current mE 62.6
Non-current JEmB 84.2
146.8
Available—for—sale financial assets AHHESREE
Equity securities: fRAFEF
Listed, at fair value (note b) EW o BAYE
(H$7EDb) 58.9 58.9 -
Unlisted, at fair value (note c) JELET - BRAFEE
(FfizEc) 1.7 = 1.7
60.6 58.9 1.7
Analysed for reporting purposes as: REWMENZOTWT -
Non—current FERED 60.6
Financial assets at FVTPL /N W= E
(held for trading) ZERMBE (FEER)
Equity securities: BRAES
Listed equity securities ETRAFES
(note b) (FizEDb) 0.2 0.2 =
0.2 0.2 -
Market value of listed equity securities: ~_FHARARZE A2 HiE :
Listed in Hong Kong REB LM 49.6 49.6 -
Listed overseas RAEINET 9.5 9.5 =
59.1 59.1 -
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Fair value measurement
at 31.3.2010 using:
R2010F3 A31 H

SHEATE
Level 1 Level 3
2010 R AN E=ER
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEET BEBT
Held—to—maturity investments FEIERE
Unlisted debt securities (note a) FEMEBES (Miita)
Current mED 135.5
Non—current JERED 52.4
187.9
Available—for—sale financial assets A ESREE
Equity securities: IRAFES -
Listed, at fair value (note b) W BAY¥E
(Mi7EDb) 77.7 77.7 -
Unlisted, at fair value (note c) LT BAFE
(Mg3Ec) 10.7 — 10.7
88.4 77.7 10.7
Analysed for reporting purposes as: REMEN 2T :
Current ED 9.2
Non—current JERB 79.2
88.4
Financial assets at FVTPL BAERAER
(held for trading) ZEREE (FIEEE)
Equity securities: RARFES -
Listed equity securities (note b) ETRAES
(FfFEED) 0.2 0.2 -
Unlisted managed investment FELEMEREE
funds (note d) Eo (Mf3Ed) 128.4 = 128.4
128.6 0.2 128.4
Market value of listed equity securities: R AZE S 2 1A :
Listed in Hong Kong REB LT 70.4 70.4 =
Listed overseas AN ET 7.5 7.5 =
77.9 77.9 -

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t
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The fair values hierarchy are classified into the following levels:

o Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities; and

U Level 3 — using valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

Notes:

(@)  Held—to—maturity debt securities are measured at amortised cost
less any impairment losses. The fair value of the held—to—maturity
debt securities as at 31 March 2011 is HK$148.8 million (2010:
HK$189.4 million). The weighted average effective interest rate is
3.0% (2010: 2.6%) per annum.

(b)  The fair values of all listed securities are determined by reference
to the quoted market bid price available on the relevant
exchanges.

(c)  Unlisted equity securities include two investments in private
equities which are as follows:

(i) As at 31 March 2010, the unlisted equity securities
included in current assets was a direct investment in
preferred shares of a private company at HK$9.2 million
which were measured using valuation techniques in which
significant input was not based on observable market data
at 31 March 2010. The Group disposed of the investment
with reference to a valuation as at 31 December 2009
during the year ended 31 March 2011.

(i)  An investment in a venture capital fund at HK$1.7
million (2010: HK$1.5 million) which are measured using
valuation techniques based on inputs that can be observed
in the market in addition to unobservable inputs such as
company specific financial information.

G B M B R I 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

NHEBED BANEA -

F—EBH - AEEEFXREERR
RS 2 WE (EHE) &

FZER - ARBEESREBEZBA
B SHRIRABR 2 MI58IE (3F
AEREE) o

it

(b)

(c)

5 2 B BB 58 25 7Y DAE 88 B AN R (E ()
REEBEMTE - HEINPEHIESFRN
2011F3A31HZ A FEAFAL488H
BT (20104 : 189.4 &AL ) N
BYHERFMES3.0% (20104 :
2.6%) °

A LTESRZ AFEDIZZERERS
MHEZBEAERMETE -

FEEMARAZ S B4 T MBERARK
R2EE -

() M201043 8318 ' stARBHE
EZIELMRAZRST—HRAL
ARRBEBRZBEZIREQ2EE
Bt TERGERMEE - Z
R 2 B A2 HH7 2010
F3 A3 AW RIEATHERTIS
HEMET - NEIE2011F3 A
31 ALFE - ANEBMAHR 2009 F
12A31 Bz HELHERERE -

(iy —HAREREAESZIRELTA
ST (20106:1.58887T)
TERBERMEE - AKX
hZBAZBAREABRENS
BB LR BRBB AR E
MBERMEE °
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(d)

The movement in the unlisted equity securities are as follows:

FLMBRAESFZEEINT

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BEAT BEBTT

Balance at beginning of the year FUEER 10.7 15
Total gains in other comprehensive income — Efh & EU R4 %8 0.2 9.2
Proceeds from disposal HERTSFIE (9.2) -
Balance at end of the year FRER 1.7 10.7

Included in other comprehensive income is a gain of HK$0.2
million (2010: HK$9.2 million) related to unlisted equity securities
held at the end of the reporting period and has been credited to
investment revaluation reserve.

These investments represented funds placed in prior years to a
fund manager, who is a related party (see Note 44(A)(ii)), for the
purpose of making investments primarily on a joint basis with
fund-of—funds manager in a number of hedge funds. During the
year ended 31 March 2011, the Group completed the disposal of
the remaining investments in hedge funds with reference to the
valuation as at 31 December 2009.

The movement in the portfolio are as follows:

AAEMEEREZ02E 8B Tk
(20104 : 9.2BEBIL) HEMREH
AFBEZIELTRAES - WEFHAR
BB -

ZERBRUNIFEFRR —BESK
BrE®  BA—BBEAT (R
44(A)i) - TEERREESLIENES
B ESIERRIRE - REE2011
FI3A3AILEFE  REELE2009
FI2A3AZHELERBZE T E
4> e

AaBBIT

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET ABEBT

Balance at beginning of the year FHEEHR 128.4 344.5
Proceeds from disposals &S FT1S50R (128.4) (239.8)
Realised gain recognised in the consolidated FRRLREWRRIERZ

income statement during the year BRI - 18.7
Unrealised gain recognised in the FRARGFE NS RERZ

consolidated income statement RER W

during the year = 50
Balance at end of the year FRERR - 128.4

T s BL % (o] 4 [ A LA ]
2010/2011 4t
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22. OTHER ASSETS 22. At A
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT
Mortgage instalment receivables (note a) fElIZRIE o BRIt 3R (5T a) 8.1 17.3
Option fee refundable (note b) REREEE (MEb) 7.8 7.6
Loans to an investee (note c) MBI B RE K (MizEc) 106.6 21.3

Unlisted membership debentures and LTmERAEFREMERE

other assets 6.9 7.0
1294 53.2

Notes:

The mortgage instalment receivables represent the financing
provided to buyers of development properties of the Group. The
amounts bear interest at prime rate minus 1% and are receivable
by instalments over a period of not more than 20 years from the
sale of the relevant flats. The receivables are secured by a second
mortgage over the properties. The portion of mortgage instalment
receivables due within one year of HK$0.7 million (2010: HK$1.2
million) is included as trade receivables in current assets.

This represents an option fee of HK$14.0 million paid by the
Group to a related party, Castro Valley Properties, Inc. (“CVPI")
in 1996 pursuant to a proposed property project which was
subsequently not proceeded with.

Under the terms of the termination agreement entered into
in 1997, the amount is repayable by CVPI to the Group in
instalments, the amount of each instalment being based on the
gross income of CVPI each year with interest accruing at 1%
per annum on the outstanding balance. Based on information
provided by CVPI, the amount is expected to be fully repaid by
2031.

The balance outstanding at 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010
represents (a) the fair value of the amount receivable determined
using the discount rate applicable at the date of inception of
4.51% per annum (“the adjusted outstanding principal”) and
(b) less repayments received attributable to the settlement of the
adjusted outstanding principal since that date.

BT -

(a)

FENZIR D IR IR R T AREME
HRERZBE o IHFIRREERE
WMIERE  YEEABEEEMEH
‘RABIB20F Ay U E - 1tk FE Ut
RIVABBEYEIEE —ILBEM - R —
FREMzBEIRB O BHR0TES
7T (20104 : 1.2 B&ET) Eft AHE
MBEEZREEZRRA

It T8 45 AN &£ [ 1A 1996 4F 1R 1 — TH i
Y ETEE MR — & & A L Castro
Valley Properties, Inc. ([CVPI]) = f
40EBB T REBESE  ZEABEEH
BATIEARIEAETT ©

BIER 1997 F 5] L 2 R IE & 2 1§
3K CVPIZES BRI AN & B (E I 50H -
HEBERECVPIEFAWRAGTEL B
REBZHBEREF1I%TEFNE - B
B CVPIRMHE 2 BXl - TREIZEFRIBEFRN
2031 FEHEE -

M20114F 3 A31 8 KX2010F3 A31 H
HMAREEESRRQFERAKRAHRE
AR REFASI%EBEZEREE
NEE ([EAERREEERE ) R (O
FEZAHBREARREELAE 2EW
BUEHK ©
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Amounts received from CVPI are recognised as interest income
based on the discount rate of 4.51% per annum on the adjusted
outstanding principal and the balance is attributable to settlement
of the adjusted outstanding principal.

CVPI is a related party of a trust, the discretionary objects of
which include the issue of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late Chairman of
the Company and some of them are directors of the Company.

(c) The Group owns a 15% interest in an unlisted company
incorporated in Singapore which holds a commercial complex
comprising a retail mall, two office towers and a hotel in the
city of Tianjin, the PRC. As at 31 March 2010, the Group had
outstanding loans to that company with carrying amounts of
HK$21.3 million, net of provision of HK$85.3 million. In view
of the recent completion of the commercial complex owned by
that company and the state of the property market in Tianjin, the
PRC, the Group has reassessed the recoverability of the loans
and reversed the provision for the loans of HK$85.3 million
made in prior years to reinstate the carrying amount of the
loans to HK$106.6 million as at 31 March 2011. The loans are
unsecured, interest—free and repayable on demand. The directors
determined that the Group might not demand for repayment
within twelve months from the end of the reporting period and
hence classified the loans as a non—current asset.

The directors consider the carrying amounts of the Group’s
mortgage instalment receivables, option fee refundable
and loans to an investee at the end of the reporting period
approximate their corresponding fair values.

23. INVENTORIES

ECVPIRER v S IR B FHEAREE
RERGFA51%MFRERSHN S
A MBREREHEREESNS -

CVPIR—REFEZEAL - HRIFY
RERARFCHIFEEERELNHR
W WERBD/ANRAES °

(c) AKER—FEFIKEMKLZIE LT
NAVGEHR 15% 2w - ZARRPER
RERE-HERESEAE  BEEEY
Bl MERAERERE—FEEE - ®
2010563 A31H ' AKBEEAZ A A
ZABEESIREER/2213BEET
EHRBESSIARAT - ENZ AR
BAEZARGEBIIHER - P
BXZZMETGIRR - AEECEH
FHEZERZ PR ERE R 2011 4 3
A3l BB EFFEHERBES.3 R
BET  EXRREERMEDS106.6
BEET - ZERAEER - 8RR
BREE - EFRTEAKERNHRE R
12 ARTEEREE - AUtz ER
DERIERBEE -

EEZRA - RHREHRKR AEEZEK
BB\ EMK - ARERBEE NLAE
BAREHRERZEmEREEBEAT
(ERIEE=

23. # &

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BEBT BEAT

Consumables S 58.1 53.2
Raw materials R E 8.8 7.1
Work in progress - BURK i 3.2 32
Finished goods SURK i 90.6 71.2

160.7 134.7

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit period allowed by the Group to its customers is
dependent on the general practice in the industry concerned.
For property sales, sales terms vary for each property project
and are determined with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. Sales of properties are normally completed upon
the execution of legally binding, unconditional and irrevocable
contracts and the sale prices are usually fully paid when the
properties are assigned to the purchasers. Deferred payment
terms are sometimes offered to purchasers at a premium.
Property rentals are receivable in advance. Payments for
healthcare, clubs and hotel services are receivable on demand.
The general credit terms allowed for customers of manufactured
goods range from 30 to 90 days.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented
on the payment due date at the reporting date:

G B M B R I 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

24. FEWCE ik

AEBGRTERPZEERRFERA—
RIEGIETE - WWEHEMS - HEK
FRREWMEEAME  UREERTR
BE - VEHE-RNBLEEAROR
N BHEERTAREERKTK
EEMBERYEEZRTE IR 2HH
- BERAREN K - EH S
B - MEHS AR - BERE -
G P KOB TE IRTE 2 B R AR B SR AR
BN - BRRERMETEPHN—REER
HiB 30290 KT EE »

AT REWE 5 RKN RS BIRE AN
KEEE| D 2 BRI DT -

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEATT

Not yet due B 39.5 24.5
Overdue: #Hf -

0 - 60 days 0— 60X 59.3 59.1

61 — 90 days 61 — 90k 5.2 4.5

Over 90 days BB 90K 6.8 4.1

110.8 92.2

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are
receivables with aggregate carrying amount of HK$71.3 million
(2010: HK$67.7 million) which are past due at the reporting
date for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

AEBZERESERBIENRREAE
FIHA My AN &8 B N0 K phOR (B B 18 1E B
ZEREREREEAEAR7IIEERT
(20105 : 67.7B&BL) - AEEI &
MRS EBRFTEEMERR -
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The Group has provided allowance for receivables overdue
beyond 120 days because historical experience is such that
receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are generally not
recoverable. Management closely monitors the credit quality of

AEE D B8 BB 120 X 2 FE WK IE
RERE  HHBARRBEERLR &%
FE R 120 R 2 R UYGRIR — Rt T
AimE - ERET YRR EKE SRR

trade receivables and considers the trade receivables that are  Z{=ZEHEH = @ WR AZZ I EE H IR
neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit quality. BZEWESEFEERIFZIZEEZE -
MOVEMENT IN THE ALLOWANCE FOR R B 2 52 8)
DOUBTFUL DEBTS

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M
BEETT BEATT

Balance at beginning of the year FYVER 20.1 19.8
Impairment loss recognised on receivables FEWRIBRER < B E & 18 5.7 2.6
Amounts recovered during the year FRURE Z ZIA (1.7) (0.1)
Amounts written off as uncollectible W SH A B 2 5RIR (13.4) (2.5)
Currency realignment Bk 0.4 0.3
Balance at end of the year FRER 11.1 20.1

The fair values of the Group’s trade receivables at 31 March
2011 approximate the corresponding carrying amounts due to
relatively short-term maturity.

HRAEEZBKE ZRK 2 ZIHHH
e WZEFREN 201143 /31 H
Z A EEEMEREERS

Vs B B AR A R A
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25. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

50 I 5 ok I

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

25. FRAE I Z B / B
UES

DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEAT
Discovery Bay development project BREERIER 1,409.3 939.4
Other properties held for/under development  FEEINEMIFIELREZ
for sale outside Hong Kong R/ BEPME 1,318.1 795.7
2,727.4 1,735.1
The carrying value of properties shown EXFIRZMERABERE :
above comprises:
Freehold KA SR 1,318.1 795.7
Medium term leases FRHATE A9 1,409.3 939.4
2,727.4 1,735.1

At the end of the reporting period, total borrowing costs
capitalised in the properties held for/under development for
sale were HK$126.6 million (2010: HK$123.6 million). The
properties held for/under development for sale amounting to
HK$871.6 million (2010: HK$1,015.7 million) is expected to
be recovered after twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

26. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
() AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, non—
interest bearing and have no fixed repayment terms.
Except for an amount of HK$104.2 million (2010: nil)
included in non—current assets, the directors expected
the remaining amount will be settled within twelve months
from the end of the reporting period and the carrying
values approximate their fair values due to relatively short—
term maturity.

RIREHAR - 126.6 A& BT (20104 -
1236BEBBT) CREEKRAEBIE
BIEHECER/ BRPWEZHA -
8716 E BB T (2010 : 101578 8
BT ) ZEEREZBR / BRTMETE
HIRSREHAR 128 A& Uk -

26. oAt b A
(1) HEBCIBH 2 5 7 AR

FEUR B & N RIFRIETY KR - B
LA R 3 48 B FE 3B SR ER o BRETAZETR
BEECSFE1042BEBT (2010
Fo®) ETHEHEKRTEER
WEHRBET 12MEAREE - M
RZERAEZFBABEERRE
HIFEEEE N FERS -

189



190

HKR International Limited
Annual Report 2010/2011

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
50 B R M

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 20114 3 A 31 A1 F/Z

(ID OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group'’s
deposits, other financial assets, amount due from a jointly
controlled entity and pledged bank deposits to secure
short—term bank loans at the end of the reporting period
approximate their corresponding fair value due to relatively
short—term maturity.

The pledged bank deposits and bank deposits carry
interest at market rates.

27. TRADE PAYABLES, PROVISION
AND ACCRUED CHARGES

Included in trade payables, provision and accrued charges are
trade payables of HK$226.7 million (2010: HK$164.3 million),
an aged analysis of which is as follows:

(1) H At < il 5 s

EERR RNBEHR  A5ERK
T HieREE - RKHKFES
B RE A MR A AE RIRTER
ZEERBTEREREREAR
HEEE 2 BHE - R A EIRY
HEERRAFERS -

B TR BB TR
SBFI%E 8 -

27. WEATE SR ~ 1kt e
nt 2 H

[ENE SRR - BENMEABRATAIE
JENE ZEREF226.7 A& BT (2010 -
1643E&HBL)  EREESTAT :

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BEBT BEATT

Not yet due e A< 2 BA 174.6 1215
Overdue: B

0 — 60 days 0 — 60K 39.7 27.7

61 — 90 days 61 — 90k 5.2 1.2

Over 90 days i@ 90 KX 7.2 13.9

226.7 164.3

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days.

The directors consider the carrying amount of trade payables at
the end of the reporting period approximate their corresponding
fair value due to relatively short—term maturity.

REER 2 FHRRBAOX -

EER5 RMEHR dRENES
BRI ERE  MERmEER
HigEAFERSE -

vl B I B AR A R A )
2010/2011 4E#t
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The trade payables, provision and accrued charges include
provisions for certain construction obligations of HK$234.1
million (2010: HK$280.0 million). In the course of the property
development activities, the Group is obliged to construct certain
common or public facilities within the development projects
in accordance with the development plans approved by the
relevant authorities. Provision for such construction costs
has been made when a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of this obligation and the details of the movement of the
provision are set out below:

G B M B R I 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

ENE SRR  BEREFEARER
AT EREREMERE2418EET
(20104 : 280.0E&BL) - AEE#E
TMHXBREH 2BET @ AREEH
ERMEZERNE  NBEEBRNE
BETAHRIAREE - Atk - A&E
ERATE L IEFMERAEZ S BEL IS
fhatEE - AR SFEERAIEL B - 1t
TR SEFFBHYINT

HK$'M

BEATT

Balance at 1 April 2009 M20094F 4 A 1 H 2 &8k 310.0
Utilised during the year FRHHA (30.0)
Balance at 31 March 2010 MR 20104 3 A 31 B 2 &% 280.0
Utilised during the year FRBHH (45.9)
Balance at 31 March 2011 HN20114£3 A31 Hz&& 234.1
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28. DEFERRED TAXATION

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t
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The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

reporting years:

28. EHERLIE

EEREZRLTHRA (BE) EEANE
RIRITRBERRFE 2 BB

Fair value Distributable
Accelerated  change of profits of
tax  investment Tax aPRC
depreciation  properties losses  subsidiary Others Total
—RHE
REWE G PG
MEREHE AFEEDH  HESE TRIREH Hit @t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BERT BEAT REAT BEBT  BEAT  REARN
(note)
(BzE)
At 1 April 2009 R2009F4 818
~as original stated — REZ5 (199.1) (296.6) 18.1 = 119 (465.7)
— effect on changes in accounting — BHERRE FE
policies (Note 2(c)) (BEE2(c)) = 1309 = = = 1309
—as restated — EJ (199.1) (165.7) 181 = 119 (334.8)
Currency realignment BEAR (3.0 03) 0.1 - = (32)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss STA (0% ) B2 38 1246 344 (27.6) 09 136.1
Credit to investment revaluation SAREERGEE
reserve - - = = (0.9) (0.9)
At 31 March 2010 (Restated) 1201063 A31H (£31) (198.3) (41.4) 526 (27.6) 11.9 (202.8)
Currency realignment BEAE 4.2) (16) 40 = 0.1 (17)
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (k) st AEBa (05) 45 32 = 02 74
Credit to investment revaluation STAREERHE
reserve - - - - 0.4) 0.4)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 15) HE—RMELR (K1) 434 = = = 17.0 60.4
At 31 March 2011 201153 A31H (159.6) (38.5) 59.8 (27.6) 28.8 (137.1)

Note: These mainly represent net deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised in relation to unrealised profit of certain property
development projects.

3 WP EBRTETYERRER £E
BN RR 2 EERAAE (B8F)
FH -

For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
(after offset) for financial reporting purposes:

RERSEEFBMARME - ETEE
MEEESRBBEERAKREZ @ HR
i - LT AARMBE2HE W ZEE
MIRAERR (IR ) DA -

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 1.4.2009

HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BHEET BHEBIT BHEBTT

(Restated) (Restated)

(E%) (&%)
Deferred tax liabilities EETIEAE (144.7) (206.0) (337.5)
Deferred tax assets LRI E 7.6 3.2 2.7
(137.1) (202.8) (334.8)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$936.9 million (2010: HK$836.3 million) available
for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately HK$362.4 million (2010:
HK$318.8 million) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$574.5 million
(2010: HK$517.5 million) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. As at 31 March 2010, included in recognised tax
losses of approximately HK$47.1 million (2011: nil) would expire
in 2013. Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$169.0 million (2010: HK$152.0
million) arising from impairment losses recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

RBEMR  AEBAREAREBES
9369 B & T (20104 : 836.3 A& B
7T) - AT AREIERRER - AEEE 5
HP#362.4F &8 T (20104 : 3188
BEAL) EEERECHELE  #
I £ FLER BB 57458 &% 7T (2010 F -
Pl75B8ET) BRECHIEELE -
JREBEETRR AR &R RA o 72010
F3A31H  FFTACHRZREEBELY
471 BBB 7T (20114 : £#) 512013
FEIEY o AT IAE B EREAAESE -

RBEHR - AEBRYE - BFE M&
2 B MR IR (E & 1R 3| B2 AT HIRL & B
ZRR169.0A & B T (20104 : 152.0
BEBIT) © WERZE AR Z 5
ERASELCHEREE  REARELIER
ARt A A R AT FR T Y 2 AR o
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29. BANK AND OTHER LOANS 29. RAT S H ALK

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 £t
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The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group’s bank  EE3R A - RIEHIK - AEEFETE
and other loans at the end of the reporting period approximates — H#tEZ 7 BEEEEEBE AT EMRE o
their corresponding fair value.

30. OTHER LIABILITIES 30. HAhH1E

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEAT
Advances from non—controlling shareholders — FEFERGAS R 2 A (BEE)

(note) 320.0 30.4
Club debentures ZHES 863.8 859.3
Obligations under finance leases BLE &R IE 0.4 1.4

1,184.2 891.1

Less: Amount due within one year B EFARBIAESZ
included under current liabilities —EFREEARIR (6.3) 4.7)
Amount due after one year —F1& | HAFIR 1,177.9 886.4

Note: The amounts represent advances from non-controlling Mk : ZEREAEE THEB AR Z FEEARAR

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEATT
Bank loans (note 1) IRITER(KIEED) 3,203.5 1,570.6
Bonds (note 2) &% (MiEE2) 319.6 -
Less: Amount included under current B ETAREBAE 2
liabilities (including bank loans with (BIERpER EsREE
a repayable on demand clause) G2 IRITER) (1,521.1) (169.6)
Amount included under non—current liabilities =+ AIERBIBE 2 ©5E 2,002.0 1,401.0
Bank and other loans IRITREMERA
are repayable: KT HAREE -
Within one year —FN 1,521.1 169.6
Between one to two years —FEMFN 1,682.4 -
Between two to five years WMEERFA 319.6 1,401.0
3,523.1 1,570.6
Secured B 571.9 158.7
Unsecured R 2,951.2 1,411.9
3,523.1 1,570.6

Notes:

(1)

At 31 March 2010, the Group’s bank borrowings of HK$3.4
million (2011: nil) carried fixed interest at 4.7% per annum. The
Group’s remaining bank borrowings are variable-rate borrowings
which carry interest at an average margin of 0.51% (2010: 0.37%)
plus Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) or other
relevant interbank offer rates.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group issued two
floating rate specified bonds amounting to Japanese Yen 3.4
billion (equivalent to HK$319.6 million) to finance the acquisitions
of investment properties in Japan. The bonds carry interest at an
average margin of 1.6% plus relevant interbank offer rates.

2)

MR201043 A31 8 - REBRTHEE
34BEBIT (2011 F « &) RETEFF
KA4TEF S - NEBERRITEER
ZEMEE - #051% (20104 :0.37%)
ZFER B RNBBBITREREER
A HEHAMBARITRIEREEGE -

REZE2011F3A31ALFE - AR
F#ITMBIRIF SR R B2 RIE
FRB34EEE (HER319.6B8E
7o) ARKRBERNREYE - EHiE
16% 2 FHREEXRMEBIRITRE

WEEE -

shareholders of certain subsidiaries to finance operations of those
subsidiaries. As at 31 March 2011, included in advances from
non-controlling shareholders amounting to HK$285.0 million
(2010: nil) and HK$28.9 million (2010: HK$28.9 million) bear
interest at 3-month HIBOR plus 2.5% and a fixed rate of 7.0%
per annum respectively. The amounts are unsecured and are not
repayable within one year. The remaining balance is non—interest
bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand.

RATIRMHER - AUBNZEHRBA
RIEERFE o M201143H31R8 -
TR R iR B R B4 R 8285.0
BE&ET (20104 : &) k289EE
AT (20105 : 289 B & B L) © &
Az 38 A BB RITREFE Z M
2.5% N EE FMET 0% B - %E
RESEBEREBARN-FAEE -
HERIRR R - BIEHRARZRE

B o
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Club debentures are redeemable:

SFTES AR THIHREERE

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BERET BEAT

Within 1 year —FR 6.0 3.7
Over 1 year but within 5 years —FA M ERFNUAA 45.3 52.2
Over 5 years and before 2047 AF LA E K 2047 F 2 B 13.7 14.2
In 2047 R 2047 & 798.8 789.2
863.8 859.3

These debentures are non—interest bearing,

unsecured and

are issued to members of the following clubs operated by the

BEEFHR/EE - BEAKEITTT
JIHAKREMEEZEMNEER ¢

Group:
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEER BEAT
Discovery Bay Golf Club BREEREKE 658.9 654.4
Discovery Bay Marina Club o = g = 61.4 61.5
Discovery Bay Residents Club RERLE 143.5 1434
863.8 859.3

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t
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Obligations under finance leases:

GAMBHREME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

MEREAIE

Present value
Minimum of minimum

lease payments lease payments

=IRFAE K =IEAEMRZRE
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BE#ET ©BB58T BE#BRT BBAT
Amounts payable under BREREHE
finance leases: JEf %8 -
Within one year —F R 0.3 1.1 0.3 1.0
In the second to fifth years E_FFERF
inclusive (BIEEREME) 0.1 0.4 0.1 0.4
0.4 1.5 0.4 1.4
Less: Future finance charges B BRYM%ER - (0.1)
Present value of lease obligations M &E#&IEZIRE 0.4 1.4
Less: Amount due for settlement 3, : —£E R 2| Ef
within one year (shown B8 2 FIA
under current liabilities) (FERE
afE) (0.3) (1.0)
Amount due for settlement —F1&EIEA
after one year BB 23R 0.1 0.4

The Group leases certain of its equipment under finance leases.
The average lease term is 5 to 7 years. For the year ended
31 March 2011, the average effective borrowing rate was
ranged from 4% to 7% (2010: 2% to 5%) per annum. Interest
rates are fixed at the contract date. All leases are on a fixed
repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into
for contingent rental payments.

The directors consider the carrying amount of the Group’s other
liabilities at the end of the reporting period approximates their
corresponding fair values.

AEBERERMEBSEHAES TRE -
FHEMROETF o %%i§2011¢3
ASLBAL%E - FHEREESENX

FAEZET7E (2010F : 2BZES5[E) ° ﬂ
RESHBHEE - MAEEHAUERE

BRREE  WEIVARIAESZ
e
EERS RREHRKR  AEEEME

Bz RmEREREATERS
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31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

In April 2005, the Company issued zero coupon convertible
bonds (the “Bonds”) at par in a principal amount of HK$1,410.0
million maturing on 26 April 2010. Unless previously redeemed,
converted or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be
redeemed at 128.948 per cent of their principal amount on the
maturity date representing a gross yield of 5.15 per cent per
annum calculated on a semi—annual basis.

On 26 April 2010, the outstanding convertible bonds were
fully redeemed and their listing on the Stock Exchange was
automatically cancelled on the same date.

The movement of the liabilities component of the Bonds for the
year is as follows:

31. Al

R200564 A RARREEHEITAE
%814100B & BT 22010F4 A 26 H
FET R RES ([EH ) o BRIEX
AIEACRER - Es B EETHE - TR
EHFBRE B HREARSEE 2 128 948%
BBED  HENRILFEEAEZBF
Wz 4A5.15% °

M2010F4 A26 8 - KEBEESDEE
fED - WARH B EREEFIBRIE o

FREFRERD 2T

HK$'M

BESAT

Liability component at 1 April 2009 R200944 A1 Bz BEHD 7773

Imputed interest expense for the year FRFAFEAX 53.2
Liability component at 31 March 2010 K2010F3 A31H K

and 1 April 2010 20104 A1 HZAEHn 830.5

Imputed interest expense for the year FRFTANERX 3.8

Redemption during the year FREEE (834.3)

Liability component at 31 March 2011

R201143A31 Bz &EHS =

32. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of the Group’s
deposits received and other financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period approximate their corresponding fair value due
to the relatively short-term maturity.

The amount due to an associate is unsecured, non—interest
bearing and has no fixed repayment terms.

oAt A

EERA ARNAKEZEWEZES RE
fheMBEZIHBEEEEE  WNR
THR  ZEFBECFREEEEERRD
FEBEE °

RSB E RN RFRIBNERE £ B RE
ElEEE -

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 £t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS

GAMBHREME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33, AR
2011 & 2010
Number
of shares HK$'M
e ¢ BEETT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each S MEEO0.258 T 2 T A%
Authorised: JETE
At 1 April 2009, MR2009%F4A18
31 March 2010 201093 A31H
and 31 March 2011 K&201143A31H 2,000,000,000 500.0
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
At 1 April 2009, MR2009F4 /18 »
31 March 2010 201043 A31H
and 31 March 2011 K201143A31H 1,350,274,367 337.5

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company currently has a share option scheme adopted on
3 January 2002 which permits the directors of the Company
to grant options to all directors (including independent non-
executive directors), full-time employees and consultants of the
Company, its subsidiaries and/or its associated companies to
subscribe for shares in the Company. No option has yet been
granted under this scheme.

35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes long—term bank and other loans, short—term bank
loans and other borrowings as disclosed in Notes 29 and 30, net
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated profits.

34. Wi IO R st 21

NATIRA 7 —BRERREE 2|7 2002 F
1A3HEM  ZAtERHTARRESE
MARA HMBRAR K/ KEBEA
RIZFIBES (BIEBYIENITES) -
2RES REMRE T REARRQRKRG
ZRERRAE o LETEIN AR LT (IIB AR -

35, B | F 4 B
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FEMYEE 29 N 30 P BR 2 FRERSRTT M EAth
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The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a periodic basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AAREZTEHRTENER - (FAR
WMZ—8n ERECEEEERALE
BEARZHEBERAR - REEF 2EZ
AEBERBEBRMNERE - BITHEK
BEEROHAKRETHERXERREE
R RBATFEBEERERE -

36. R T H

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS St T HZ HH
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEAT
Financial assets TRIEE
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) BRAFEFTAEBR
Held for trading BEEE 0.2 128.6
Held—to-maturity investments BEIERE 146.8 187.9
Derivative financial instruments, PTESRMT A -
at fair value T;?Q?TE 0.1 0.1
Loans and receivables (including AR UG (BIE
cash and cash equivalents) iﬁi&fﬁﬁﬁfﬁlﬁ B) 3,008.2 2,652.7
Available—for—sale financial assets, AIEHESREE -
at fair value EAFE 60.6 88.4
Financial liabilities TREE
Amortised cost BESEA A 5,045.4 3,665.2

Vs B B AR A R A
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include held—to—
maturity investments, available-for—sale financial assets,
financial assets at FVTPL, trade receivables, other financial
assets, amounts due from associates, amount due from a jointly
controlled entity, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade payables, deposits received and other financial
liabilities, amount due to an associate, bank and other loans
and other liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposure to foreign
currency risk as majority of the Group’s sales and purchases
are denominated in currency which is the functional currency of
the respective group entities except for certain bank balances,
held—to—maturity investments and bank borrowings which are
denominated in foreign currency, other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities.

The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as

GAMBHREME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

<o Tl JE i A B B B BOSRE

AEEFZEeR T ERRBRFEEHK
B AftHEemEE BAFETA
BRceREE VH&T’?%EEEA < HA
TREE  BREEARIFIE - rqﬁl
RES B HIA - ETfﬁTEﬁfETﬂ_/TA
THEBRAkRS  BENESERN EHQ
RekHMemBE  EBABE QRN
B ROTEEMERREMEE - 25
R TAFBEHNBEENTE - 25 Rt
TEBBRReEMm SRR (EEER
f'JZﬂ““&EﬁﬁﬁWﬂ“) =E R
Kngh&E e Rk o (AREZERRE
LBZ %RE/\\—FK ° EEEE:IE&%%?;A:
A RRE R BB TEE R ©

BN B

BRETIRITHES  FEIHRE LR
fEEYIFABREEERNEERIIE
S REBARFHDEBEANEHEEE
B2EEEEIE - A KB EASE
EARINEIE SRR o

[I

SEEERHREAAINEIIEZEER
BEZREERNT

follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE afE

2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
Currency L BEBErT BEBT HBHEBEERT BHEAT
US dollar ST 4,897.4 4,698.3 216.8 2239
Singapore dollar T 6.0 53 - =
Thai baht ES7N 328.4 0.1 331.9 =
Others Hib 5.2 9.4 2.6 =
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Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of US dollar,
Singapore dollar and Thai baht.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in the functional currency of the
respective group entities against the relevant foreign currencies.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnels and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% change in
foreign currency rates. The analysis illustrates the impact for a
5% weakening of the functional currency of the respective group
entities against the relevant currency and a positive/negative
number below indicates an increase/decrease in profits for the
year and in exchange reserve. For a 5% strengthening of the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profits for the year and exchange reserve.

BREDT

AEBFEATET BT ATHREE
2 EERE

TERFAINAEBENERASEER 2
REERLRRINEER ETIREN 5% 2 8
RE © 5% RAEBEIE A B AFERIN
BELRRABZEERE  AREEE
HERAREHE 2 ARG - HRED
EBREUIINEFEZ R AREEEKIR
B IRFERABEBLEURRER
5%EF) - THNTHAEHEEEER L

e L ERINERES% < FE - T

%E%/E%%m$¢E@W&ERﬁ
Bw2EM/ WL - WMEEEEEE Y
REBEAABEEHIRG% 2 THE - Al
Y ARF R H R R R EKRARZ
E

Increase/(decrease) Increase in
in profits exchange reserve
AN/ R D) B 52 fak £ 35
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BERERT @A8ET BEREEBR B5ET

US dollar ETT
Singapore dollar $IT
Thai baht TEK

38.2 279 195.7 195.8
0.3 0.3 = =
(0.2) - - =

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

BEERS  BARFRERILTHERBR
FAZEAR - BBREST L FIRKRE
B ZINER o
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Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed—rate bank deposits and borrowings and fixed—rate advance
from non-controlling shareholders (see Notes 29, 30 and 37
for details of these deposits and borrowings). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank deposits and borrowings (see Notes 29 and 37 for details
of these deposits and borrowings) and mortgage instalment
receivables (see Note 22 for the receivables). It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR or
other relevant interbank offer rates arising from the Group'’s
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for non—derivative instruments at
the end of the reporting period. For variable-rate bank deposits
and borrowings and mortgage instalment receivables, the
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability and asset
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnels and represents management’'s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s:

o profit for the year ended 31 March 2011 would decrease/
increase by HK$14.4 million (2010: HK$7.5 million). This
is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings and mortgage
instalment receivables.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased from prior
year due to increase in bank borrowing.

GAMBHREME
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Other price risk

The Group is exposed to market price fluctuation through
its investments in both listed and unlisted securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a
diversified portfolio. The level and volatility of the prices of
securities may be affected by general economic and market
conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation
rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including taxation
law), trade barriers, currency exchange controls, and national
and international political circumstances, if applicable.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to price of securities investments at the reporting
date.

If the prices of the respective securities investments had been
5% higher/lower:

. profit for the year ended 31 March 2011 would increase/
decrease by HK$0.01 million (2010: HK$6.4 million) as a
result of the changes in financial assets at FVTPL; and

o investment valuation reserve would increase/decrease by
HK$2.9 million (2010: HK$4.4 million) for the Group as
a result of the changes in fair value of available—for—sale
financial assets.

The Group’s sensitivity to available—for-sale investments and
held—for-trading investments has not changed significantly from
the prior year.

JFC Al A% L Bt
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Credit risk

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from:

o the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position; and

o the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantee issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 39.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow—up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from
associates, the Group reviews the recoverable amount at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The exposure to
credit risk is limited.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk in connection with held—
to—maturity investment is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings and corporates with strong
financial position.

Other than amounts due from associates amounting to
HK$195.3 million, the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk over trade receivables. Trade
receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread
across diverse industries and geographical areas.
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Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31 March 2011, the Group has available
unutilised overdraft and bank loan facilities of approximately
HK$5.0 million (2010: HK$5.0 million) and HK$3,415.3 million
(2010: HK$5,136.1 million) respectively.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the board of directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management of the Group’s
short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms except for the bank loans with a repayable on
demand clause. For non—derivative financial liabilities, the table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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Liquidity risk table TEESREMEE
On demand
and Total Carrying
less than undiscounted  amount at
1 year 1-2 2-5 Over cash flows 31 March
BEKR years years 5 years FMHE M3A31A
PR—F —EWE ZERF AENE REFEE ZKEE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT HAEEnT  HE#nT  HE#RT  HEART AEETR
2011 2011
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfT4£LFARE
Trade payables BB HERR
and accrued charges RIE &R 246.3 - - - 246.3 246.3
Deposits received Blize REMERER
and other financial liabilities 86.3 - - - 86.3 86.3
Amount due to an associate FEfT A A)50IR 5.5 = = = 5.5 5.5
Bank and other loans BITREMER
- variable rate - %28 1,567.3 1,692.7 323.6 - 3,583.6 3,523.1
Other liabilities HihBE 326.4 14.3 27.5 816.0 11,1842  1,184.2
Financial guarantee contracts HBEREL 160.4 - - - 160.4 -
2,392.2 1,707.0 351.1 816.0 5,266.3 5,045.4
2010 20104
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfT4 LA E
Trade payables BB HERR
and accrued charges RIE &R 1785 = = = 1785 1785
Deposits received Blize REMERER
and other financial liabilities 184.5 - - - 1845 184.5
Amount due to an associate FEfTHEE A A)F00R 100 = = = 10.0 10.0
Bank and other loans BITREAMER
— fixed rate - EB 35 = = = 35 34
- variable rate - %8 175.1 6.1 1,403.9 - 1,585.1 1,567.2
Other liabilities HihBE 35.1 7.1 455 8035 891.2 891.1
Convertible bonds AakES 834.3 = = = 8343 830.5
Financial guarantee contracts HBEREH 1535 - - = 153.5 =
1,574.5 13.2 1,449.4 803.5 3,840.6 3,605.2

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in

] BE RS B SREIR IR 2 RITREFT AR

the “on demand and less than 1 year” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010,
the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these bank
loans amounted to HK$333.9 million and HK$10.3 million,
respectively. Taking into account the Group'’s financial position,
the directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors believe that such bank loans will be
repaid within 4 years after the reporting date in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
At that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows
will amount to HK$337.4 million.

FRHB ST [BREKRK KD —F | B
Mo EH - 201143 A31H & 2010
F3A318 @ WEFRITEEZRAUIRR
RNEFEH R A33BIBEATRI0IE
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The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non—derivative financial liabilities is subject

to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting
period.

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contract
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to
settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount
will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

FAIR VALUE

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

o the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded on active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and

o the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in
unlisted shares which are measured at fair value (Note 21). Fair
value is provided by independent financial institutions or fund
managers. The valuation is generally based on the most recent
financial and market information of the underlying investee or at
cost as advised by the fund manager.
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AHRTFE T RBERRE L AR
M » itk 7] 5E 1 B4R F- IR R ¥ 75 PR
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37. ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

37, Bi& MBI &SEIE H 4568
S Hr

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEBT

Bank balances and cash RITHEBREIRE 2,379.9 2,055.4

Included in the bank balances and cash at 31 March 2011
were bank deposits with maturity within 3 months from the date
of placement amounting to approximately HK$2,374.1 million
(2010: HK$2,004.3 million).

The effective interest rate of the bank balances at 31 March
2011 were in the range of 0.01% to 2.60% (2010: 0.01% to
2.38%) per annum. The directors consider the carrying amount
of the Group’s bank balances and cash at the end of the
reporting period approximates their corresponding fair value.

38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had pledged property, plant
and equipment with a carrying value of HK$9.2 million (2010:
HK$9.1 million) and bank deposits of HK$2.9 million (2010:
HK$59.3 million) to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group. No property under development (2010: HK$104.9
million) was pledged for the aforesaid purpose as at 31 March
2011.

National Asset Limited, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary,
had subordinated an inter—-company debt due from one of its
fellow subsidiaries in the amount of HK$40.2 million (2010:
HK$35.6 million) as at 31 March 2011 to secure banking
facilities granted to that particular subsidiary.

HKR Asia—Pacific Pte Ltd, Beaufort Holdings Limited and
Sathorn Park Co Ltd, the Company’s subsidiaries, had also
subordinated their inter—company debts due from one of their
fellow subsidiaries respectively in the amount of HK$16.9 million
(2010: nil), HK$273.6 million (2010: nil) and HK$176.0 million
(2010: nil) as at 31 March 2011 to secure banking facilities
granted to that particular subsidiary.

MR201163A318 ' RT&EBRIRS
BIEAHL23741BEB T (20104 -
20043 BEEIL) R3EARTEZIR
TR °

IRITAERN 2011 F3 A31 A2 EEFIE
FEFEFE0.01 EE2.60E (20104:0.01
EZXE238E) 2EHEN - EFRAF/IRIT
AR SN WME R 2 BREE R R
RFERE °
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M2011F3A318  A5EEBKEERE
02BE&BIL (2010F : 9.1HBEEL) Z
¥ - BEMZEKR29BE8E T (2010
F:6593F8BT) cRITFREER
A URSBETFTASEZRITEE - ¥
20114 3 A 31 BIF 3R ) S K I
(2010 :1049B88A L) LM AE -

MR2011%F3 8318 ARalzEEKB
/2@ National Asset Limited ftfEUE —R
RRMBARZARMEREL2HES
70 (20104 : 356 BE B L) ERER
BIEARTEBRNBARZRITEE
AR o

MR2011F3A318 XRA 2 W B
NAEIBBEFE D KER AR - Beaufort
Holdings Limited X Sathorn Park Co Ltd
HEKEE —RRARMBAT 2 ARIMER
fE1695E B & T (20104 : &) - 2736
BEEI (20104 : /&) k176,08 8%
7T (20104 : & ) {F1RBRFE - 1ERIXT
BREMBARZRITEECHER -
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39. BRAREI1E
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEER BEAT
Guarantees given, to the extent of the Group’s  AZNEE B AR HE L ] AFR -
proportionate share, in respect of banking BINE N RIERRTT
facilities granted to an investee company EEELZER 160.4 153.5

No financial guarantee has been recognised as the fair value for

the financial guarantee is insignificant.

40. COMMITMENTS

BRI ISIER ©

40. HRHYE

HRMBERIAFELTIEKXN - 8

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEAT
Contracted but not provided for in RENBHRERPEEL
the consolidated financial statements BREME
— capital expenditure in respect of — R EME
acquisition of investment properties BAREYE - 420.6
— expenditure in respect of properties — BEHEZER / BEPR
held for/under development for sale W 2 I 755.3 1,326.8
— others — HAth 175.0 225
930.3 1,769.9
Authorised but not contracted for in A VBRI FPERE
the consolidated financial statements BREY
— capital expenditure in respect of — WK EMEL
acquisition of investment properties B AR 40.1 48.1
— expenditure in respect of properties — BEHEZER / BEREP
held for/under development for sale W 2 R 137.6 162.2
— others — Hfb 67.5 52.2
245.2 262.5
1,175.5 2,032.4

In addition, the outstanding capital commitments in respect of
the Group’s interest in Dazhongli is disclosed in Note 20.

PN REBRARKPEEGZ I ASTNE
ANAGED M EE 20 P IR o
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41. LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

THE GROUP AS LESSEE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payment under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of land and buildings which fall due
as follows:

50 I 5 ok I

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

41. FHEZHE
45 B By AR L
REMEFK - AEFRBETHRETY

ARG EHEMAR AT HARE
ZARKRERENFAESRNOT

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEBT

Within one year —FR 32.7 28.6
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_EZERF (BEEEMF) 28.3 36.9
Over five years hFE 5.6 8.6
66.6 74.1

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for its office premises and staff quarters. Leases are
negotiated for an average term of two years and rentals are fixed
for an average term of one to two years.

In addition, the Group is committed to leasing land in Singapore
where a hotel is situated for 86 years up to February 2074. The
annual lease payment is at the higher of approximately HK$3.3
million or 5% of the total gross revenue of the hotel.

EERERS DARERENAENE
REIEEENZAS - BETHE]
BEMF - TH-EWMENELTE -

AN - REBE AEEB R INE — g
BIEFTR 2 i - FAEA86F - = 2074
F2AEM - BFEBEAELLNIIEEE
TLEOBERANZE Y 5% (B S EAXE) -
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THE GROUP AS LESSOR

Property rental income earned from investment properties and
other properties during the year was in aggregate HK$371.1
million (2010: HK$335.0 million), of which HK$367.6 million
(2010: HK$329.9 million) was generated from investment
properties of the Group. Investment properties and other
properties with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$6,166.2
million (2010: HK$5,331.1 million) were held for rental
purposes as at the end of the reporting period. Depreciation
charge for the year in respect of other properties was HK$1.3
million (2010: HK$1.3 million). The properties held have
committed tenants for a period from one to six years. At the end
of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants
for the following future minimum leases payments under non—
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

ACSE [ 2 AL

WEMEREMYERF AR 2 W
HeEWAEHAE371.1H5EE T (2010
F:330888m)  AH367688
7T (20104F : 3299 B EBT) BB K
SEREME - RERBK - FAES
$#6,166.2 8 & /& 7T (20104 : 5,331.1
BEBL) 2IEWEREMETFHE
HERZ AFERNEBEEMYEZIT
EXHA1I3IEES T (2010F: 137
B5TT) - A EAMEMNEER
—ERETE - RERPR - A5EE
EETHERIL - MBET I B E
HER T MR RRFERS
R

2011 2010

HK$'M HK$'M

BEET BEAT

Within one year —FR 234.5 247 .4
In the second to fifth year inclusive ~FE_ZFAF(BIEEEMRF) 161.2 246.9
Over five years hFE 22.5 16.7
418.2 511.0
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42. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

A.

HONG KONG

In order to comply with Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance, a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) with employer’s voluntary contributions
has been established on 1 December 2000.

For the members of the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme, which contribution is matched by the employee.

The amount charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable of HK$15.5 million (2010: HK$14.9
million) to the MPF Scheme by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes less forfeitures
of HK$2.6 million (2010: HK$3.5 million) arising from
employees leaving the Group prior to completion of the
qualifying service period.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no forfeited
contributions, which arose upon employees leaving the
retirement benefits schemes and which are available to
reduce the contributions payable in future years (2010:
nil).

PRC AND OVERSEAS

The employees of the Group in PRC and overseas are
members of state—-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local governments in relevant
jurisdictions. The Group is required to contribute and
recognise a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligations of
the Group with respect to these schemes are to make
the specified contributions and recognise the respective
retirement pay in accordance with terms set out in the
schemes and relevant jurisdiction requirements.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the
above—-mentioned schemes in the relevant jurisdictions
amounted to approximately HK$9.4 million (2010: HK$8.9
million).

G B M B R I 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

42. JRARAE A - E
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATES

(a) Details of principal subsidiaries incorporated and have
their principal place of operation in Hong Kong are as

43, F B A w) S = A

(a) EEAEMALLEEZTEBNE
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

31.3.2011 31.3.2010
Equity Equity
Nominal value interest  Nominal value interest
ofissued attributable of issued attributable

share capital  tothe Group  sharecapital  tothe Group

follows:
31.3.2011 31.3.2010
Equity Equity
Nominal value interest  Nominal value interest
of issued attributable of issued attributable
share capital  tothe Group  sharecapital  tothe Group
Name of company BBTRAE AEEHE BETRA KEEEE  Principal activities
N ZHE ZFE ZEE LB FERE
HK$ % HK$ %
B Bl BT Bt
Allmedco Group Limited 1,500,000 45.6' 1,500,000 456°  Medical and dental
equipment and supplies
ERRTHRBREER
AmMed Cancer Center (Central) 2 100 2 100 Cancer treatment operator
Limited BIEREEMTE
AmMed Hong Kong Limited 10,000 100 10,000 100 Investment holding
REBRBBERARA REAER
AmMed (Hong Kong Island Center) 868 92.17 868 92.17  Cancer freatment operator
Limited BIEREEHE
DP Properties Limited (formerly - - 1,000 100 Investment holding and
HKR Properties Limited)™ property development
(FIBAEARE (M%) REAREDZER
BRAR) "
DAY Service Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Property agency services
WRENERRARAR MERRRE
Discovery Bay Commercial 2 50* 2 50*  Property leasing

Services Limited

R EREREERAR

ESiE

Name of company BHBTRA AEEHE BEIIRAR AEEEE  Principal activities
INSEA <HE <R ZEfE LBE TERE
HK$ % HK$ %
BT ARk B Btk
Discovery Bay Enterprises Limited 400,000 50* 400,000 50*  Operation of a shipyard
mems
Discovery Bay Financial Services 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of financial
Limited services to first hand
WEENBREERA purchasers of properties
in Discovery Bay
miRE—FERREM
B IR%
Discovery Bay Golf Club Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
WRERRAREERAT Rt ek
Discovery Bay Marina Club Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
ﬁ?/akﬁﬁﬁﬁ }Ef/\aﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
Discovery Bay Residents Club Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
m%/g } {/ \B Fﬁ- ﬁ{ﬁ
Discovery Bay Road Tunnel Company 2 50* 2 50*  Road tunnel operation
Limited BigLe
WREREERAR
Discovery Bay Services Management 2 50* 2 50*  Estate management
Limited ERER

hRERGEEEERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 = 2011 4 3 A 31 A1 F/Z For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 31.3.2011 31.3.2010
Equity Equity Equity Equity
Nominal value interest  Nominal value interest Nominal value interest  Nominal value interest
of issued  attributable of issued attributable of issued  attributable of issued attributable
share capital  tothe Group  sharecapital  tothe Group share capital  tothe Group  sharecapital  tothe Group
Name of company BETRE AEEHE BEORE AEERBE  Principal activities Name of company BETRE  FEEBEE  BEORE AEERE  Principal activities
RAER Z<HfE pdii 4 ZEE ZIRE  FERE INSEA ZfE g i} JBE FERH
HK$ % HK$ % HK$ % HK$ %
B ARl BT [Z B EE BT Bt
Discovery Bay Transit Services 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of bus services HKR Limited 2 100 2 100 Property management
Limited REE LIRS 2N NRER
WRERREERAR
HKR Capital Partners (HK) Limited 2 100 2 100 Advisory services
Discovery Bay Transportation Services 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of ferry services R
Limited AR GRIRT
BREnEREERAA Hagent Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BEREERAT NERE
Fame Wood Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
EIBBERAT MERE Health & Care Dental Clinic Limited 8,708,433 57.05 8,708,433 57.05  Development and operation
ERFNBEMERAT of dental clinic
Frosmate Company Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding TROERREE
RILEERAT] REER
Health & Care Dental Services 800,000 57.05 800,000 57.05  Provision of dental services
Gemshok Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding Limited R TR R
REER BRIMREERAR
Grace Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment Health & Care Group Limited 1,133,334 57.05 1,133,334 5705 Investment holding and its
EERAFRATA nERE EREEEEERAT subsidiaries are engaged in
operation of dental clinic
Greenyield Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment chain
AABRAT] NERE REER - MENBAT
EliES el PR RE i
Healthway Medical Centres Limited 1 100 1 100 Provision of medical services

RUEBRETOERAR

R ERRS
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31.3.2011 31.3.2010
Equity Equity
Nominal value interest  Nominal value interest
of issued attributable of issued attributable
share capital  tothe Group  sharecapital  to the Group
Name of company CETRE AEEEE EREIRA KEEHE  Principal activities
DB ZEfE bt ] ZEE ZIRE  FERK
HK$ % HK$ %
B Aok B BAtL
Hong Kong Health Resort Limited 4 100 4 100 Property investment
NERE
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited 212,950,000.5** 50* 212,950,000.5%* 50*  Investment holding and
EREEER AT property development
REBRRNFER
ImagingMed Central Limited 20 100 20 100 Diagnostic imaging center
HETDEER L
Kellett Healthcare Training 100 57.05 100 57.05  Provision of dental training
Institute Limited Courses
SEBREITOERAR RETRIETIRE
Lam Island Development 2,000,000 99.99 2,000,000 99.99  Property development
Company Limited E
HRESER AT
Lee Wo Company, Limited 300,000 100 300,000 100 Property investment
NMAERAR NERE
Parocka Investments Limited 20 100 20 100 Property development
NELR
Pearl Development Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment

BEERARAA

VESE
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

31.3.2011 31.3.2010
Equity Equity
Nominal value interest  Nominal value interest
of issued  attributable of issued attributable

share capital  tothe Group  sharecapital  tothe Group

Name of company BHBTRA AEEHE BEIIRAR AEEEE  Principal activities
INSEA <HE <R ZEfE LBE TERE
HK$ % HK$ %
BT ARk B Btk

Qualigenics Medical Limited 3,000 80 3,000 80 Clinic operator in diabetic

BEBBEAR AT and cardio treatment
RRROEREBRMENE

Quebostage Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment

BHARAT] ESE

Rich Deal Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding

BaERAR RERR

Royston Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding

MREEREARAA REER

Scoot Development Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
AN

TCS Project Management Limited 2 100 2 100 Property development

project management

MERRERER

Wells Estate Services Limited 100,000 100 100,000 100 Estate management

RlMEREERAR ERER

Wells Property Management Limited 1,000 100 1,000 100 Estate management

R ERERAR ERER

Yintaly Construction Company 2 100 2 100 Propery investment

Limited SN

ENREIRARAA
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According to the shareholders’ agreement of Hong Kong
Resort Company Limited (“HKRC”), the Group is able to

REFBHEEXERAR ([FEH
¥ ) 2R WH - AKE R AR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

Details of other principal subsidiaries are as follows: (b)

Hip T EZMBRAFENAT :

control more than half of the voting powers of the board of HEAHENHEMNBARIZESE 31.3.2011 3132010
directors of HKRC and its subsidiaries. SHRENEH I IRERE - Nominal value Nominal value

Place of of issued  Equity interest ofissued ~ Equity interest
*x In addition to 1 ordinary share of par value of HK$0.25 > BOBAEREEOSETY1 incorporation/ Plrmcip?\ shared capitaI: aﬂ;ibl(l;table sharedcapita\/‘ aﬁhrib(u;table
. . registration ace 0 registered capita tothe Group  registered capita to the Grou
each, 100% in the value of HK$212,950,000.5 deferred R& @A A z]g%@p‘]iﬁﬁ 100% TR— ﬁiﬂﬁjﬁﬁ/ Eperation gaﬁﬁﬂﬁ;/ $§ﬁ£ gag;fﬁﬂﬁg/ 7Tk;§§ﬁﬁp S
shares are aiso held by the Group (see note). fRi{5212,950,000.5 7L 2 ARAERR 1A ey fEREMS  ERWAZEE  ZBR sREOER ZBE 1EER
3 (M) - " .
Bl BAlt
Note: The deferred shares held by the Group are shares Mzt REBEKE ZEERMDISZ
whose shareholders are neither entitled to receive BREFERMAHEBEAS Abraham Holdings Limited Liberia Hong Kong Nil 100 Nil 100 Securities investment
notices, attend, vote at any general meetings nor EREREAS FISE - JiE HiLEe &% # # SRR
o fetehe @iy e euL C gpsEiling pruil and AR E 2R A 2k Abraham Investment British Virgin Note* Us$1 100 US$1 100 Securities investment
have very limited rights on return of assets of the ZEMKEE - REHEA I Holdings Limited Islands &5 157 Zuin
companies. ARFEEERZEED B REREARE Wi
E| o
M AmMed International Cayman Islands ~ Note** US$179,999.96 ~ 100 US$179,999.96 ~ 100 Investment holding and
# Allmedco Group Limited (“Allmedco”) is classified as a w B/ Allmedco Group Limited Corporafion Lt REHE bt 179999 9657 - 175 999 967t~ itssubsid‘iariesare‘
subsidiary of the Company as it is a 80%—owned subsidiary (TAllmedco]) BB % & & Z:ifgjlg?o?;i;antf;
of Health & Care Group Limited (“H&C”) while in turn is a ERAR ([1B]) B80%H# diegnosis and
57.05%-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company wZHIB AR miERE AKX treatment centers
has control over the board of directors of H&C and NEEEST.05%EZ 2 BT B A RABR  MARELA
Allmedco. 7 #Allmedco® £ ¥ B A A UBEEHIMR
AZWEAR - KATYERR il
Allmedco 2 3 & 245 2 51& - Battvoon & Kichen sl sl A$329,861 100 ARM 100 Markelingof bathroom
Supplies Pty Ltd 2 2 32986187 32986187 products
#  Renamed to “DP Properties Limited” with effect from #  B2011FE1A25HEERZ A [DP AEARER
25 January 2011. On 10 December 2010, HK Resort Properties Limited ] ° 720104 12
International Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of H 10 B - HK Resort International Beaufort Holdings Limited Cayman Islands ~ Note ** HK$10,197,932 9328  HK$10,197,932 9328 Investment holding
the Company, entered into an agreement in relation to Limited ("X AT 22 &M B A REHE bt 10,197,932 10197582787 RAAR
e elispestl of i ITtEresss i PP Piepees Himiee A1) RILthek i & DP Properties Beautfort Inferational Singapore Singapare $$1,000,000 & 100 $$1,000,000 100 Investment holding
(formerly “HKR Properties Limited”) including Goldencliff Limited (AITE A &S EHZE (Y Hotels (Singapore) Pte Ltd g ik JPY420,240,000 ~ 1,000,000%7% RARR
Investments Limited, Discovery Park Commercial Services E)YERAF]) vER(BHE 1,000,000 7 &
Limited and Discovery Park Financial Services Limited. The Goldencliff Investments Limited « 14 420,240,000RH ~
transaction was completed on 22 March 201 an i i R I Beaufort Sent Si Si $$143,011,794 93.64 §$43 696,126 9364 Hotel operat
NN ey eaufort Sentosa ingapore ingapore 011,794 ~ ! 696, . otel operation
MHIBRBERAE) © ZXH Development e L s s 1430117945 1B%12657 %%@;ﬁ’

M2011F3 A22 A% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 20114 3 A 31 A1 F/Z

31.3.2011 31.3.2010 31.3.2011 31.3.2010
Nominal value Nominal value Nominal value Nominal value
Place of of issued  Equity interest ofissued  Equity interest Place of of issued  Equity interest ofissued  Equity interest
incorporation/ Principl share capital/ attributable share capital/ atfributable incorporation/ Principal share capital/ attributable share capital atfributable
registration place of registered capital  tothe Group  registered capital o the Group registration place of registered capital  tothe Group  registered capital o the Group
Narme of company seRr/ operation BBERE/ FEEBE  EEORE/ REEEE  Principal activities Narme of company S/ operation BRIRE/ FEERE  BRORE/ REERE  Principal acthities
RAER CrwiEd IREENY Bl U g EfEAZER JIRE RER P itk TREENH B U hE  EfETCEE JRE  IRER
% % % %
Bkt At Bt [
Broad Base International British Virgin Note * Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Securities investment GenRx Holdings Limited British Virgin Note** Us$1 100 Uss$1 100 Investment holding
Limited Islands fisk 1£% B FHRE BAERERAF Islands fise 157 IE3 RERER
ABARRHE ARHBERES
COW Building Limited Cayman Islands ~ Hong Kong HK$5,100,002 100 HK$5,100,002 100 Property investment Great Wisdom Holdings Brtish Virgin Note** Us$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
REEE &k 5,100,002 51000027 WERE Limited Islands [ 1£7 i RARR
ABARRES
Clarity Aesthetic Center, Inc Philippines Philippines PHP250,000 100 PHP250,000 100 Provision of
ez FIZex 250,000 2B H % 20000 EBRER dermatology senvices HK Resort International Cayman Islands ~~ Note ** HK$2 100 HK$2 100 Investment holding
RERERERS Limited REHS fiE 2% 2k RERR
Chinadental Investments Ltd British Virgin Note ** Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore $$5,000,000 & 100 $$5,000,000 100 Investment holding
Islands ffse IES3 IESs &K BERXTARRAA g ik JPY5.447,780,000& 5,000,000 RESR
ERGARNS Baht24,700,000 ~
5,000,000 %
Concord Management Co, Ltd Thailand Thailand Baht2,000,000 ~ 100 Baht2,000,000 ~ 100 Serviced apartment 5447,780000RE %
28 R 2,000,000%% ~ 2,000,000 ~ management 24,700,000%8 ~
R EEER
HKR China Limited British Virgin Note ** Us§1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
BEESPEERAA Islands (I IS IE RERER
Cosmos Glamour Limited * British Virgin Note ** Uss1 100 - - Investment holding RELRREE
Islands s 1£7 RazR
EEERTES HKR Japan Co, Ltd Japan Japan JPY1,000,000 100 JPY1,000,000 100 Property investment
A% A% 1,000,000/ 1,000,000 8 VESE
DB Properties Inc British Virgin Note** Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
Islands e 157 E RABR HKR Japan KK ¢ Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 JPY10,000 100 Investment
ABEATES A% A% 10,0000 10,0008 %E
HKRJ Development Co, Ltd" Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 JPY10,000 100 Investment
A% RA 10,000HE 10,0008 %E
HKR Shanghai Limited British Virgin Note ** Us$1 100 Uss$1 100 Investment holding
BEEZ DEERAA Islands (i 1570 IE RARR

ZERARRS
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G e WA TS HoR I RE LA MR
For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 20114 3 A 31 A1 F/Z For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z
31.3.2011 31.3.2010 31.3.2011 31.3.2010
Nominal value Nominal value Nominal value Nominal value
Place of of issued  Equity interest ofissued  Equity interest Place of of issued  Equity interest ofissued  Equity interest
incorporation/ Principal share capital/ attributable share capital/ attributable incorporation/ Principal share capital/ attributable share capital attributable
registration place of registered capital  tothe Group  registered capital  to the Group registration place of registered capital  tothe Group  registered capital to the Group
Name of company et/ operation g#kE/ FEERE  CEARE/ KEEHE  Principal activities Name of company s/ operation BBTRE/ FEAEE  BEORE/ AEEHE  Principal activities
NSz Rk IERELY AMEAZEfE g AR CERE JRE  TEER A Bt TERENY HMERZAEE b fERZER JRE  IEEH
% % % %
ARkt R Bl BAlt
HKRJ Akasaka TMK" Japan Japan JPY2,700,100,000 ~ 100 - - Properly investment Mantle Investments Limited British Virgin Note * Us$1 100 USs1 100 Securities investment
AR A% 2,700,100,000R & ~ VESE Islands iR 1%7 I EERA
EEEARES
HKRJ Roppongi TMK" Japan Japan JPY2,700,200,000 ~ 100 - - Properly investment
AR BR 2,700,200,0007 8 ~ NERE Maxbright Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore S§1 93.64 S§1 9364 Property holding
il IR 147 by VESL
HMC, Inc Philippines Philippines PHP10,250,000 100 PHP10,250,000 100 Provision of medical
2z FAZ 10,250,000 10,250,000 senvices National Asset Limited British Virgin Note** Us$1 100 USs1 100 Investment holding and
FEERZ FRERZ REEERK Islands iR 1%% I its Subsidiaries are
RRURRES engaged in marketing
Hanbright Assets Limited British Virgin Note** Uss1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding of bathroom products
Islands fizt 1£7 B3 RERR RERR - MEKE
EBEARES ARBIERE
AmEH
Health & Care (Macau) Macau Macau MOP25,000 57.05 MOP25,000 5705 Operational of dental
Dental Group Limited il R 25,0009 25000277 clinic in Macau Powerford Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore §$4,500,000 100 $$4,500,000 100 Property development
B2 (2R TREERRAT ERSERIRDH il R 4,500,000 7 4,500,005 NEER
Healthway Philippines Inc. Philippines Philippines PHP19,137,500 100 PHP19,137,500 100 Investment holding Prinia Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore S$2 100 S§2 100 Investment holding
FEE FEE 19,137,500 19,137,500 RERR s R 247 W RABR
FEERZ FRERR
Ruthin Investments Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore $$2& 100 S§2 100 Property investment
Hojo Pte Ltd" Singapore Singapore JPY1,325,010,000 ~ 100 = - Investment holding s R JPY1,362,730,000 ~ W MERE
i Y 1,325,010,000E ~ RARR 2B R
1,362,730,000 HE ~
RR2EARAT PRC PRC U$$22,000,000 100 US$22,000,000 100 Manufacturing of
i G 22,000,000% % 22,000,000 7 bathroom products Sathorn Park Company Thailand Thailand Baht933,600,000 96.47  Baht933,600,000 9.47  Hotel operation and
EEAZAR Limited e e 933,600,000%:% 933,600,002k owner
BEREBERE
Impulse Bathroom Products United Kingdom ~ United £320,000 100 £320,000 100 Marketing of bathroom
Ltd ] Kingdom 320,000 320,00088 products Spa Botanica Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore S§2 100 $2 100 Provision of spa
2H AERRES i R Wi Y botanical services
RAUKERS
Suki Pte Ltd" Singapore Singapore S$1& 100 - - Investment holding
i Eip JPY367,500,000 ~ AR
1§k

367,500,006 8 ~
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 20114 3 A 31 A1 F/Z

31.3.2011 3132010
Nominal value Nominal value
Place of of issued  Equity interest ofissued  Equity interest
incorporation/ Principal share capital/ attributable share capital/ attributable
registration place of registered capital  tothe Group  registered capital  to the Group
Narme of company S/ operation BRERE/ FEERE  CEORE/ KREESE  Principal activties
AAIER Rk IREEN, AMERZEE g AR CERE JIRE  ERER
% %
ARl Anl
Viva Fund Services Limited* Cayman Islands ~~ Note ™ Uss1 100 - - General partner
REHS fise® 17 —fRaBA
Viva Investment Advisory Cayman Islands ~ Note ™ Uss1 100 - - Investment advisory
Limited” HEHE ™ %5 BB
B2(H5%RARAR" PRC PRC US$14,000,000 100 US$14,000,000 100 Property investment
E E 14,000,000%7 14,000,000 VESE
EELREELS PRC PRC US$1,500,000 100 US$1,500,000 100 Property management
ARAR' R G 1,500,000£7 150000057 and consutancy
services
NEEERERRE
* These companies are engaged in securities investment * HERREAEB ZEHKRE
business of the Group and have no specific principal place 2% EAMEBEBEZTESE
of operation. o o
**  These companies act as investment holding companies = WENFAEEEAT  BAm
and have no specific principal place of operation. EWEBEZ T ELIEE, o
~ The issued share capital of each of these companies ~ WEAFKBZERITRABRS
comprises more than 1 class of shares. ZR—TE 2’ o
o These companies were acquired/incorporated, as A WENFTREE2011E3 31 H
appropriate, during the year ended 31 March 2011. \FEEUREE / Bz (LnsEA ) o
¢ Renamed to “HKRI Japan Co, Ltd” (formerly “HKRI ¢ B 201046 A 14 H#EE & A [HKRI
Investment Co, Ltd”) with effect from 14 June 2010 and Japan Co, Ltd] (BT # & [HKRI
then “HKR Japan KK” with effect from 5 October 2010. Investment Co, Ltd|) XE % B 2010
F10A5H B E A A [HKR Japan
KK] °
A Renamed to “HKRI Japan Co, Ltd.” (formerly “HKRI A B 20104 A28 H#EE &4 [HKRI

##

Development Co, Ltd”) with effect from 28 April 2010
and then “HKRJ Development Co, Ltd” with effect from
14 June 2010.

These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises.

These companies have no specific principal place of
operation.

##

Japan Co, Lid] (BT 7 A HKRI
Development Co, Ltd ) & H & B
2010%F 6 A 14 HEEZ A [HKRJ
Development Co, Ltd | °

HERRREIIERE -

HERRWLRBREL T BEE
HoFh o
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Details of principal associates are as follows:

G B M B R I 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2011 &%= 201143 431 A1 F/Z

TEBENRFBAT

31.3.2011 31.3.2010
Attributable Attributable
interest held interest held
Place of by the Group by the Group
Name of company incorporation AEBRREE RNEBFTEE Principal activities
yNSIE ARt bR EEm  FEXRK
% %
Bt Bkt
Discovery Park Hong Kong - 50 Property leasing
Commercial Services a8 MEEE
Limited
AR A ERS
BRARE
Discovery Park Hong Kong - 50 Provision of financial
Financial Services BB services to first hand
Limited purchasers of Discovery
TR AT B AR Park
BRARE R —F EREMH
B ART
Hanison Construction Cayman Islands 49 49 Construction, property
Holdings Limited HEHE development, property
BB ERERAR AR investment and sales of
health products
BE - MEER -
MERERBRERES
Morpheus Real Cayman Islands 20 - Investment holding and
Estate Fund LP** HEHE its subsidiaries are
engaged in property
investment
REZRREMBEAR]
HE=mERE
Polyoung Limited Hong Kong 31 31 Provision of financial
BEARAF BE services to first hand
purchasers of Coastal
Skyline
AEXNEE—FER
R B RS
Tung Chung Station Hong Kong 31 31 Property development
Development BE MEERE
Company Limited
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* On 10 December 2010, HK Resort International Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement
in relation to the disposal of its interests in DP Properties
Limited (formerly HKR Properties Limited) including Goldencliff
Investments Limited, Discovery Park Commercial Services Limited
and Discovery Park Financial Services Limited. The transaction
was completed on 22 March 2011.

**  The associate was established during the year ended 31 March
2011.

All of the above principal subsidiaries and associates, other
than Abraham Holdings Limited, Beaufort Holdings Limited,
DB Properties Inc, Great Wisdom Holdings Limited, Hanbright
Assets Limited, HKR China Limited, HK Resort International
Limited and HKR Asia—Pacific Pte Ltd, are held indirectly by the
Company.

The above tables list the subsidiaries and associates of the
Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries and associates would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Other than club debentures as set out in Note 30, no other loan
capital has been issued by any of the subsidiaries.

* P 20104 12 A 10 B ' HK Resort
International Limited (N2 &2 2 &M B
NTF]) 3] Hhak H B E 5 DP Properties
Limited (RITB RAEBEZE (M) BRA
7)) 2 # = (B ¥E Goldencliff Investments
Limited * R FMEERBER A

SR ERBERRAF) o aZ
5@2011&3)%22 HehK °

= WEEARIRNEE2011F3831H1E
FEHIL ©

B Abraham Holdings Limited + Beaufort
Holdings Limited * DB Properties Inc -
Great Wisdom Holdings Limited *
Hanbright Assets Limited + & 7 81 # b
A PR A A+ HK Resort International
Limited X B BE G ABR QTN - £
MATEEEWNB AR REE RRIHHA
NRIEERE -

ESRR - LRMIAKEZHERR
KRS RBIHAEE 2 ZENEER
BEXEXE -EFAL MFLEMKN
BARRBEARABNILE

BRHIFESOFTFI 2 @ FTEZRSN - AN SR EHT
BRRHEETEABERE -

Vs B B AR A R A
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, other than balances with related parties as
shown in consolidated statement of financial position, the Group
had significant transactions with related parties as follows:

(A) Transactions with associates of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late
chairman of the Company, namely Mingly Corporation
(“Mingly”) and its subsidiaries, and Cagen Holdings
Limited (“Cagen”). His issue including five directors of
the Company being discretionary beneficiaries of certain
discretionary trusts which have beneficial interests in both

the associates and the Company:

44, BHHEAL 5

B 2 BN R PR B A £ 2 4
BIh - AT AREETNRBEA LR
TLEARS

(A BERAFREREREEREL 2B
BALT (BREEHIEEZRARA
AaN]) REBRAR LK
Cagen Holdings Limited ([Cagen]))
2R BZEMBIESZ AR
EEEAETHBREREZE %i‘ﬁﬁ
A ZEEERBEALRAA

A ERER
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEAT
() Transaction with Mingly () HHRHREKB
and its subsidiaries: RAIZR S :
Management service fee REEWEZ
received by the Group EERBE 1.3 1.2
Rental income received REEWEZ
by the Group GiEE O 2.2 1.6

(i) Cagen was appointed as manager to invest the
Group’s funds jointly with Cagen’s own funds in a
number of hedge funds (“Funds”) for a term of 3

years effective from 1 April 2007.

The Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Cagen to sell its interest in the Funds
during the year ended 31 March 2010. The disposal
was completed during the year ended 31 March
2011 and the Group received a cash consideration

of HK$145.8 million.

(i) CagenEZTAAEBEMNE
BA UBAEBEESH
Cagen N HES HRAIKENRS
BHHEHEe (ZEES ]
H2007F4 A1 HRBAR - A
HI3 4 o

REZE2010F3A31 B IEF
€ AEBEECagenz] L EE
g - MHEERZEEEFZ
o HEEREZE2011F
3A31RIEFERK - MALE
EE BB eRE 145888
BT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%A Ej’f%%&%%lzﬁnf

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

LR

A MRS B

During the year, the Group had significant transactions FR - ANEBREE N T R EE
with associates and jointly controlled entities of the Group FIERBIEARZNAT :
as follows:
2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEATT
Aggregate transaction value in respect g RAANE B B —EEEE N 7
of the following transactions entered (EfsaRIERAR A R])
into by the Group with an associate, RE B A RHEST
Hanison Construction Holdings UTRGZRHHEE :
Limited, and its subsidiaries:
— construction service fees — BERIEE 192.3 147.2
— renovation service fees — B EREE 0.1 0.1
Provision of services to an associate A B8 N AR AR 7S 0.1 0.1
Management fee and other operating mB A B ER 2
service fees received from associates EEENEMEESREE 5.0 0.2
Management fee and other )2k EE | B B U 2
operating service fees received EERENEMEERSEE
from a jointly controlled entity 21.4 12.7
Interest income received from B AYNCIT S IR N
an associate 0.5 0.7
Interest income received from MARESIEBKE
a jointly controlled entity F B U A 5.5 -
Carpark rental paid to an associate mEE R R T2 FESES 0.4 0.3

Vs B B AR A R A
2010/2011 4E$t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANLIAL STATEMENTS

GAMBHREME

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z 201143 A 31 A1 F/Z

(C) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

(C) XTEEEAEME

EEREMFEERXERFER 2
TN

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBEBIT
Short term employee benefits HHEE B
Fees e 2.1 19
Salaries and other benefits e R E MR 20.9 20.8
Performance related incentive sER A
payments 24.3 10.3
47.3 33.0
Post-employment benefit BEER AT
Retirement benefits schemes BRIRBFIET B R
contribution 0.9 0.9
48.2 33.9

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

EZRTERTHAR ZME M@ A
ZB8e2ZENEBIXRANTISB
ZRETE -
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45. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information of the Company’s condensed statement of financial
position is as follows:

45. AN Z R DUE R

ARBIZEAFBHRARERAT

2011 2010
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEET BEBTT
Non-current assets EMENE E 3,731.3 2,927.6
Current assets mENEE 6,800.4 6,406.2
Current liabilities mBBE (6,970.6) (3,263.3)
Net current (liabilities) assets nE (BE) BEFE (170.2) 3,1429
Non-current liabilities EREEE - (2,241.8)
3,561.1 3,828.7

Capital and reserves IR R e
Share capital AR 337.5 337.5
Reserves e 3,223.6 3,491.2
3,561.1 3,828.7

Loss for the year ended 31 March 2011 of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$10.9 million (2010: profit of
HK$478.1 million).

Under the Company Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for
distribution or paying dividends to shareholders subject to the
provisions of its memorandum or articles of association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividends,
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. In accordance with the Company’s
articles of association, dividends can only be distributed out of
the accumulated profits of the Company of HK$1,682.6 million
as at 31 March 2011 (2010: HK$1,950.2 million).

KABEHE2011F3A3HIEFEZ
EE4AE109B 8B T (20104 : & F
4781 BBHEIT) °

RIBEFASEBE22FENENE (KIEFT) -
RRAZ B B A 2 K T AR 3 A
BREIRERS - WAXAREBZEREKR
AR AR RIR - MERIREK
ARRBHENEBENEEXBIH2E
e RBEARBZAREBERZMA
ERABARRARAIN2011F3A3IA AR
1,682.6 B&HEIL (201046 : 1,950.2 88
AL ) ZREHE AR 2 IKAE

T s BL % o] P 4 I A LA ]
2010/2011 4Rk

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A B R

RESULTS E ¥
Year ended 31 March
HBZ3831ALEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BE#ET BEBT BEBT BEBT BEBET
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&5 (&7 (&7 (&5

Turnover ] 1,800.7 1,839.8 2,593.7 3,429.7 2,636.7
Profit (loss) from iR

operations (EB8E) 1,660.6 1,373.7 (253.7) 1,576.7 1,217.0
Finance costs MBER (42.2) (82.2) (171.2) (193.2) (199.7)
Gain on disposal of HEMRBAR

a subsidiary pdl gy - = = = 580.8
Share of results of Wkl ke /NC]

associates EE 150.1 116.8 173.0 309.4 824
Share of results of jointly & FE I

controlled entities e 79.3 780.2 (0.3) (34.0) 12.0
Profit (loss) before taxation K&t ANEM (&8 ) 1,847.8 2,188.5 (252.2) 1,658.9 1,692.5
Taxation T (63.9) (236.1) (61.6) (334.4) (175.7)
Profit (loss) for the year REEmH (EE) 1,783.9 1,952.4 (313.8) 1,324.5 1,516.8
Attributable to: T3

Owners of the Company ~ AAGI#HA A 1,647.9 1,890.8 (292.4) 9785 1,202.8

Non-controlling interests  FEFRR%EZS 136.0 61.6 (21.4) 346.0 314.0
Profit (loss) for the year REERF (&) 1,783.9 1,952.4 (313.8) 1,324.5 1,516.8

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

AR DL B

POSITION INFORMATION
At 31 March
®w3H31H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBTT BEBTT BEBT BEAT BEBT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&3] (E%)) (&%) =21D)
Total assets BEMBE 21,333.9 18,121.5 17,858.0 18,427.2 15,613.1
Total liabilities BERE (6,457.1) (5,179.7) (6,964.9) (6,985.4) (5,479.3)

Non-controlling interests ~ FE¥RARERS

(1,305.1) (1,157.5) (1,094.6) (1,118.5) (767.2)

Equity attributable to ARAEEA
owners of the Company FE(ERER

13,571.7 11,784.3 9,798.5 10,323.3 9,366.6
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FEYERR

A. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

A. FifEEERE /R

DEVELOPMENT
Gross floor
area (sq. ft.)  Stage of Expected  Nature
Descriptions WEEEE  completion  completion date  of property
Bn (EFR) =HRER BHERE WEME
1. The remaining phases, AE L =2
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BHTIEH
(@)  YiPak, Discovery Bay, AE L =2
Lantau Island =) |
- Residential — =
- Remaining Phases — B TEH 357,034 Superstructure 2011  Residential
in progress F=
FETRRERH
- Commercial L ES 22,787  Construction 2012 Commercial
under progress [GES
Ti2tfTH
~ Hotel —EE 269,100  Superstructure 2011  Hotel
in progress BIE
FETRRERF
(b)  Others (note) Hi (Hizt) 511,216  Not yet No definite  Retained for future
commenced plan development
RS T EETEE BERRER
2. PlotNo. 34, 174 and 257 FEEA 862,717  Construction 2011  Residential
Soi Attakarnprasit 10120 Sathorn, under progress FE
Thungmahamek, Sathorn Soi Attakarnprasit TRsTH
Bangkok 10120 Thungmahamek,
Thailand 34~ 174 K% 257 53

Note: The Discovery Bay Project has a total site area of approximately 70

BT - Iﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ BAMBEBENS708EF

AR A T ERIMBFRZERE
#1563 905F HRZEEREEEE
Rt - PARARZEEIE#) 357,311 F
TR PR R MM o

million sq. ft.. The remaining development area comprises a total
of about 153,905 sq. ft. of gross building area for residential
and commercial development and about 357,311 sq. ft. of gross
building area for recreational development.

B. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD

s L b 5 T A A ]

2010/2011 4Rk

PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TEWEHR

B. FrH BEWEM RN

FORRENTAL PURPOSES AH &
Attributable
Gross floor interest to
area (sq. ft.)  Nature of  the Group Category

Descriptions WEE®EE  property KEE of lease

iR (FAR) YEHE FEiti#ER MEER

3. 2 houses located at Bijou Hamlet, NI = E8Eme 5,392  Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island 2BTERFRE F=x i

4. 5houses located at Headland Village, R L1 = 2R 5 12,836  Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island SIEEEFE F=E el

5. 14 units comprising highrise, lowrise RIE 5 =2% 21,383  Residential 100% Medium
and duplex apartments located at 14 AR R B ERL F=x e
Peninsula Village, EEEFE ME
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BAAK

6. 1 highrise apartment located at R L = 2 IE 1,068  Residential 100%  Medium
Greenvale Village, Discovery Bay, 1 A= EERL (B )i
Lantau Island

7. 37 highrise apartments located at RNE| L= ERR e 23453  Residential 100% Medium
Parkridge Village, Discovery Bay, 37 (B B &AL T ]
Lantau Island

8. 6 midrise apartments located ANE L= 2= ES 4,522  Residential 100% Medium
at DB Plaza, Discovery Bay, 6 B+ R B fi T= el
Lantau Island

9. 2 lowrise apartments located at RNE L= &8E AN —B& 2483  Residential 100% Medium
Siena One, Discovery Bay, 2 [EK AR EE i T= el
Lantau Island

10. 1 lowrise apartment located at RE s 285l _K% 1315 Residentil 100%  Medium
Siena Two, Discovery Bay, 1 B BE B i = i EA

Lantau Island
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TR

Attributable
Gross floor interest to
area (sq. ft.)  Nature of  the Group Category

Descriptions BEEEE  property AEE  of lease

B (EHR) WEHE FElt#ERz MEER

11. 1 lowrise apartment located at R =E8%R 976  Residential 100% Medium
La Vista, Discovery Bay, 1 {E{E AR B s F=E i
Lantau Island

12. 3 highrise apartments located at RIE L a5 ek 2,197  Residential 100% Medium
Neo Horizon, Discovery Bay, 3E=mEEE R FE b
Lantau Island

13.  14/F of Century Tower Il and ER LA AIRER 15 3,663  Residential 100% Long
Car Parking Space, No. 12 on Level 1, R ISRAtERE 11412 FE KH
Century Tower, Nos. 1 and 1A, ML REE 1 EEES
Tregunter Path, The Peak, Hong Kong 129784

14.  Flat 2 on 1st Floor, and Car Parking BREZEICREEAE 3,200 Residential 100% Long
Space No. 19 and One Roof Space 125 H195REM F=E R
Marked “5”, Bowen Mansion, KI515EKE
7C Bowen Road, Hong Kong

15. 6 highrise apartments located RERBBERI2% 6,652  Residential 100% Medium
at Coastal Skyline, 12 Tung Chung EXEFo6EmRE F=E i
Waterfront Road, Tung Chung

16. 4 highrise apartments located FORR R ER 4082  Residential 100% Medium
at Tung Chung Crescent, AER AL FE b
Tung Chung

17. 14 highrise apartments located RBFRRSERSH 10,420  Residential 100% Medium
at Seaview Crescent, BIRERY 14 (85 BB F=E i

8 Tung Chung Waterfront Road,
Tung Chung

vl B B AR A R A )
2010/2011 4E$t

PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

FEWEFE
Attributable
Gross floor interest to
area (sq. ft.)  Nature of  the Group Category
Descriptions WEE®EE  property AEE of lease
iR (FAR) YEHE FEti#ER MEER
18. 8 residential units and i ARERMBE M 17978  Residential 100% Long
10 car parking spaces of RERE|HK 10387 B2 RH
Chelsea Residence, 1695 B ERE — B
No. 169 of Lane 1038, Huashan Road, ~ (8fEFEEfr
Changning District, Shanghai, R 1018 )
the People’s Republic of China
19. 2 highrise apartments located N L = 2% 1E 1,438 Residential 50% Medium
at Peninsula Village, 2 A= &S F= i 5
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island
20.  DIA Palace Sapporo AZALI% DIA Palace 44593  Residential 100%  Freehold
Higashi Actio, Sapporo, Japan Sapporo Higashi Actio F=E KAZERE
21.  Horizon Place Akasaka, Tokyo, H 75 R Horizon Place 81,624  Residential 100% Freehold
Japan Akasaka F=x KA ERE
22. Homat Sun, Tokyo, Japan H AR R Homat Sun 57,521  Residential 100%  Freehold
F=E KAZENE
23.  Commercial Centre, Discovery Bay, KU e S 2E AR 0 180,910  Commercial 50% Medium
Lantau Island [k R E
24.  Shop 401, Coastline Villa, U L)1) =72 55 7Y 2R 7417 Commercial 50% Medium
Phase IV, Discovery Bay, BRI T 401 e i EA
Lantau Island
25.  Commercial Centre, RNE R E =R 147,445  Commercial 50% Medium
Yi Pak, Discovery Bay, EERD [ A

Lantau Island
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EZE IS

Attributable
Gross floor interest to
area (sq. ft.)  Nature of  the Group Category
Descriptions BEEEE  property AEE of lease
B (ERR) WxMHE FEftiEs MERR
26. 22nd Floor, China Merchants Tower, BB T B+ 168-2005% 10,800  Commercial 100% Long
Shun Tak Centre, EERLBERAE 221 [EES &8
168 — 200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong
27.  West Gate Tower, No. 7 NERDIEKRE 7% 146,531  Industrial 100% Medium
Wing Hong Street and FIBHET 8RB H G L T% ]
8 King Lam Street,
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon
28.  Joyce Building, No. 38 BEABRETEMNEI(R 89,157  Industrial 100% Long
Wong Chuk Hang Road, HIEHL I R
Aberdeen, Hong Kong
29. CDW Building, 382-392 HAERIRE 27-37 5% 982,777  Industrial 100% Medium
Castle Peak Road, H1LE 382-392 5% T% ap-i]
27-37 Mei Wan Street, FEIEHAE
Tsuen Wan,
New Territories
30.  Prosun Building, HARALEREREH2-65 61,700  Industrial 100% Medium
2-6 Fui Yiu Kok Street, EMAE Ix hH]
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
C. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE C. FrfEiEEm*E
Attributable
Gross floor interest to
area (sq. ft.)  Nature of the Group Category
Descriptions BIEEEE  property AEE of lease
B (ERR)  WxHE Ptz BEER
31.  Neo Horizon, Discovery Bay, KU\ 16 = B0 1 791  Residential 50% Medium
Lantau Island FE HEA
32.  Chianti, Discovery Bay, RER & 6,344  Residential 50% Medium
Lantau Island FE ap-i]

s L b I T A A ]

2010/2011 4E$t

PARTICULARS OF MAJOR P_ROPE‘R’T‘IES
FEWEEE
D. OTHER PROPERTIES D. HAfhy3E
Attributable
Site area interest to
(sq. ft.) Nature of the Group
Descriptions A miE property AEFH
B (EFER) MEME FE(LHE
33.  Lotno.373RPand 374 in D.D. 352 KIS 247352 5% 23,400 Residential 100%
Lantau Island HiER 373 SRERER 2 374 5% — retained for future
development
B2
- BERRER
34, Lotnos. 1735, 1737, 1979 and HAMELENEN R 154,106 Agricultural lots 100%
portions of Lot nos. 1978 and HoEY 17355 ~ 1737 9% (no definite plan)
2012 in Demarcation District no. 91, 1979 54 EX 2 1978 B
Fanling, New Territories % 20125 2 B HbER (EREEE)
35, Various Lots in Demarcation District K =[x & 150,282 Agricultural lots 50%
no. 363, Sam Pak, Lantau Island #8363 S %A ER (no definite plan)
ERHER
(EEFEE)
36. Section B and the remaining portion M HER 5 5% BER & 5% 57,935 Agricultural lots 100%
of Lot no. 5, Section A and the PRER « B5SRABR 6557 (no definite plan)
remaining portion of Lot no. 65 and PRETR 61 5% ~ 665% * 675 B
Lot nos. 61, 66, 67 and 69, % 6957 (ZEEE)
Peng Chau
37.  Section C and the remaining FEN 20 ER 55 354 %7 &% 346 5% 35,266 Agricultural lots 100%
portions of Lot nos. 354 and 346, CERRME (no definite plan)
Peng Chau B
(ZEEE)
38.  Various Lots in Demarcation District KIE|4T7K Diana Farm L& 222,592 Golf course 50%
no. 354, Diana Farm, Hang Sui, K13 354 5 S A EX (completed)
Lantau Island BRANS
(%T)
39.  The remaining portion of Lot no. 317 HAREPENE 1325 1,394 Agricultural lots 50%
in Demarcation District no. 132, B 317 55 2 BRER (no definite plan)
Tuen Mun, New Territories B R

(BEETE)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND INVESTORS CALENDAR

ATIER R B % T 3

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EHG

CHAIRMAN
ES)

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
EMELE

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN AND
MANAGING DIRECTOR
il ) e 3 o A P

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
BB ST

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
PATE S

Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin
ERPEE

Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham”
EOAEE!

Mr TANG Moon Wah
BUmEES L

“Also alternate to Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
IRIBEEALEEREF

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
FEPATE R

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI
eSS

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson

EREELE

Mr CHEUNG Tseung Ming

RERALE

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
FROKFRICAE

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
FEXRELXL

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
B R PUAT S

Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry

ERAEE LT

Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
REREL

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta

gzt

Dr QIN Xiao

R

AUDIT COMMITTEE
BERLHE

Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry (Chairman)
R (FE)

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI
BEFEEEE

Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
REREL

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus

FRIKFRIEE

Dr QIN Xiao

REE L

REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

HWZ B &

Dr CHENG Kar Shun Henry (Chairman)
RAE L (£/E)

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor

BT E

Dr The Honourable CHEUNG Kin Tung Marvin
REREL

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus

SRIKFRIEE

Dr QIN Xiao

REH T

COMPANY SECRETARY
A BbE

Ms MAK Sau Ching

BEELL

REG!STERED OFFICE
GRlE Y
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman lIslands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE
F R

23/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

BB THE 168-2005%

P ORBREBAE 2318

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR

T A% B
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

2% « BAEMRIT SFTAITT

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
y 2 -
F AR BT
The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited
BB DBESIRITERAQF]
Standard Chartered Bank
BITERTT
Hang Seng Bank Limited
BAERITAR AR

SHARE REGISTRARS
JBe 388 5 3 i i

HONG KONG
it

Computershare Hong Kong

Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
BARRFHELHERAR
BEAEREANEBRISIFEMF L1718
1712-1716 &

CAYMAN ISLANDS
P2 TS

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.0. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman lIslands

LEGAL ADVISORS
LA

HONG KONG LAWS
Hilw

Reed Smith Richards Butler
RIEEREETT

Mayer Brown JSM
FFEITERTT

Kao, Lee & Yip

SR EAATT

CAYMAN ISLANDS LAWS
B & T 5y 1

Maples and Calder

HKEX STOCK NAME
Wi 22 e e Ay 4 4

HKR Int'| &8 BB

HKEX STOCK CODE
It 32 PR AR

00480

WEBSITE
Ak

www.hkri.com

INVESTORS’ CALENDAR
B Hab

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS
B 1 e % i

2011 Annual General Meeting
201V BAUBAE R &

Thursday, 8 September 2011
201149 A8H (2Hm)

2010/2011 Final Dividend
2010/201 1A B B,

Thursday, 15 September 2011 and
Friday, 16 September 2011
201149 A 158 (EHM) &
201149 A 16 H (£8H)

PAYMENT DATE
URHEH

Thursday, 29 September 2011
201149 A 29 H (2HM)

Design and Production: i.Link Group Limited www.ilinkfin.com
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INTERNATIONAL LTD.
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www.hkri.com

7 i BUE B AR A R A )
(RASRBEMK 2 BRAR)
BT B 16811 L AR B AE231E

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
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